The impacts of logging on carbon stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in Vietnam

Suzanne Mathilde Stas

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds

School of Earth and Environment

June 2020

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is her own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Chapter 2

Stas, S.M., Le, T.C., Tran, H.D., Hoang, T.T.H., van Kuijk, M., Le, A.V., Ngo, D.T., van Oostrum, A., Phillips, O.L., Rutishauser, E., Spracklen, B.D., Tran, T.T.A., Le, T.T., Spracklen, D.V. 2020. Logging intensity drives variability in carbon stocks in lowland forests in Vietnam. Forest Ecology and Management 460, 117863.

SMS, DVS, OLP, MvK and ER designed the study; SMS, TCL, HDT, TTL and DVS organised and/or conducted the fieldwork; DTN and AVL led the participatory mapping; TTAT and TTHH analysed the soil samples; SMS and AvO wrote the soil laboratory methods; BDS and DVS conducted the satellite analyses; SMS analysed the data, with the help of ER, and wrote the paper.

Ngo, D.T., Le, A.V., Le, H.T., Stas, S.M., Le, T.C., Tran, H.D., Pham, T., Le, T.T., Spracklen, B.D., Langan, C., Cuthbert, R., Buermann, W., Phillips, O.L., Jew, E.K.K, Spracklen, D.V. 2020. The potential for REDD+ to reduce forest degradation in Vietnam. Environmental Research Letters 15, 074025.

The paper was led by DTN and DVS. SMS provided the results of the forest plots and commented on the draft of the manuscript.

Chapter 3

In preparation. SMS, DVS, OLP, MvK and ER designed the study; SMS, TCL, HDT, TTL and DVS organised and/or conducted the fieldwork; SMS analysed the data, with the help of ER, and wrote the paper.

Chapter 4

In preparation. SMS, DVS, OLP, MvK and ER designed the study; SMS, TCL, HDT, TTL and DVS organised and/or conducted the fieldwork; SMS analysed the data and wrote the paper.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Suzanne Mathilde Stas to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by her in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

© 2020 The University of Leeds and Suzanne Mathilde Stas

Acknowledgements

Looking back, I consider my PhD as a journey where several worlds came together: I worked with many new, inspiring people from the United Kingdom and Vietnam, while at the same time old colleagues from my time in Indonesia, Uganda and the Netherlands joined and helped during my PhD. This resulted in great collaborations with people with various expertise and I am very grateful for all the support I received.

I was lucky to have Dominick Spracklen as my main supervisor, who is very approachable, committed and always willing to help. I learnt a lot from his attitude to think in solutions and to focus on the main objectives and I am very grateful for the freedom he gave me to make my own decisions about my research and to collaborate with various researchers. Dominick also visited me every field season in Vietnam, where he joined in measuring banana trees, was attacked by *moi* and *vat* and played werewolves with the locals. I was co-supervised by Oliver Phillips, who had always great ideas about alternative ways of analysing, literature suggestions and advices to improve my drafts. Thank you for sharing your knowledge and I really enjoyed the discussions we had with the three of us in Leeds.

In Utrecht, I was co-supervised by Marijke van Kuijk, who helped a lot with developing research ideas, giving practical advices for the fieldwork and was always willing to provide feedback on drafts. I thank my "R hero" Ervan Rutishauser, for being "one click away" to solve errors in R, providing insightful literature suggestions and being always willing to help. I am also thankful to my previous supervisors Douglas Sheil and Yves Laumonier, who made me enthusiastic to persue a PhD and continued sharing their expertise and network during my PhD.

I am very grateful to my "forest guys" Tinh Cong Le and Hieu Dang Tran, who always accompanied me to the forest and continued the fieldwork when I left Vietnam. Thank you for all your hard work and fun in the field. I thank Trai Trong Le, Anh Tuan Pham, Huong Mai Pham and other staff at Viet Nature Conservation Centre for their indispensable help with logistics, research permits and knowledge of the area.

My PhD and fieldwork were financially supported by the World Land Trust, the University of Leeds and the Newton Fund Institutional Links programme of the British Council, for which I am very grateful. I sincerely thank Roger Wilson and other staff at World Land Trust for all their support to my PhD and the overall project.

I thank Tue Van Ha and Tuan Manh Le for tree species identifications in our plots; Duc Tung Ngo and An Van Le for conducting the participatory mapping at our site; Tuyet Thi Anh Tran and Thi Thai Hoa Hoang for conducting the soil laboratory analyses; and Ben Spracklen for conducting satellite analyses at our project site. I am grateful to Nam Thanh Vu for his help and advice to arrange my fieldwork. I am thankful to Stephan Mantel, Imam Basuki and Yves Laumonier for their help in developing the methods for soil collection. Ad van Oostrum was indispensable for writing the methods for the soil analysis, thanks a lot for all your dedicated work and our nice collaboration.

In Leeds, I was part of the Biosphere-Atmosphere group at the School of Earth & Environment and the Ecology and Global Change group at the School of Geography. I am very grateful for all the new friends I made, discussions, joined lunches and pub visits in Leeds: i.a. Bruno Cintra and Karina Melgaço (thanks so much for always offering me a warm home in Leeds and your friendship), Adriane Muelbert, Ana Julia Cabrera Pacheco, Jess Baker, Julia Tavares, Francisco Diniz, Fernanda Coelho, Cat Scott and Carly Reddington. I thank Wolfgang Buermann for early discussions about my PhD and creating a map of our project site. I sincerely thank all members of the Ecology and Biodiversity group at Utrecht University for their support, shared lunches and coffee breaks, in particular George Kowalchuk for hosting me; Martin Droog for help with R; Rens Vaessen, Joeri Zwerts and Ana Patricia Sandoval for fieldwork discussions; Heinjo During for statistical advice; my office roommates for the nice working atmosphere and the "Dactylis guys" for lunch walks.

I thank my dear family, friends and Sydney Sinkamba for all their support and interest during the course of my PhD. Above all, I am very grateful for all the support, trust and love I always receive from my parents Ben and Mariet Stas, my brother Rick Stas and his partner Jill Philipsen. Thank you for standing always by my side and for our memorable trip in Vietnam. I am only able to do this work because I have such a solid base back home.

Abstract

Tropical forests are important carbon (C) sinks and biodiversity hotspots. Yet, forests are seriously threatened by anthropogenic disturbances including logging, which is the main driver of forest degradation in Southeast Asia. Here, I analyse the impacts of logging intensity on C stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in seasonal evergreen broadleaf lowland forests in north-central Vietnam. I established, measured and after two years re-measured twenty-four plots that vary in historical logging intensity, nine years after logging. Logging intensity, estimated by combining Landsat analysis and participatory mapping, was the main factor explaining the variability in aboveground carbon (AGC). Heavily logged forests stored only half the amount of AGC in stems ≥ 10 cm diameter as lightly logged forests, mainly due to a reduction in large trees. AGC of small trees, dead wood and belowground C stored small fractions of total C stocks, while the topsoil of 0–30 cm depth stored roughly half of total C stocks. Tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity. Some compositional differences were observed with logging intensity, although the challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently complicates interpretation. Community wood density decreased with logging intensity and timber species only occurred in small numbers in our plots, especially in the heavily logged sites. Vital rates and associated AGC fluxes did not differ with logging intensity during the two-year period. The forests suffered from typhoon-induced tree mortality and damage, with ~40% of plots experiencing a net annual reduction in AGC. This study shows the critical importance of reducing logging intensities to maintain high forest C stocks and community wood density and to prevent the depletion of timber species. Recent storm impacts retard the post-logging AGC recovery of these forests.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	IV
Abstract	VII
Table of Contents	VIII
List of Tables	XIII
List of Figures	XIV
Abbreviations	XVI
Chapter 1. General introduction	1
1.1. Tropical forests and ecosystem services	1
1.2. Deforestation and forest degradation in Southeast Asia	2
1.3. Selective logging and changing local environments	
1.4. Impacts of logging on forest ecology	4
1.5. The role of logging intensity	6
1.6. Forests in Vietnam	
1.7. Historical forest cover changes in Vietnam	
1.8. REDD+ in Vietnam	
1.9. Impacts of logging on Vietnamese forests	14
1.10. Study site	
1.11. Objectives and thesis outline	
Chapter 2. Logging intensity drives variability in carbon stocks in	lowland forests in
Vietnam	
Abstract	
2.1. Introduction	21
2.2. Material and methods	

2.2.1. Site description	24
2.2.2. Field measurements	
2.2.2.1. Plot establishment	24
2.2.2.2. Living stems	26
2.2.2.3. Dead wood	26
2.2.2.4. Soil collection	27
2.2.2.5. Topography	
2.2.3. Logging assessment	
2.2.3.1. Logged stumps	29
2.2.3.2. Remote sensing analysis	29
2.2.3.3. Participatory mapping	
2.2.4. Data analysis	
2.2.4.1. Estimation of forest carbon stocks	
2.2.4.2. Testing differences in forest structure between logging classes	
2.2.4.3. Explaining variances in AGC	
2.3. Results	
2.3.1. Logging intensities in KNT	
2.3.2. Forest C stocks for different logging classes	
2.3.3. Explaining variances in AGC	40
2.4. Discussion	43
2.4.1. Logging intensities	44
2.4.2. C stocks in logged forests	45
2.4.3. Implications for forest management	
2.5. Conclusions	

Chapter 3. The impacts of logging intensity on tree diversity and composition in lowland	
forests in Vietnam	
Abstract	
3.1. Introduction	53
3.2. Material and methods	56
3.2.1. Site description	56
3.2.2. Field measurements	56
3.2.3. Data analysis	57
3.2.3.1. Logging assessment	57
3.2.3.2. Tree diversity	57
3.2.3.3. Tree species composition	58
3.2.3.4. Wood density and availability of timber species	59
3.3. Results	59
3.3.1. Tree diversity	
3.3.2. Tree species composition	
3.3.3. Wood density	65
3.3.4. Availability of timber species	66
3.4. Discussion	69
3.4.1. The impacts of logging on tree diversity	69
3.4.2. The impacts of logging on tree species composition	70
3.4.3. The impacts of logging on wood density and availability of timber speci	es72
3.5. Conclusions	73
Chapter 4. The impacts of logging intensity on carbon recovery of Vietnamese	e forests.75
Abstract	75
4.1. Introduction	76

4.2. Material and methods78
4.2.1. Site description
4.2.2. Field measurements
4.2.3. Data analysis
4.2.3.1. Logging assessment
4.2.3.2. Estimation of vital rates
4.2.3.3. Estimation of AGC stocks and AGC fluxes
4.2.3.4. Testing differences between logging classes
4.3. Results
4.3.1. Vital rates
4.3.2. Aboveground carbon dynamics
4.4. Discussion
4.4.1. Vital rates
4.4.2. Aboveground carbon dynamics94
4.4.3. Implications for forest recovery
4.5. Conclusions
Chapter 5. Synthesis and conclusions
5.1. Main findings
5.2. Connections between carbon, tree diversity and forest recovery in logged forests 101
5.3. Recovery of logged forests 102
5.4. Implications for forest conservation 104
5.5. Directions for future research
5.6. Final remarks
References

Appendices	
Appendices Chapter 2	
Appendices Chapter 3	
Appendices Chapter 4	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Parameters describing the forest structure in lightly, medium and heavily logged
forests
Table 2.2. Values of the various C pools in our study in comparison to studies in Southeast
Asia
Table 3.1. Mean \pm standard deviation of various diversity metrics for each logging class 62
Table 3.2. The five most abundant species and their abundances for each logging intensity65
Table 3.3. Mean \pm standard deviation community wood density (g cm ⁻³) for stems \geq 5 cm dbh
for each logging intensity65
Table 3.4. The abundance of timber species in the plots. 68
Table 4.1. Mean \pm standard deviation for vital rates for stems ≥ 10 cm dbh for each logging
class
Table 4.2. AGC stocks and fluxes for stems \geq 5 cm dbh for each logging class

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Map of the main vegetation types in Vietnam10
Figure 1.2. Map of the project area in north-central Vietnam17
Figure 2.1. Vegetation map of KNT with the locations of the 24 sample plots
Figure 2.2. Map showing the disturbances identified on Landsat images between 1988 and
2016, indicating deforestation and forest degradation in KNT
Figure 2.3. Boxplots of the AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in lightly, medium and heavily logged
forests, classified according to the Landsat analysis (a) and participatory mapping (b) 38
Figure 2.4. The absolute (a) and proportional (b) mean C pools \pm standard error in each logging
class
Figure 2.5. Proportional frequency of the parameters that were selected in fitted mlm's 42
Figure 2.6. Fitted AGC (using Eq. 2.2) versus measured AGC of stems ≥10 cm dbh
Figure 2.7. The relationship between AGC ≥ 10 cm dbh and the logarithmic logging intensity.
Figure 3.1. Rarefaction curve for stems \geq 5 cm dbh for all 18 plots grouped60
Figure 3.2. The relationship between the rarefied plot-level Shannon index (a) and species
richness (b) for stems \geq 5 cm dbh and logging intensity
Figure 3.3. NMDS plot showing the dissimilarity in tree species composition of stems \geq 5 cm
dbh between the 18 plots and the five most abundant species for each logging class
Figure 3.4. Proportional frequencies of stems \geq 5 cm dbh per wood density class for each logging
intensity
Figure 4.1. The yearly dbh growth rate versus the initial dbh for each individual stem ≥ 5 cm
dbh

Figure 4.2. The relationship between plot-level vital rates, i.e. the mean dbh growth rate (\pm
standard error) (a), total recruitment rate (b) and total mortality rate (c), and the initial plot basal
area
Figure 4.3. Yearly AGC fluxes of AGC net change, AGC dbh growth, AGC recruitment and
AGC mortality of stems \geq 5 cm dbh for each plot
Figure 4.4. The AGC mortality of stems \geq 5 cm dbh versus the number of dead stems \geq 10 cm
dbh for each plot
Figure 4.5. The AGC fluxes of stems \geq 5 cm dbh versus the logging intensity
Figure 4.6. The annual AGC net change of stems \geq 5 cm versus the AGC stock of stems \geq 5 cm
dbh in the first census

Abbreviations

AGB	Aboveground biomass
AGC	Aboveground carbon
B.A.	Basal area
BGB	Belowground biomass
BGC	Belowground carbon
BIC	Bayesian Information Criterion
С	Carbon
ССВА	Climate, Community and Biodiversity Alliance
CEC	Cation exchange capacity
CWD	Coarse woody debris
Dbh	Diameter at breast height
FIPI	Forest Inventory and Planning Institute
FSC	Forest Stewardship Council
HD	Height-diameter
IDH	Intermediate disturbance hypothesis
KNT	Khe Nuoc Trong forest
KW	Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test
Lmm	Linear mixed effects model
Mlm	Multiple linear regression model
NBR	Normalized Burn Ratio
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
NIR	Near Infrared
NMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling

PCA Principal component analysis

POM Point of measurement

REDD+ Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation, and promoting conservation, sustainable forest management and enhancement of forest carbon stocks

- RIL Reduced impact logging
- SOC Soil organic carbon
- SWIR Shortwave Infrared
- Wsg Wood specific gravity

Chapter 1. General introduction

1.1. Tropical forests and ecosystem services

Tropical forests are of global importance and play a crucial role in carbon (C) storage and climate regulation (Bonan, 2008; Malhi and Grace, 2000), maintenance of biodiversity (Brummitt et al., 2020; Myers et al., 2000), water supply and regulation (Ellison et al., 2017; Sheil, 2014) and other important ecosystem services. Tropical forests store approximately 25% of terrestrial C and can sequester annually large amounts of C (Bonan, 2008). Living biomass (above- and belowground) encompasses roughly half of total C stored in tropical forests, while the remaining C is stored in the soil, dead wood and litter (Pan et al., 2011). Further, global concentrations of terrestrial biodiversity are highest in tropical forests (Connell, 1978; Dirzo and Raven, 2003), including plant diversity (Brummitt et al., 2020; Leigh Jr. et al., 2004). Yet, tropical forests are seriously threatened by anthropogenic disturbances (Curtis et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2015; Peres et al., 2006; Phillips, 1997), leading to large scale forest loss globally (Hansen et al., 2013).

Deforestation and forest degradation and the subsequent loss of ecosystem services is of global concern. Deforestation involves the conversion of forest to another land-use. Forest degradation implies subtle changes in forest structure rather than wholesale land-use change and is often defined as a human-induced decrease in the capacity of forests to provide ecosystem services (Putz and Redford, 2010; Sasaki and Putz, 2009; Thompson et al., 2013). By deforesting and degrading forests, large amounts of carbon dioxide are released to the atmosphere, thereby contributing to climate change (Le Quéré et al., 2018). Aware of this, nations agreed in 2015 to include a paragraph on the conservation of forests in the Paris global climate agreement, in the form of a mechanism called REDD+ (UNFCCC, 2015; Article 5). REDD+ provides financial

incentives for Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation, and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries.

1.2. Deforestation and forest degradation in Southeast Asia

This thesis focusses on Southeast Asia, where about 15% of the world's tropical forests are located (FAO, 1995). However, much of this region has experienced exceptionally high deforestation rates (Achard et al., 2002; Estoque et al., 2019; Hansen et al., 2013; Miettinen et al., 2011; Stibig et al., 2014). The total tropical forest cover of Southeast Asia dropped from 268 million ha in 1990 to 236 million ha in 2010 (Stibig et al., 2014). Another study estimated that Southeast Asia lost approximately 80 million ha forests between 2005 and 2015, of which the majority of the losses (62%) occurred in Indonesia (Estoque et al., 2019). A global analysis showed that C losses resulting from deforestation and forest degradation exceeded C gains from forest growth in tropical America, Africa and Asia, with highest average C loss per area in Asia (Baccini et al., 2017). For the tropics as a whole, forest degradation and disturbances accounted for most C losses from forests, i.e. 69% of the total (Baccini et al., 2017). In Asia, forest degradation was estimated to form 46% of total C emissions from forests across the region (Baccini et al., 2017). Further, Southeast Asia has an exceptional conservation value compared to other tropical regions. This region has the highest proportion of threatened vascular plant, reptile, bird, and mammal species and contains the highest mean proportion of country-endemic bird and mammal species (Sodhi et al., 2010). The devastating effects of habitat loss on Southeast Asian biodiversity is of extreme concern (Sodhi et al., 2010, 2004).

The main causes of tropical forest cover loss in Southeast Asia are the conversion of forest to cash crops plantations, including oil palm, followed by logging and the replacement of natural

forests by forest plantations (Stibig et al., 2014). A cross-continental analysis in 46 tropical and sub-tropical countries showed that logging is the main driver of forest degradation and accounted for more than 80% of total degradation in Asia (Hosonuma et al., 2012). Globally, logging is also of major concern. At least 20% of the global humid tropical forest biome has been selectively logged between 2000 and 2005 and selective logging is still increasing in the tropics (Asner et al., 2009). Therefore, understanding the impacts of logging on forest ecology is of major importance.

1.3. Selective logging and changing local environments

Selective logging in the tropics generally targets specific tree species above a certain stem diameter, typically around 40-60 cm diameter but depending on the species (Edwards et al., 2014). This species- and size-specific selection leads directly to the removal of predominantly large trees with high wood density (Macpherson et al., 2012). This implies removing specific high-value timber species (Macpherson et al., 2012), part of the reproductive tree population (Bagchi et al., 2011) and large aboveground carbon (AGC) stocks (Sist et al., 2014; Slik et al., 2013). Logging thins the stand density, thereby reducing competition and creating opportunities for other plants, i.e. the availability of space and resources. Light is often a major limiting factor for plants in tropical forests (Chazdon, 1988; Chazdon et al., 1996). Logging creates forest canopy gaps and changes the light environment in the forest, leading to increased irradiance for understorey plants (Chazdon et al., 1996; Yamada et al., 2014), which can stimulate tree growth and regeneration (Delcamp et al., 2008; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). At the same time, surrounding trees experience negative impacts from logging due to collateral damage and tree mortality (Sist et al., 1998; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Often, heavy machinery is used to extract and transport logs and this causes soil compaction (Greacen and Sands, 1980; Pinard et al., 2000), which in turn can limit tree recruitment (Pinard et al., 1996). Careful pre- and postlogging guidelines, so-called reduced impact logging (RIL) practices, can be implemented to reduce damage to the remaining forest stand (Pinard and Putz, 1996; Sist et al., 2003b). However, conventional (unplanned) logging is still the most common logging practice in the tropics (Putz et al., 2000a). Logging can thus have important impacts on forest ecology and dynamics.

1.4. Impacts of logging on forest ecology

Meta-analyses and a review showed that selectively logged tropical forests can retain substantial C and timber stocks, biodiversity values and associated ecosystem functions, despite the damage caused by logging (Edwards et al., 2014; Gibson et al., 2011; Putz et al., 2012). Being the region with the largest area of tropical forests, most studies on logging have been conducted in the Amazon (e.g. Asner et al., 2006; Blanc et al., 2009; Hérault et al., 2010; Keller et al., 2004; Mazzei et al., 2010). Most large-scale regional analyses on the impacts of logging on forest ecology were also conducted for tropical South-American forests (Berenguer et al., 2014; Piponiot et al., 2016; Rutishauser et al., 2015; Sist et al., 2014). In tropical Southeast Asia, most logging studies have been concentrated in Dipterocarp equatorial forests in Borneo (e.g. Pinard et al., 2000; Pinard and Putz, 1996; Rozak et al., 2018; Sist et al., 2003a, 1998). Studies on logging in mainland tropical Southeast Asia and in non-Dipterocarp Asian tropical forests are rare.

Big trees of particular species are usually targeted during selective logging. As big trees store a large fraction of total AGC stocks (Rozak et al., 2018; Sist et al., 2014; Slik et al., 2013), forests typically loose a considerable fraction of their AGC after logging (Berry et al., 2010; Putz et al., 2008). A meta-analysis found that selective logging in forests from different climatic regions reduced AGC stocks globally by 43% (Zhou et al., 2013). A limited amount of studies have assessed C pools beyond AGC in logged forests in Southeast Asia (Nam et al., 2018; Rozak et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012). Logged forests usually contain more necromass than unlogged forests (Gerwing, 2002; Keller et al., 2004), but this necromass declines over time as decomposition proceeds. Dead wood can store significant fractions of total C stocks in logged forests in Southeast Asia (Pfeifer et al., 2015; Rozak et al., 2018). BGC and soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks were assessed in a few logged forests in Southeast Asia, i.e. in Vietnam, Indonesia and Malaysia (Nam et al., 2018; Rozak et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012).

Global studies observed a significantly lower tree species richness (Clark and Covey, 2012) and diversity of plants (Gibson et al., 2011) in selectively logged forests compared to primary tropical forests. However, many individual studies found a higher or similar tree diversity in logged than unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2010, 2008; Cannon et al., 1998; Ding et al., 2012; Hall et al., 2003; Imai et al., 2012; Sheil et al., 1999). Usually, the majority of species that are present before logging persists at decreased densities after logging and logging creates additional opportunities for the establishment of immigrant species, leading to higher diversity in disturbed forests (Sheil et al., 1999). In studies in southern China and the Central African Republic, logged and unlogged forests had a similar tree species composition (Ding et al., 2012; Hall et al., 2003), while the tree species composition in Borneo differed between logged and unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2008). A meta-analysis that compared logged with primary forests found that logging may enhance the species richness of early successional trees, but it also tends to reduce the richness of late successional trees (Clark and Covey, 2012). Further, logging-induced compositional changes can change community wood density (Verburg and Van Eijk-Bos, 2003) and valuable timber species of harvestable size can become depleted after logging (Berry et al., 2008; Richardson and Peres, 2016).

Studies in French Guiana and Indonesia found that tree growth and recruitment in logged forests was generally higher than in primary forests (Delcamp et al., 2008; Hérault et al., 2010; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). The first few years after logging, the death of trees that were injured during the logging operations often led to higher mortality rates in logged forests compared to unlogged forests, but thereafter similar mortality rates were observed in logged and unlogged forests (Blanc et al., 2009; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002; Yamada et al., 2013). Various studies assessed AGC dynamics after logging in Southeast Asian forests (Berry et al., 2010; Do et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2018). Shortly after logging, forests often experience net AGC losses due to high mortality of damaged trees, before returning to net AGC sequestration (Blanc et al., 2009; Mazzei et al., 2010). AGC net change rates in logged forests are usually higher than in unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2010; Roopsind et al., 2017), likely because remaining trees experience less competition (Villegas et al., 2009). It can take decades to more than a century for logged forests to recover their pre-logging AGC stocks (Blanc et al., 2009; Pinard and Cropper, 2000; Rutishauser et al., 2015).

Logging can thus lead to significant changes in C stocks, tree diversity, species composition and demographic processes (growth, recruitment and mortality). While most studies compared logged with unlogged forests, few studies specifically considered variations in logging intensity.

1.5. The role of logging intensity

Logging intensity is often quantified as the number of harvested trees or volume of extracted wood per hectare. The logging intensity in selectively logged forests usually varies from 1 to 20 trees ha⁻¹ (Putz et al., 2008) and 1 to 220 m³ wood logged ha⁻¹ (Martin et al., 2015; Putz et al., 2012). Several meta-analyses identified that logging intensity was the major parameter in

determining post-logging AGC stocks (Martin et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2013), tree species richness (Martin et al., 2015) and AGC recovery (Piponiot et al., 2016; Rutishauser et al., 2015) in tropical forests.

AGC typically declines with logging intensity (Gerwing, 2002; Martin et al., 2015; Rozak et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2013). In forests in Brazil and Indonesia, the amount of necromass increased with logging intensity (Gerwing, 2002; Rozak et al., 2018). In Indonesian forests, belowground carbon (BGC) decreased with logging intensity, but no relationship was observed between logging intensity and SOC (Rozak et al., 2018).

A meta-analysis in logged forests found that tree species richness increased at low logging intensities but decreased at higher intensities (Martin et al., 2015), consistent with predictions of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (Connell, 1978). In Vietnam, tree composition varied between heavily and lightly logged forests (Hoang et al., 2011). Usually, heavily disturbed forests harbour more pioneer species and species of low conservation value, while shade-tolerant species and valuable timber trees are most common in lightly disturbed sites (Bongers et al., 2009; Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012; Hoang et al., 2011). In a tropical forest in Bolivia, the community changed towards species with low wood density with an increase in disturbance intensity, caused by logging and silvicultural treatments (Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012). Timber trees are generally more abundant in lighter logged forests than in heavily logged sites (Hoang et al., 2011, 2008).

Vital rates, i.e. the growth rates of surviving trees and tree population recruitment and mortality rates, all increased with logging intensity soon after (2-4 years) and long after (18 years) logging in forests in Borneo, probably related to enhanced resource availability and more injured trees

at high logging intensity (Lussetti et al., 2016; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). After an initial period of AGC losses directly after logging, AGC recovery rates increased with logging intensity in forests in the Central African Republic and Central Guyana (Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013; Roopsind et al., 2018). In Amazonian forests, logging intensity was the major variable related to the speed of post-logging AGC recovery (Piponiot et al., 2016; Rutishauser et al., 2015). However, remarkably, no studies have yet assessed the impacts of logging intensity on AGC recovery in Southeast Asian forests, in spite of the potential importance of this in terms of managing national C emissions and sequestration for countries in this region. Especially little research has been carried out in logged forests in mainland Southeast Asia. This study focusses on Vietnam, a large tropical country in the region which covers ~331,000 km² and was once almost entirely forested. Natural forests here have experienced extensive deforestation and forest degradation over recent decades.

1.6. Forests in Vietnam

In 2012, forests covered 41% of Vietnam's land area, representing a total forest area of 13.9 million ha, which consists for 10.4 million ha of natural forests and 3.4 million ha of planted forests (MONRE, 2014). Vietnam's most typical vegetation is monsoon tropical forest and its vegetation can be grouped into eight main types (Averyanov et al., 2003; Fig. 1.1). Plant diversity in Vietnam is high, containing at least 11,373 vascular plant species and ~3% of the plant genera is endemic (MONRE, 2008). Vietnam's richness of biological diversity results from various factors. Firstly, Vietnam's elongated shape covers a wide range of latitudes, which encompasses a large range of climates (Sterling and Hurley, 2005). Secondly, ~75% of the land area of Vietnam is hilly and mountainous (Averyanov et al., 2003; MONRE, 2014) and this topography impacts the distribution of species and biotic communities by mediating temperature and humidity (Sterling and Hurley, 2005). The Truong Son Range (Annamite

Range), Vietnam's major topographic feature, runs from north to south along the Vietnamese border with Laos and Cambodia and into south-central Vietnam (Averyanov et al., 2003). It forms an important barrier between the moist uplands of Vietnam and the drier monsoon forests of Laos and Cambodia and passes through the transition zone between the subtropical northern and tropical southern climates of Vietnam (Sterling and Hurley, 2005). Further, Southeast Asia's complex geological and climatic past also contributed to Vietnam's diversity (Sterling and Hurley, 2005). Forests in Vietnam play also an important role in C storage. A recent large-scale study including 52 locations in undisturbed old-growth forests throughout Vietnam showed that country-wide averages of AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm diameter were equal to 108 Mg C ha⁻¹, with ~80% of the plots between 50 and 140 Mg C ha⁻¹ (T.V. Do et al., 2019).

All forests in Vietnam have been classified based on timber reserves of standing trees, i.e. poor (10–100 m³ ha⁻¹ timber volume), medium (101–200 m³ ha⁻¹) and rich forests (201–300 m³ ha⁻¹) (MARD, 2009). According to management purposes, forests in Vietnam can either be production, protection or special use forests (MARD, 2018). Production forests are designated for timber supply. Protection forests include sites with important protection functions, such as watershed and coastal areas. Special use forests include sites that are important for biodiversity conservation, such as national parks and protected areas.



Figure 1.1. Map of the main vegetation types in Vietnam.

Map constructed by Averyanov et al. (2003). 1. Evergreen broadleaf plane forests on alkaline soils. 2. Evergreen and semi-deciduous broadleaf, mixed and coniferous limestone mountain forests. 3. Evergreen lowland forests on silicate rocks at 0-1000 m a.s.l. 4. Evergreen montane and highland forests on silicate rocks at 1000-3000 m a.s.l. 5. Semi-deciduous dry lowland forests. 6. Deciduous dry lowland forests and savanna-like woodlands. 7. Coastal vegetation, lowland wetlands and mangrove thickets. 8. Secondary, weed and agricultural plant

communities, timber and industrial plantations. All types of native primary vegetation are adversely affected by anthropogenic disturbances or converted over most of the country (Averyanov et al., 2003).

1.7. Historical forest cover changes in Vietnam

Between 1943 and 1993 much of Vietnam's forests were cleared, with forest cover declining from an estimated 43% to 28% (MARD, 2018; McElwee, 2004). Extensive areas of forests were severely damaged during the Vietnam War between 1955 and 1975, in which massive amounts of chemicals were used to defoliate forests and destroy crops in large parts of Vietnam (Orians and Pfeiffer, 1970). The greatest decline in forest cover in Vietnam happened between 1976 and 1990: starting in the 1970s, wood was largely needed for war materials and after the war it was demanded as reconstruction material to rebuild houses (McElwee, 2004). In addition to the domestic demand, exporting wood was one of the rare opportunities to earn money in the post-war years (McElwee, 2004). The state nationalization of all forest resources from 1954 to the 1980s contributed considerably to illegal logging, because all locally-used forests were considered as national property (McElwee, 2004). During this period, there was a generalized "free-for-all" on the forests by both the state and local communities, thereby contributing to a massive breakdown of local tenure rules and resource allocation. Started in the late 1980s, many of the state-owned logging reserves were dissolved and this land was distributed to local communities, but deforestation and forest degradation still continued (McElwee, 2004).

In the 1990s, Vietnam's forest cover increased significantly and Vietnam experienced a forest transition: a national-scale shift from net deforestation to net reforestation (Meyfroidt and Lambin, 2008a). A combination of internal political, socioeconomic and land-use processes and the beginning of large-scale reforestation programs contributed to this reforestation (MARD,

2018; Meyfroidt and Lambin, 2008b). The most recent major initiative to restore Vietnam's forest cover was the "5 million ha reforestation project", implemented between 1998 and 2010 (de Jong et al., 2006). This reforestation project focussed mainly on establishing new plantations instead of supporting natural regeneration and has replaced diverse, often degraded, native flora by mono-plantations of exotic trees (McElwee, 2009). Although the forest cover has increased during recent decades, the quality of the forests has decreased: the area of degraded forests has increased and, even though new forests have been planted, forest density overall has declined (Pham et al., 2012). Thus, only increasing the forest area through reforestation is not sufficient to restore forest ecosystem functions and services, especially C stocks (Pham et al., 2012). From 1993 to 2013, forest cover changes varied considerably among regions (Cochard et al., 2017). During this period, natural forest regrowth was highest in Vietnam's northern mountain provinces, while deforestation continued in the Central Highlands and Southeast Region. Highest increases in forest plantations were observed in mid-elevation provinces of the Northeast and Central Coast Regions (Cochard et al., 2017).

Historical logging in Vietnam has included both legal exploitation of natural forests by government-licensed logging operations and illegal logging (MARD, 2018). In 1955, the first forest harvesting regulation was introduced in the north of Vietnam (Nam, 2017). Since then, selective logging regulations in Vietnam have been revised multiple times (Nam, 2017). To reduce the exploitation of forests, the state enacted an export ban on raw logs from Vietnam during the 1990s, but without much effect (McElwee, 2004). Since 2014, all logging in natural forests in Vietnam is illegal (MARD, 2018; pers. comm. Trai Trong Le, 2019). However, illegal logging is a major driver of forest degradation in Vietnam (McElwee, 2004) and was previously estimated at 1 million m³ year⁻¹ in total (Ogle et al., 1998). While the state blames local people for illegal logging in Vietnam, various problems, i.e. land tenure insecurity, poverty, ineffective

state management, poorly enforced logging bans and endemic corruption, have all contributed to the problem (McElwee, 2004). A major problem is that the private market for logs has created incentives for both large-scale and small-scale illegal logging operations throughout the country (McElwee, 2004). Further, displacement of deforestation to neighbouring countries remains a large problem in Vietnam (Meyfroidt and Lambin, 2009).

1.8. REDD+ in Vietnam

To reduce deforestation and forest degradation, Vietnam has been extensively involved in international discussions and preparations to implement a REDD+ scheme (Hoang et al., 2019; Pham et al., 2012). The nation was identified as one of the first pilot countries under the United Nations REDD (UN-REDD) programme and the World Bank's Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF), the world's best-known proponents of REDD+ (Pham et al., 2012). Nowadays, Vietnam has a national REDD+ action programme that runs until 2030 and several REDD+ projects have been implemented at the local level (Hoang et al., 2019). Vietnam's emission reductions programme of the FCPF encompasses the entire north-central coast region, spanning six provinces and representing approximately 16% of the land area and 12% of the total population (MARD, 2018). This region was selected based on its critical biodiversity importance and socio-economic status: it includes five important conservation corridors and has the country's highest rates of poverty per capita (MARD, 2018).

For effective implementation of REDD+ projects, it is essential to have a thorough understanding of the drivers, extent and spatial distribution of deforestation and forest degradation. Vietnam's main direct drivers of deforestation and forest degradation are land conversion for agriculture, infrastructure development, logging and forest fire (Pham et al., 2012). Important indirect drivers are the pressure of population growth and migration, the state's weak forest management capacity and the limited funding available for forest protection (Pham et al., 2012). Drivers and their impacts vary between regions and over time, suggesting that the design and implementation of individual REDD+ programmes need to be adjusted locally (Pham et al., 2012). Forests are not evenly distributed across Vietnam, neither are deforestation and forest degradation. Between 2000 and 2010, deforestation and forest degradation were larger in the provinces with larger areas of forests and at higher elevations (Khuc et al., 2018). During that time, the largest area of deforestation and forest degradation was in the north-central region of Vietnam, followed by the northeast, central highland, northwest and south-central regions (Khuc et al., 2018). A recent analysis in a protected forest in north-central Vietnam suggests that activities to reduce forest degradation are likely to be financially viable through a REDD+ program (Ngo et al., 2020). Further, REDD+ projects require detailed data on the impacts of deforestation and forest degradation on forest ecosystem services such as carbon storage and harbouring biodiversity. Given that Vietnam has a long history of state and illegal logging and that logging is a key driver of forest degradation in Vietnam's REDD+ focus region, i.e. the north-central coast (MARD, 2018), I focus in this thesis on the impacts of logging on forests in north-central Vietnam.

1.9. Impacts of logging on Vietnamese forests

Various allometric equations have been developed to estimate tree aboveground biomass (Huy et al., 2016a, 2016c, 2016b; Kralicek et al., 2017; Nam et al., 2016) and belowground biomass (Kralicek et al., 2017; Nam et al., 2016) for evergreen broadleaf forests and Dipterocarp forests in Vietnam. For Vietnamese old-growth forests, AGC stocks were estimated in large-scale studies for evergreen broadleaf forests and dry Dipterocarp deciduous forests throughout the country (Con et al., 2013; T.V. Do et al., 2019). Further, AGC stocks were estimated for poor, medium and rich forests that experienced different degrees of degradation from various

disturbance types, including logging, in evergreen broadleaf forests and dry open Dipterocarp forests in the Central Highlands (Hai et al., 2015; Luong et al., 2015). Only one study quantified AGC stocks in logged Vietnamese forests, i.e. in evergreen broadleaf forests in the Central Highlands (Nam et al., 2018). Carbon pools beyond AGC have been rarely assessed for Vietnamese forests. Nam et al. (2018) is the only study that estimated C in dead wood, BGC and SOC in logged forests in Vietnam.

A range of studies assessed tree diversity and composition in evergreen broadleaf forests, various types of Dipterocarp forests and other forest types throughout Vietnam (Blanc et al., 2000; Con et al., 2013; Do et al., 2017; Van and Cochard, 2017), of which only a few were conducted in logged forests (H.T.T. Do et al., 2019; Hoang et al., 2011; Tran et al., 2005). Vital rates and associated AGC dynamics at the population level have been very rarely studied in Vietnam. The only work on this in logged Vietnamese forests has been performed in evergreen broadleaf forests in the Central Highlands (Do et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2018).

Vietnam has a long history of state and illegal logging. Several studies assessed C stocks, tree diversity and AGC dynamics in old-growth Vietnamese forests, yet only limited research has been performed in logged forests. This thesis and a study derived from this research (Stas et al., 2020) is the first work to evaluate the impacts of the intensity of logging on C stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in Vietnam. This is also one of the few studies that has been conducted in logged evergreen broadleaf forests in Vietnam.

1.10. Study site

Khe Nuoc Trong forest (KNT) is located in Le Thuy District in Quang Binh Province in northcentral Vietnam (17.0°N, 106.7°E). Quang Binh is one of the six provinces that is included in

Vietnam's emissions reductions programme of the FCPF (MARD, 2018). KNT covers approximately 20,000 ha of evergreen tropical forests in the Annamese mountain range and is part of a larger natural forest network of approximately 500,000 ha (Fig. 1.2) (Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010). KNT contains one of the last remaining extensive and relatively pristine lowland evergreen tropical forests in Vietnam (Birdlife International, n.d.). KNT is a key biodiversity area: previous research listed 987 vascular plant species and 227 terrestrial vertebrate species, with a significant amount of threatened species (Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010) and the Annamese lowlands are known as an endemic bird area (Birdlife International, n.d.). Elevation in KNT ranges from 120 m to 1220 m, with the majority of the area (90%) <700 m altitude on hilly terrain (Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010). Climate conditions are similar to the neighbouring Bac Huong Hoa Nature Reserve, where the area has a tropical monsoon climate with hot summers and relatively cold winters and storms from June to September (Mahood and Hung, 2008; pers. comm. Trai Trong Le, 2019). The hot season is from March to June, when the area receives a hot, dry wind originating from Laos ("Foehn"), with average temperatures of 29 °C in June and July and frequent temperatures up to 39 °C when the Foehn is blowing (Mahood and Hung, 2008). In December and January, temperatures can drop to 15 °C (>500 m elevation). Total annual rainfall varies between 2400 and 2800 mm with highest rainfall from August to November. The drier period lasts only for a few months per year, i.e. between December and March (Mahood and Hung, 2008). KNT is surrounded by five communes and villages within three communes have easy access to KNT (Fig. 1.2) (Ngo et al., 2020).



Figure 1.2. Map of the project area in north-central Vietnam.

Map produced by Ngo et al. (2020). Khe Nuoc Trong forest is highlighted in green, the shading represents the timber volumes according to the national classification system (rich: dark green, medium: bright green, poor: light green). The proposed extended boundary for the future KNT nature reserve has been shown, together with a part of the neighbouring natural forest network. Villages are marked with black circles.

KNT was selectively logged by the state between 1982 and 2007. Since 2007, the forest has been officially protected as a watershed protection forest and logging is forbidden, but widespread illegal logging still occurs (illegal logging also happened during the state logging period). In recent years, logging contributed more than half of the total income that forest-adjacent communities derived from natural forests in KNT, resulting in ongoing forest degradation (Ngo et al., 2020). The forest contains areas with various levels of forest degradation, from relatively undisturbed to heavily degraded forests. KNT consists for 40%

(8030 ha) of rich forests; 25% (4930 ha) of medium forests and 31% (6188 ha) of poor forests (forest classifications have been described in Chapter 1.6; Birdlife International, n.d.). KNT has not been affected by the defoliants during the Vietnam War. To enhance protection of KNT's valuable forests, it was proposed to designate KNT as a nature reserve in the national special use forest system (Birdlife International, n.d.; Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010). This proposal is currently under discussion.

1.11. Objectives and thesis outline

The main objectives of this study are to assess the impacts of logging intensity on C stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in Khe Nuoc Trong forest in north-central Vietnam. The specific objectives are:

- 1) To evaluate the spatial pattern of historical logging extent and intensities in KNT.
- To quantify forest C stocks in KNT and determine the extent to which AGC correlates with logging intensity.
- To assess whether tree diversity, tree species composition, community wood density and availability of timber species differ with logging intensity.
- 4) To analyse whether vital rates and associated AGC dynamics differ with logging intensity and evaluate if the forests, nine years post-logging, are recovering.

In Chapter 2, I present an approach in which we combine Landsat analysis and participatory mapping to estimate historical logging intensities for KNT. I quantify the main C pools, i.e. living aboveground carbon, dead wood, belowground carbon and soil organic carbon, in logged forests in KNT. Further, I explore correlations between logging intensity, soil, topography and current estimates of AGC stocks.

In Chapter 3, I assess the impacts of logging intensity on tree diversity and composition in KNT. Further, I analyse whether community wood density and the availability of timber species differ with logging intensity.

In Chapter 4, I assess the impacts of logging intensity on vital rates and associated AGC dynamics in KNT nine years after logging, assessed over a two-year period. This allows me to evaluate if the forests are currently recovering from past disturbances.

In Chapter 5, I summarize the main findings of this thesis, discuss the implications for forest management and propose directions for future research.
Chapter 2. Logging intensity drives variability in carbon stocks in lowland forests in Vietnam

Abstract

Forest degradation in the tropics is generating large carbon (C) emissions. In tropical Asia, logging is the main driver of forest degradation. For effective implementation of REDD+ projects in logged forests in Southeast Asia, the impacts of logging on forest C stocks need to be assessed. Here, we assess C stocks in logged lowland forests in north-central Vietnam and explore correlations between logging intensity, soil, topography and living aboveground carbon (AGC) stocks. We present an approach to estimate historical logging intensities for the prevalent situation when complete records on logging history are unavailable. Landsat analysis and participatory mapping were used to quantify the density of historical disturbances, used as a proxy of logging intensities in the area. Carbon in AGC, dead wood, belowground carbon (BGC) and soil (SOC) was measured in twenty-four 0.25 ha plots that vary in logging intensity, and data on recent logging, soil properties, elevation and slope were also collected. Heavily logged forests stored only half the amount of AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh as lightly logged forests, mainly due to a reduction in the number of large (≥60 cm dbh) trees. Carbon in AGC of small trees (5-10 cm dbh), dead wood and BGC comprised only small fractions of total C stocks, while SOC in the topsoil of 0-30 cm depth stored ~50% of total C stocks. Combining logging intensities with soil and topographic data showed that logging intensity was the main factor explaining the variability in AGC. Our research shows large reductions in AGC in medium and heavily logged forests. It highlights the critical importance of conserving big trees to maintain high forest C stocks and accounting for SOC in total C stock estimates.

2.1. Introduction

The world's forests play a crucial role in carbon (C) storage and regulating the climate (Bonan, 2008; Malhi and Grace, 2000). By deforesting and degrading forests, a substantial amount of carbon dioxide is released to the atmosphere, thereby contributing to global warming (Le Quéré et al., 2018). With increasing awareness of the importance of forests in mitigating climate change, a mechanism was developed in which financial incentives are provided for Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation, and promoting conservation, sustainable forest management and enhancement of forest C stocks (REDD+) in developing countries (Angelsen et al., 2009).

Forest degradation and disturbances account for 69% of total C losses from tropical forests (Baccini et al., 2017). Degradation can be broadly defined as a human-induced decrease in the capacity of an ecosystem to provide services (Putz and Redford, 2010; Sasaki and Putz, 2009; Thompson et al., 2013). Cross-continental analyses of 46 tropical and sub-tropical countries showed that degradation mainly results from timber extraction and logging, forming over 80% of all sources of forest degradation in Asia (Hosonuma et al., 2012).

Logging can have considerable negative impacts on the environment. Selective logging consists of harvesting the largest, and often oldest, trees of certain species. The felling and extraction of those large trunks generates substantial collateral damage to the surrounding stand (Sist et al., 1999; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002), thereby affecting soil (Pinard et al., 2000), tree regeneration (Bagchi et al., 2011; Fredericksen and Mostacedo, 2000) and overall C stocks (Rozak et al., 2018). Yet, selectively logged forests can still contain substantial C and timber stocks, biodiversity and associated ecosystem functions (Putz et al., 2012; Edwards et al., 2014).

In several meta-analyses, the logging intensity, i.e. the number of harvested trees or volume of extracted wood per hectare, appeared to be the most important parameter in determining post-logging biomass stocks (Martin et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2013) and biomass recovery (Piponiot et al., 2016; Rutishauser et al., 2015). Aboveground living carbon (AGC) typically declines with logging intensity (Gerwing, 2002; Martin et al., 2015; Rozak et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2013). The amount of necromass and trees damaged by logging usually temporarily increases with logging intensity and can represent significant amounts of total C stocks in logged forests (Gerwing, 2002; Rozak et al., 2018; Sist et al., 1998). Logging intensity was also found to be the main factor explaining the variability in belowground living carbon (BGC) stocks (i.e. roots) (Rozak et al., 2018).

While most studies have focused on AGC, living C (above- and belowground) encompasses about half of total C stored in tropical forests (Pan et al., 2011). Other important C pools such as necromass, litter, BGC and soil organic carbon (SOC) (IPCC, 2006; Pan et al., 2011), are often not included in forest C stock assessments. Only a few studies in Southeast Asia have investigated the effects of logging on C pools beyond AGC (Nam et al., 2018; Pfeifer et al., 2015; Rozak et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012).

Vietnam experienced intense state logging after the end of the Vietnam War (referred to as American War in Vietnam; McElwee, 2004). Between 1943 and 1993 much of the country's forests were cleared, with forest cover declining from 43% to 28% (MARD, 2018). Since then, forest cover has increased due to the expansion of plantations and natural forest regeneration. At the same time, remaining natural forests have become increasingly degraded through ongoing logging (Cochard et al., 2017; de Jong et al., 2006; Meyfroidt and Lambin, 2008a). This shift from net deforestation to net reforestation in Vietnam in the 1990s is the so-called "forest transition" (Meyfroidt and Lambin, 2008a).

Vietnam has pledged strong commitment to REDD+ (MARD, 2018; Pham et al., 2012), requiring a sound understanding of how logging impacts forest C stocks. Several forest biomass and allometric model studies have been conducted in Vietnam (e.g. Con et al., 2013; Huy et al., 2016a, 2016b, 2016c; Kralicek et al., 2017), but only a few were carried out in logged forests (Hai et al., 2015; Luong et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2018, 2016). Successive logging bans implemented by the Vietnamese government means that since 2014 all logging in natural forests in Vietnam is illegal (MARD, 2018; pers. comm. Trai Trong Le, 2019). Limited knowledge of the extent of logging and the impacts on forest C stocks in Vietnam hinders proper implementation of REDD+ activities, notably a reduction in forest degradation through better forest management.

In Vietnam and most tropical forest countries, detailed information on logging history is often lacking. Satellite data can be used to identify historical forest disturbances resulting from selective logging. Although this is challenging, recent work has shown it is possible with high to medium spatial resolution (5-30 m) satellite images (Miettinen et al., 2014). Images from the Landsat satellites have been widely used to identify forest degradation associated with selective logging (Asner et al., 2004a; Hirschmugl et al., 2014; Langner et al., 2018; Souza et al., 2013). Although it is not possible to discriminate individually harvested trees using the 30 m resolution of Landsat images, the image resolution is sufficient to identify disturbances associated with selective logging such as logging roads, access tracks, skid trails and log decks (Asner et al., 2004a).

Here, we assess C stocks in four main pools, namely AGC, aboveground necromass, BGC and SOC, in logged lowland forests in north-central Vietnam. We present a novel approach, which combines Landsat analysis and participatory mapping, to estimate historical logging intensities for the prevalent situation when records on logging history are unavailable. Finally, we explore possible correlations between past logging intensities, topography, soil and current estimates of AGC stocks.

2.2. Material and methods

2.2.1. Site description

Data were collected in the logged forests of Khe Nuoc Trong (KNT), located in north-central Vietnam. The site has been described in detail in Chapter 1.10.

2.2.2. Field measurements

2.2.2.1. Plot establishment

Twenty-four permanent plots of 0.25 ha each (50 m x 50 m on the ground), 6 ha in total, were established in lowland forests (<700 m elevation) between April 2016 and June 2017. As the poor, medium and rich lowland forests cover similar percentages of area in KNT, sample plots were equally and spatially stratified by the three forest types (n=8 per class) (Fig. 2.1). Within each stratum, sampling was directed towards locations that cover the gradient of living aboveground biomass (AGB) values estimated by Baccini's pantropical biomass map (Baccini et al., 2012; access data via http://whrc.org/publications-data/datasets/pantropical-national-level-carbon-stock/) and constrained to accessibility. Within the selected pixels on Baccini's map, plots were randomized in the field.



Figure 2.1. Vegetation map of KNT with the locations of the 24 sample plots.

The green shading represents the timber volumes according to the national classification system (rich: dark green, medium: bright green, poor: light green). The red line shows the boundary of KNT. Sample plots are marked with red circles. Map produced by the Forest Inventory and Planning Institute (FIPI), 2010.

A previous study in logged forests in Vietnam showed that AGC and BGC of woody stems 1 $\text{cm} \leq \text{dbh} < 10 \text{ cm}$ stored 1.3% of total C stocks, while shrubs (including seedlings with stem <1 cm dbh) stored only 0.2% of total C stocks (Nam et al., 2018). In logged forests in Vietnam and Indonesia, litter comprised only 0.2-1.6% of total C stocks (Nam et al., 2018; Rozak et al., 2018) and did not differ with logging intensity (Rozak et al., 2018). For these reasons, we focus on the dominant C stocks: AGC in woody stems \geq 5 cm dbh, C in dead wood, BGC and SOC.

2.2.2.2. Living stems

Measurements in the plots were conducted according to the RAINFOR and GEM protocols (Marthews et al., 2014; Phillips et al., 2016; http://www.rainfor.org/en/manuals). Streamlining our data collection methods with frequently used plot sampling protocols enables us to include our plot data in global databases of forest plots, such as ForestPlots.net (Lopez-Gonzalez et al., 2011). Such networks facilitate large-scale analyses, which are crucial for improving our understanding of regional and global ecological dynamics. In each 0.25 ha plot, living woody stems (trees, shrubs and stranglers, but excluding lianas) ≥ 10 cm diameter at breast height (dbh; i.e. diameter at 130 cm height or above buttresses or stem deformities, but below major branching points) were tagged and their dbh measured. A botanist identified each stem with Vietnamese and scientific species names in the field and, when needed, collected botanical vouchers for further identification in the herbarium of FIPI in Hanoi, Vietnam. Total living tree heights were measured with a Haga altimeter. Heights of deviating stems, i.e. broken, fallen, leaning, bended, rotten, hollow, resprouted, forked ≤ 1.3 m height, fluted stems and stranglers, were measured for each individual separately. For trees without these deviations, i.e. "intact" trees, heights were measured from a subset of trees to construct a local height-diameter (HD) model. For each plot, we randomly selected ~10 intact trees in each of the following diameter classes (if this amount of trees was present): 5-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, 30-40 cm, \geq 40 cm dbh and the biggest stems. Living saplings, i.e. stems 5-10 cm dbh, were measured in a belt transect of 4 m x 50 m, running from north to south through the centre of each plot. The dbh, height and species were measured and identified as described above.

2.2.2.3. Dead wood

All fallen and standing aboveground dead wood, i.e. woody stems and branches ≥ 10 cm dbh (including logged stumps), were measured in each 0.25 ha plot. For each fallen piece (often

referred to as coarse woody debris; CWD), the diameter at both extremities, length, shape, a visual estimation of % wood (subtracting hollow spaces) and degree of wood decay was recorded (Baker and Chao, 2011). For fallen pieces that were too heavy to lift to measure the diameter with a diameter-tape around the stem or branch, the length of two perpendicular sides was recorded. The degree of wood decay was classified in the field into one of five decomposition classes, based on simple wood characteristics (Appendix 2.A1; Baker and Chao, 2011). Measurements were only made to the point where the piece was at least 10 cm diameter and length measurements were made to the plot borders. For standing dead wood, the same measurements were done.

2.2.2.4. Soil collection

In each plot, soil samples were collected for 1) chemical analyses and 2) bulk density, both in two soil layers: 0-10 cm depth and 10-30 cm depth. Each sample used for chemical analyses was collected with a soil auger from five sampling points within the plot and equal amounts were mixed to obtain a representative plot sample of at least 600 g. In a few cases, the soil was too stony to collect the samples with a soil auger and samples were collected by digging a hole and taking equal amounts of soil over the total depth. Bulk density samples were collected close to the centre of each plot by placing a core of 100 cc volume vertically in the 0-10 cm and 10-30 cm depth layers. Within a few days after collection, samples for the chemical analyses were air-dried. The soil samples were analysed for the following properties: pH, SOC, total N, total P, available P, total K₂O, exchangeable bases (K⁺, Na⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺), cation exchange capacity (CEC), exchangeable H⁺ and Al³⁺, texture and bulk density. Methods of the soil laboratory analyses are described in Appendix 2.B.

2.2.2.5. Topography

For each plot, the mean elevation was calculated from the four plot corners and the centre, recorded with a GPS device. The 50 m x 50 m plot was divided into subplots of 10 m x 10 m and the slope of each 10 m side of a subplot was measured. Subsequently, the maximum absolute slope of the north-south and east-west measurement was calculated for each subplot. The mean slope of the plot was calculated by averaging the maximum absolute slope values of the subplots.

2.2.3. Logging assessment

State logging activities started in 1982 and observed AGC stocks are the result of past disturbances and subsequent forest recovery. Turnover rates in tropical forests are high and mean decomposition rates of coarse woody debris in tropical forests vary between 0.11 and 0.46 year⁻¹ (Baker et al., 2007), suggesting that evidences of historical logging could rapidly vanish in the field. To understand better historical logging activities at each site, we interviewed (ex-) employees working for the state logging company and contacted responsible government offices. Unfortunately, no records of historical logging or maps were available anymore for our sites, making it impossible to gather spatial information about logging intensities in KNT at plot-level. Therefore, we assessed logging in three ways: 1) measuring logged stumps in the plots to assess recent logging levels; 2) analysis of satellite images to evaluate the spatial pattern of historical forest disturbances associated with selective logging; and 3) participatory mapping to verify historical logging activities.

2.2.3.1. Logged stumps

Logged stumps ≥ 10 cm diameter were measured in each 0.25 ha plot. The diameter of the stumps was measured at the highest point (when buttresses were present, the inner round part of the stem was measured to estimate the diameter).

2.2.3.2. Remote sensing analysis

Previous studies have identified forest disturbances using different vegetation indices, including the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) and the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR). NBR was first used to identify and map forest fires, but has recently been used for the identification of tropical forest canopy disturbances caused by selective logging (Grogan et al., 2015; Langner et al., 2018; Lima et al., 2019; Shimizu et al., 2017). NBR values vary between -1 and +1, with larger positive values indicating closed canopy cover and smaller positive or negative values for open canopy (Langner et al., 2018). NBR is particularly suitable for detecting forest disturbance, due to its sensitivity to bare soil and non-photosynthetic vegetation created by forest disturbance events, and the lower contamination from atmospheric haze compared to NDVI (Grogan et al., 2015; Langner et al., 2018).

We used the Earth Explorer and the USGS ESPA ordering system to retrieve all available Landsat images for Path/Row 126/48 and 125/48 with less than 70% land cloud cover between 1988 and 2016 inclusive. A total of 439 Landsat 4/5, 287 Landsat 7 and 65 Landsat 8 surface reflectance images were obtained. All images were then corrected to remove any remaining cloud, cloud shadows and poor quality pixels resulting from unequal atmospheric conditions using the 'pixel qa' layer. We calculated NBR as:

$$NBR = \frac{NIR - SWIR}{NIR + SWIR}$$

where NIR is the Near Infrared band (Band 4 in Landsat 4,5 and 7 and Band 5 in Landsat 8) and SWIR is the Landsat Shortwave Infrared band (Band 7). We identified disturbance as pixels exhibiting a reduction in NBR, with two consecutive images showing NBR <0.5. In this way, we were able to distinguish between recently disturbed canopy cover and naturally open canopy (Langner et al., 2018). Pixels without tree cover throughout the study period (i.e. rivers) and pixels with plantation forestry (identified through large-scale disturbance at 3-7 year intervals) were removed from the analysis. The Ho Chi Minh highway in the western part was not counted as disturbance (the road was not developed as a logging road).

Previous work found that the area of skid trails (Broadbent et al., 2006) or the area damaged by logging (i.e. skid trails and tree fall gaps; Panfil and Gullison, 1998) followed a quadratic increasing function of harvest intensity. Therefore, we assumed a positive relationship between the density of disturbances and the logging intensity, and used the disturbance intensity as a proxy of logging intensity. Previous studies have suggested that the majority of timber extraction occurs within 700-1000 m of a logging road (Bryan et al., 2013; Gaveau et al., 2014). The logging intensity per plot was estimated by summing the number of disturbed pixels within 1000 m of each plot centre, with disturbed pixels within 500 m weighted by a factor 2. If after sufficient reduction in the NBR of a pixel (i.e. a disturbance), the NBR recovered and reduced significantly again in a different year, this was counted as another disturbance. Plots 1-18 were established in 2016 and disturbances were summed from 1988-2015. Plots 19-24 were established in 2017 and disturbances were summed from 1988-2016.

2.2.3.3. Participatory mapping

To further assess the intensity of logging across different regions of KNT, and confirm that the identified pixels with disturbance on satellite images represent mainly logging events,

interviews were conducted in Kim Thuy commune (Le Thuy District, Quang Binh Province). Interviews were conducted with commune and village leaders as well as with households (both men and women) within two villages in March 2018. During the interviews, participants developed participatory maps identifying the level of logging prior to 2010 within different regions of KNT (logging activities after 2010 were likely still evident in the field by the presence of logged stumps).

First, maps of KNT showing key landmarks (rivers, roads, villages) were discussed and the participants familiarised themselves with the map. After discussion and agreement amongst the participants, each area was allocated a logging classification (light, medium, heavy) and a period when the majority of the logging occurred. After the interviews, the individual maps were combined to create a single map of KNT. Consistent responses from households within both villages and from the commune and village leaders provide confidence in the assigned logging classifications within the broad regions. The forest plots were then allocated a logging classification based on the map. More details on the communities and livelihood surveys can be found in Ngo et al. (2020).

2.2.4. Data analysis

2.2.4.1. Estimation of forest carbon stocks

The BIOMASS package in R (Réjou-Méchain et al., 2017) was used to develop a local HDmodel, extract wood density (wood specific gravity; wsg) values and calculate plot-level living AGB. For the subset of intact trees from which heights were measured (n=1065), several HDmodels were fitted and the model with lowest residual standard error (a Weibull function) was chosen. As the linear relationship between logarithmic height and logarithmic diameter did not differ significantly with logging class, the intact trees from all plots were grouped to develop one HD-model. This model was applied to estimate heights of intact trees without height measurements. Heights of deviating trees were assigned from the individual height measurements in the field. Wood densities were assigned using the global wood density database (Chave et al., 2009; Zanne et al., 2009). If the species was present in the database, the global species-level average was assigned. Wood densities of missing species were attributed by, in subsequent order, the global genus- or plot-level average. Tree AGB was computed using the generic allometric equation 4 of Chave et al. (2014) including dbh, height and wsg as input parameters (Réjou-Méchain et al., 2017), and summed per plot to retrieve plot-level AGB, expressed in Mg ha⁻¹.

The volume of standing dead trees and fallen pieces of dead wood was calculated using the formula of a conical frustum. Aboveground necromass was calculated by multiplying these dead wood volumes with the estimated wood density for each decomposition class and summed per plot. For each plot, the wood density per decomposition class was estimated by multiplying the mean plot-level wood density of living trees ≥ 10 cm dbh with a proportional reduction in wood density that was estimated by Chao et al. (2017) for tropical lowland forests in Taiwan (see Appendices 2.A1 and 2.A2).

Living below ground biomass (BGB), i.e. root biomass, for stems ≥ 10 cm dbh was estimated using the allometric equation of Nam et al. (2016), developed for trees >10 cm dbh in logged forests in central Vietnam and using dbh and wsg as input parameters. SOC (in Mg C ha⁻¹) was calculated by multiplying the fractional SOC with the bulk density and soil volume of the depth layer. Living AGB, necromass and living BGB were converted into C stocks using a default value of 47% C content (IPCC, 2006). Finally, living AGC ≥ 5 cm dbh, C in dead wood, living BGC and SOC were summed by sample plot to retrieve total C stocks.

2.2.4.2. Testing differences in forest structure between logging classes

Plots were ordered by the number of disturbances identified on the Landsat images and equally divided over three logging classes (n=8 plots per logging class): light, medium and heavy logging intensity. The logging classes derived from the Landsat analysis and participatory mapping were compared. In the analyses we used the logging intensities calculated from the Landsat analysis, where possible the continuous data or otherwise the derived three logging classes. Differences in forest structures were tested amongst logging classes using ANOVA or, when distributions within groups were not normally distributed, the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test. For parameters that showed differences among logging classes, a Tukey test (for parametric tests) or Dunn test (for non-parametric tests) was performed to identify which logging classes differ.

2.2.4.3. Explaining variances in AGC

Linear mixed effects models (lmm; using package lme4 in R; Bates et al., 2015) and multiple linear regression models (mlm) were fitted, in which the AGC \geq 10 cm dbh was predicted by various fixed effects (for lmm) and independent parameters (for mlm) and their interactions, i.e. logging intensity, elevation, slope, basal area (B.A.) of logged stumps and soil properties. In the lmm's, the site, i.e. plots located in the same area, was treated as a random effect to reduce pseudo-replication. Soil parameters that explain most of the variances in the soil dataset were selected through a principal component analysis (PCA), in which both depth layers were combined. The selected soil parameters were averaged over the 0-10 cm and 10-30 cm depth layer and added to the mlm's and lmm's. Models were generated and the best-fitted models were selected using model averaging based on Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). The importance of each parameter in the initial model was calculated, showing the proportional frequency that each parameter was selected in fitted models. Package relaimpo in R (Grömping, 2006) was used to calculate the relative importance of the selected parameters in explaining the variance in AGC in the final model. All analyses were carried out using R (version 3.5.3; R Core Team, 2019) and results are expressed per hectare.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Logging intensities in KNT

Fig. 2.2 shows the map of deforestation and forest degradation in KNT for the period 1988-2016. Over this whole period, there is evidence of forest disturbance in the eastern portion of KNT. Most clearly identified is the development of logging roads in the east of KNT starting during 1988-1994, adjacent to the state logging company Kien Giang, and extensive disturbances and associated logging trails in the south of the reserve starting during 2005-2009. A periodic pattern of forest disturbance roughly every 3-7 years was observed along the north-eastern boundary, which is likely caused by development and management of *Acacia* plantations. The development of the road through the western section of the road construction, there is little evidence of logging in the western portion and all lightly logged plots are located in the west of KNT (see Appendix 2.C1 for logging classifications per plot).

No disturbed pixels were detected within either of the 24 forest plots (Fig. 2.2). We calculated the disturbance intensity for each plot as the sum of disturbed pixels within 1000 m of the plot, with disturbances within 500 m of the plot weighted by a factor 2 (see Material and methods; 2.2.3.2). At least three disturbed pixel were identified within 1000 m of all plots, with summed weighted disturbance varying by a factor 65 between the most heavily disturbed and most lightly disturbed plots. For most plots, disturbances within 1000 m occurred on multiple different years

(mean = 8 different years, maximum 14 different years), suggesting ongoing disturbance rather than isolated harvesting years. Plots were classified into light, medium and heavy logging intensity based on the calculated disturbance intensity. Overall, there was good agreement between the logging classifications from the remote sensing analysis and participatory mapping (Spearman's $\rho = 0.66$), with a broadly similar distribution of plots identified as light, medium and heavy logging intensity (classifications were the same or maximum one level difference in intensity; Appendix 2.C1). This agreement provides additional confidence that our remote sensing analysis is able to quantitatively assess historical logging activities in this region.

1988-1994	2005-2009
1995-1999	2010-2016
2000-2004	



Figure 2.2. Map showing the disturbances identified on Landsat images between 1988 and 2016, indicating deforestation and forest degradation in KNT.

The locations of the 24 plots are shown. The colour indicates the earliest date of any identified forest disturbance. Black outline indicates the KNT boundary and inner lines indicate big rivers. For plots 1-18 disturbances were counted from 1988-2015, for plots 19-24 from 1988-2016 (see Material and methods; 2.2.3.2).

2.3.2. Forest C stocks for different logging classes

Table 2.1 compares the forest plots according to the logging classifications derived from the Landsat analysis (Appendix 2.C2 shows details for each plot). The B.A. of logged stumps still identifiable in the plots, indicating the amount of logging in recent years, was significantly higher in medium logged compared to lightly logged forests (Table 2.1). Maximum stem diameter, B.A. of living stems and AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm significantly differed among logging classes, with bigger trees, higher B.A. and higher AGC stocks in lightly logged plots compared to medium and heavily logged plots. AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in lightly logged plots was double that in heavily logged plots (Fig. 2.3a), with consistent results using logging classifications derived from participatory mapping (Fig. 2.3b). For the further analyses, the logging intensity according to the Landsat analysis was used. The AGC of regenerating stems of 5-10 cm dbh, C in dead wood and SOC (both 0-10 cm and 10-30 cm depth) did not differ between the logging classes (Table 2.1). BGC and total C were significantly higher in lightly logged areas compared to forests logged with medium and heavy logging intensity.

Table 2.1. Parameters describing the forest structure in lightly, medium and heavily logged forests.

Logging intensity was classified according to the results of satellite analysis. Total C is a summation of the C stocks in AGC of stems \geq 5 cm dbh, C in dead wood, BGC and SOC 0-30 cm depth. Values represent the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 8 for each logging class). Significant p-values are annotated with *, different letters within a given row indicate significant differences between logging classes. KW = Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test.

Parameter	Specification	Logging intensity		р	Test	
		Light	Medium	Heavy		
B.A. logged stumps	≥10 cm dbh	1.0 ± 1.5ª	3.6 ± 2.6 ^b	2.0 ± 1.5 ^{ab}	0.046*	KW
(m²ha-1)		_				
Max. dbh		94.6 ± 12.0 ^a	59.4 ± 13.7 ^b	53.7 ± 12.3 ^b	<0.001*	ANOVA
(cm)		_				
# living stems	5-10 cm dbh	613 ± 237ª	819 ± 373ª	725 ± 401ª	0.499	ANOVA
(ha-1)	≥10 cm dbh	497 ± 71ª	565 ± 45ª	681 ± 241ª	0.061	ANOVA
B.A. living stems	≥10 cm dbh	31 ± 5ª	20 ± 3 ^b	21 ± 6 ^b	<0.001*	ANOVA
(m²ha⁻¹)		_				
	AGC stems 5-10 cm dbh	3 ± 1ª	4 ± 2ª	4 ± 3ª	0.811	KW
	AGC stems ≥10 cm dbh	108 ± 27ª	56 ± 9 ^b	52 ± 17 ^b	<0.001*	KW
C stocks	C dead wood	4 ± 4ª	6 ± 3ª	3 ± 2ª	0.100	KW
(Mg C ha ⁻¹)	BGC	15 ± 3ª	10 ± 1 ^b	10 ± 3 ^b	0.002*	KW
	SOC 0-10 cm	33 ± 5ª	33 ± 7ª	30 ± 4ª	0.432	ANOVA
	SOC 10-30 cm	66 ± 9ª	63 ± 10ª	63 ± 10ª	0.812	ANOVA
	Total C	229 ± 33ª	173 ± 21 ^b	163 ± 29 ^b	<0.001*	ANOVA



Figure 2.3. Boxplots of the AGC of stems ≥10 cm dbh in lightly, medium and heavily logged forests, classified according to the Landsat analysis (a) and participatory mapping (b).

Each logging class contains eight plots.

Average total C stocks equalled 229, 173 and 163 Mg C ha⁻¹ in lightly, medium and heavily logged forests, respectively (Table 2.1). The main difference in C stocks among logging classes was found in AGC stocks \geq 10 cm dbh, i.e. heavily logged forests stored half the amount of AGC as lightly logged forests. This difference is largely attributed to the amount of AGC stored in stems \geq 60 cm dbh: this C pool represents 17 % of total C stocks in lightly logged forests, while these large stems were almost absent in medium and heavily logged forests (4 and 6% of total C stocks, respectively; Fig. 2.4a and 2.4b. See Appendices 2.D1 and 2.D2 for absolute and proportional C stocks per plot). Small amounts of C were stored in AGC of regenerating trees (5-10 cm dbh), dead wood and BGC. SOC in the top layer (0-30 cm depth) stored a large fraction of total C, representing respectively 43%, 54% and 55% in lightly, medium and heavily logged forests.





Figure 2.4. The absolute (a) and proportional (b) mean C pools ± standard error in each logging class.

While AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh and BGC differed with logging intensity, AGC of stems 5-10 cm dbh, C in dead wood and SOC did not vary significantly with logging intensity (Table 2.1). Hereafter, we explore the impacts of logging intensity, topography and soil on AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh and assess the importance of logging intensity in predicting AGC stocks.

2.3.3. Explaining variances in AGC

We used a PCA analysis to select the soil parameters that explain most of the variances in the soil dataset. The six most dominant soil parameters were included in the models, i.e. % clay, exchangeable H^+ , exchangeable K^+ , exchangeable Ca^{2+} , % sand and available P, however these and the next highest ranked soil parameters were almost all equally dominant (Appendix 2.E).

To explore which parameters explain the variability in AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh, linear mixed effects models (lmm) and multiple linear regression models (mlm) were fitted according to the following initial model, with the random effect "site" only in the lmm's:

 $AGC \ge 10 \text{ cm } dbh = \log(\logging \text{ intensity})*elevation + \log(\logging \text{ intensity})*slope + elevation*slope + B.A. stumps + % clay + exchangeable H^+ + exchangeable K^+ + exchangeable Ca^{2+} + % sand + available P (+ site)<math>(Eq. 2.1]$

The disturbance parameters and topography values per plot are listed in Appendix 2.C1, the soil values in Appendix 2.F. The multiplication in Eq. 2.1 indicates that the interaction between parameters is also included.

The best lmm predicted AGC by logging intensity and elevation (fixed effects) and site (random effect) (R^2 =0.81, BIC=211). The best mlm predicted AGC by logging intensity and elevation (R^2 =0.80, p <0.001, BIC=207). The mlm model had the lowest BIC and was therefore chosen to predict AGC. The model was fitted as follows:

 $AGC \ge 10 \text{ cm dbh} = 127.10 - 18.76 * \log(\log \text{ intensity}) + 0.05 * \text{ elevation}$ [Eq. 2.2]

From the 24 mlm's that were fitted, logging intensity was selected in each model (1.0) and elevation in 19 models (0.83) (Fig. 2.5). The fitted AGC (using Eq. 2.2) versus observed AGC shows a good relationship (Fig. 2.6).



Figure 2.5. Proportional frequency of the parameters that were selected in fitted mlm's.

Parameters with proportional frequency ≥ 0.1 are shown.



Figure 2.6. Fitted AGC (using Eq. 2.2) versus measured AGC of stems ≥10 cm dbh.

The best mlm (Eq. 2.2) explained 80% of the variance in AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh, of which 77% was explained by logging intensity and 23% by elevation. AGC ≥ 10 cm dbh declined significantly with logging intensity (Fig. 2.7).



Figure 2.7. The relationship between AGC ≥ 10 cm dbh and the logarithmic logging intensity.

2.4. Discussion

While most Vietnamese forests experienced logging activities in the past, detailed information on logging extent and intensity is often lacking. Here, we propose a novel approach to trace back historical logging activities and estimate logging intensities for sites where these data are absent, using a combination of Landsat analysis and participatory mapping. In this study, we assessed the effects of logging intensity on main forest C pools in a lowland forest in Vietnam. We found lower AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in medium and heavily logged compared to lightly logged forests, due to the reduction of stems ≥ 60 cm dbh, which were likely harvested. SOC in the 0-30 cm top layer stored up to 55% of total C stocks and is therefore an important C pool at our site. Fitting various models in which AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh was related to logging intensity, topography and soil showed that logging intensity was the main factor explaining the variability in AGC between plots.

2.4.1. Logging intensities

Logged stumps were observed in 21 of 24 plots, indicating that most areas have been recently logged. No relationship was observed between the B.A. of these recently logged stumps and the AGC of stems \geq 10 cm dbh, suggesting that recent logging has not caused the difference in AGC stocks and that logging in earlier periods may have been important. Although it is challenging to distinguish natural forest disturbances from human-induced disturbances such as logging on remote sensing analyses, disturbed locations identified with the Landsat analysis are mostly located along rivers and near the border of KNT, or are organised into linear patterns, suggesting a human origin. This, in combination with the high similarity in logging classifications based on the participatory mapping, are likely evidences that most disturbances identified on Landsat images are due to logging events.

Most plots in the west of KNT have been lightly logged, while the plots in the east have been logged with medium or heavy logging intensity. The lightly logged plots were located at slightly higher elevation (mean elevation of 370 m) compared to the plots logged with medium and heavy intensity (mean elevation of 233 and 254 m, respectively). *Erythrophleum fordii, Sindora tonkinensis* and *Sindora siamensis*, the most valuable timber species, usually grow in areas with lower elevation (pers. comm. Trai Trong Le and Anh Tuan Pham, 2018). More intense logging in the east can be explained by the fact that the state logging company was located just outside

the eastern border of KNT and the area is more easily accessible due to the flatter terrain, lower elevations and the presence of big rivers.

Testing various models showed that the logging intensity and elevation are the most important predictors for plot-level AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh, with highest AGC values in lightly logged forests and forests at higher elevation. The relationship between logging and AGC is consistent with the results of meta-analyses, which showed that logging intensity was the best predictor for post-logging changes in AGC and changes in AGC were negatively correlated with logging intensity (Martin et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2013). A study in Indonesia, similar to our study, tested the effects of logging intensity, topography and soil variables on several main forest C stocks and also found that logging intensity was the main factor in explaining the variability in AGC of trees >20 cm dbh (Rozak et al., 2018).

2.4.2. C stocks in logged forests

Differences in total C stocks between logging classes were largely found in the AGC stock of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh. Big trees (≥ 60 dbh) were largely reduced in medium and heavily logged forests, most likely removed by logging. Big trees store large amounts of AGC and their density and survival after logging largely determines C dynamics (Rozak et al., 2018; Sist et al., 2014; Slik et al., 2013).

The mean AGC of trees ≥ 10 cm dbh in our study varied from 108 Mg C ha⁻¹ in lightly logged, 56 Mg C ha⁻¹ in medium logged to 52 Mg C ha⁻¹ in heavily logged forests. Our AGC stocks are similar to other logged forests in Vietnam and Malaysia (Hai et al., 2015; Luong et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012) and old growth forests in Vietnam (Con et al., 2013), but considerably lower than AGC stocks in logged Dipterocarp forests in Indonesia (Rozak et al., 2018) (Table 2.2). Trees from the Dipterocarpaceae family consist of large canopy and emergent trees (Ashton, 1982; Whitmore, 1984) and are important C stocks, but Dipterocarps did not occur in our plots. In our study, the AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in medium and heavily logged forests was, respectively, 48% and 52% lower than the AGC in lightly logged forests. Several studies found a considerable decline in AGC with logging intensity, but the exact reduction varies between studies, which is likely caused by variations in logging intensity, logging method and time since logging. For instance, forests logged with medium and high logging intensity in Indonesia stored, respectively, 9% and 33% less AGC of stems >20 cm dbh than lightly logged sites (Rozak et al., 2018). In Brazil, the AGC of trees ≥10 cm dbh of an intact forest decreased by 23% after logging with moderate intensity and by 43% after logging with heavy intensity (Gerwing, 2002). AGC stocks of stems >10 cm dbh in a forest 22 years post-logging were 28% lower compared to an unlogged forest in Malaysian Borneo (Saner et al., 2012). Overall, a meta-analysis found that selective logging reduced AGC stocks on average by 43% (Zhou et al., 2013). Small trees of 5-10 cm dbh stored only small amounts of AGC in our sites, i.e. 3-4 Mg C ha⁻¹, and did not differ with logging intensity. Similar values were found in logged forests in Vietnam and Malaysia (Nam et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012; Table 2.2). Like our study, no correlation was observed between the logging intensity and AGC of small stems (5-20 cm dbh) in Indonesia (Rozak et al., 2018). However, in forests in Brazil, the AGC of small trees (>2 m tall and <10 cm dbh) decreased in heavily logged forests (Gerwing, 2002).

Logging can cause a temporal increase in necromass, which reduces over time when decomposition proceeds. Mean C stocks in dead wood at our sites ranged from 3-6 Mg C ha⁻¹ and did not differ with logging intensity. A similar amount of C in necromass was found elsewhere in Vietnam (Hai et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2018; Table 2.2). Considerably higher values of C in necromass were observed in logged forests in Malaysia (Pfeifer et al., 2015) and

Indonesia (Rozak et al., 2018) (Table 2.2). Further, in forests in Indonesia and Brazil, the amount of necromass increased with logging intensity (Gerwing, 2002; Rozak et al., 2018). Previous work showed that necromass is sensitive to wood density values of living trees, i.e. necromass is positively related to plot-level average living wood density (Chao et al., 2009). In our study, mean wood density of living stems ≥ 10 cm dbh was low in each plot, ranging from 0.505 to 0.604 g cm⁻³, and the majority of the logging occurred more than nine years before field measurements. Therefore, it is likely that much of the necromass caused by logging has already decayed, which contributed to low necromass values and no significant differences in necromass with logging intensity in our forests.

BGC stocks of our forests ranged from 10 to 15 Mg C ha⁻¹ and are similar to values in other Southeast Asian forests (Nam et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012; Table 2.2). Higher BGC stocks were found in Dipterocarp forests in Indonesia (Rozak et al. 2018; Table 2.2), in which BGC was estimated using an allometric model based on dbh. Mature Dipterocarp trees often have large diameters, which likely explains the high BGC values found in these forests. In our study, BGC significantly decreased with logging intensity. We calculated BGC using an allometric equation with dbh and wsg as input parameters and the reduction of large trees in medium and heavily logged forests likely explains the reduced BGC values in those forests. Consistent to our results, the BGC of trees >20 cm dbh decreased with logging intensity in Indonesian forests (Rozak et al., 2018).

Our plots are located in one geographical area, which resulted in similar soil properties across plots and none of the selected soil parameters contributed to explain sufficient variation in AGC. SOC ranged from 93 to 99 Mg C ha⁻¹ in the top 0-30 cm layer, did not differ significantly between the logging classes and comprised more than half of total C stocks in our medium and

heavily logged forests. Several studies estimated SOC values in Southeast Asia, but the depth layer varies per study (Table 2.2). SOC values in our plots are similar to other studies in Vietnam (Hai et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2018; Sang et al., 2013) and larger than most soils in tropical Southeast Asia (Rozak et al., 2018; Saner et al., 2012) (Table 2.2). This suggests that Vietnamese forests in general have higher SOC storage, possibly because the forests are in the sub-tropics rather than tropics, leading to slower decomposition rates. In Indonesian forests, no relationship was observed either between logging intensity and SOC (Rozak et al., 2018).

Table 2.2. Values of the various C pools in our study in comparison to studies in Southeast

Asia.

C stock	C (Mg C ha ⁻¹)	Details	Disturbance	Country	Reference	
AGC larger	52-108	≥10 cm dbh	9 years post-logging	Vietnam	Our study	
stems	154	≥10 cm dbh	30-32 years post-logging	Vietnam	Nam et al., 2018	
	64-147	AGC and BGC of stems ≥5 cm dbh	Poor, medium and rich forests*	Vietnam	Hai et al., 2015	
	47-150	>5 cm dbh	Poor, medium and rich forests*	Vietnam	Luong et al., 2015	
	50-181	≥10 cm dbh	Old growth forests	Vietnam	Con et al., 2013	
	160-227	>5 cm dbh	16 years post-logging	Indonesia	Rozak et al., 2018	
	92	>10 cm dbh	22 years post-logging	Malaysia	Saner et al., 2012	
AGC small	3-4	5-10 cm dbh	9 years post-logging	Vietnam	Our study	
stems	3	1-10 cm dbh	30-32 years post-logging	Vietnam	Nam et al., 2018	
	5	<10 cm dbh and >2 m height, seedlings (<2 m height), woody vines	22 years post-logging	Malaysia	Saner et al., 2012	
C dead	3-6	CWD, standing dead trees ≥10 cm dbh	9 years post-logging	Vietnam	Our study	
wood	6	CWD, standing dead trees	30-32 years post-logging	Vietnam	Nam et al., 2018	
	4-6	CWD, standing dead trees, litter	Poor, medium and rich forests*	Vietnam	Hai et al., 2015	
	11-30	CWD, standing dead trees >10 cm dbh	16 years post-logging	Indonesia	Rozak et al., 2018	
	15-34	CWD, standing dead trees, hanging dead wood ≥10 cm dbh	Various logging history	Malaysia	Pfeifer et al., 2015	
BGC	10-15	Living trees ≥10 cm dbh, coarse roots (>2 mm diameter)	9 years post-logging	Vietnam	Our study	
	20	Living trees ≥10 cm dbh, coarse roots (>2 mm diameter)	30-32 years post-logging	Vietnam	Nam et al., 2018	
	38-57	Living trees >5 cm dbh, coarse roots (≥5 mm diameter)	16 years post-logging	Indonesia	Rozak et al., 2018	
	17	Living trees >10 cm dbh, coarse roots (>2 mm diameter)	22 years post-logging	Malaysia	Saner et al., 2012	
SOC	93-99	0-30 cm depth	9 years post-logging	Vietnam	Our study	
	116	0-50 cm depth	30-32 years post-logging	Vietnam	Nam et al., 2018	
	62-64	0-30 cm depth	Poor, medium and rich forests*	Vietnam	Hai et al., 2015	
	51-61	0-30 cm depth	Secondary forests	Vietnam	Sang et al., 2013	
	43-47	0-100 cm depth	16 years post-logging	Indonesia	Rozak et al., 2018	
	22	0-30 cm depth	22 years post-logging	Malaysia	Saner et al., 2012	

The bold numbers are the values found in our study.

* Poor, medium and rich forests refer to the classification used by the Vietnamese government and is based on timber reserves of standing trees. The forests in the study of Hai *et al.* (2015) varied from 10-30 years post-logging and/or shifting cultivation to low disturbed old growth forests. Pfeifer et al. (2015) studied lightly or illegally logged forests and twice-logged forests (~10 years after the last logging cycle).

2.4.3. Implications for forest management

Our results suggest that historical logging has reduced the C storage of forests in a protected natural forest in Vietnam. Large areas of natural forests in Vietnam have been degraded by logging and are likely to store less C than unlogged forests. If no further logging occurs in these forests, they will recover and sequester C, providing a substantial potential for Vietnamese forests to mitigate climate change. However, ongoing illegal logging threatens the recovery of AGC in our forests and is likely to be an issue more widely across Vietnam. Efforts to reduce illegal logging whilst supporting livelihoods of local communities are now required. Vietnam is starting to establish a REDD+ programme and is one of the countries selected to participate in the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility. By certifying the project activities under these programmes or through project-based schemes such as the Climate, Community and Biodiversity Alliance (CCBA; CCBA, 2013), it is possible that further forest degradation will be prevented and natural recovery favoured.

2.5. Conclusions

We presented an approach to estimate historical logging intensities by combining Landsat analysis and participatory mapping, which could be more widely applicable for sites that lack historical logging data. Heavily logged forests stored only half the amount of AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh as lightly logged forests, mainly due to a reduction in large (≥ 60 cm dbh) trees. Conserving big trees thus remains important to maintain high forest C stocks. SOC in the 0-30 cm top layer stored around half of total C stocks in these forests, showing the importance of accounting for this C stock. While topography and soil properties can influence AGC stocks, our study found that logging intensity was the most important factor explaining the variability in AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in lowland forests in Vietnam. Timber demand sharply increased after the Vietnam War, which led to intense state logging in forests throughout the country. Our study contributes to the understanding of the effects of long-term logging activities on forest C stocks in north-central Vietnam. These data are crucial to develop REDD+ approaches to prevent further degradation and allow eventual recovery of Vietnamese logged forests.

Chapter 3. The impacts of logging intensity on tree diversity and composition in lowland forests in Vietnam

Abstract

Tropical forests are key biodiversity areas, yet they are seriously threatened by anthropogenic disturbances including logging. Logging alters the abundance and distribution of species and can thereby affect tree diversity and composition. In this chapter, I assessed the impacts of logging intensity on tree diversity, composition, community wood density and availability of timber species in a lowland forest in north-central Vietnam. Trees were identified in 24 sample plots that vary in logging intensity. No significant relationships were observed between tree diversity and logging intensity. Some compositional differences were observed with logging intensity, although the challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently in these high diversity systems complicates interpretation. Community wood density differed with logging intensity, with a shift towards lighter wood density species observed in heavily logged forests. Timber species only occurred in small numbers in our plots, with highest abundance in lightly and medium logged forests and most trees from harvestable size in the lightly logged plots. My analysis shows that reducing logging intensities is important to maintain high community wood density values, and hence to conserve forest carbon, as well as to prevent the depletion of valuable timber species after logging.

3.1. Introduction

Tropical ecosystems contain the world's highest concentrations of species diversity, yet they are seriously threatened by habitat destruction (Dirzo and Raven, 2003). Logging contributes to this and is the major driver of forest degradation in the tropics and sub-tropics (Hosonuma et al., 2012). Selective logging targets specific species and size classes and alters the abiotic environment, such as changes in temperature, humidity and solar radiation (Ramírez-Marcial, 2003), which in turn affects demographic processes (growth, recruitment and mortality) of plant communities and interactions among species (Putz et al., 2000b).

The impact of human activities on biodiversity is highly variable (Putz et al., 2000b). Metaanalyses showed that selectively logged tropical forests can retain high biodiversity values, despite the damage caused by logging (Gibson et al., 2011; Putz et al., 2012). Global analyses that conducted pairwise comparisons of biodiversity values in human-disturbed and primary tropical forests found that selectively logged forests had a significant reduction in tree species richness (Clark and Covey, 2012) and diversity of plants (Gibson et al., 2011). In contrast, many individual studies found that logged forests had higher or similar tree diversity compared to unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2010, 2008; Cannon et al., 1998; Ding et al., 2012; Hall et al., 2003; Imai et al., 2012; Sheil et al., 1999). Most species that are present before logging usually persist at reduced densities after logging. Additionally, due to the increased heterogeneity of forest microhabitats caused by logging, opportunities are created for the establishment of immigrant species, which often leads to higher diversity in disturbed areas (Sheil et al., 1999).

Various hypothesis have been proposed to explain local species diversity (Connell, 1978). One of them, the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (IDH), predicts that local species diversity is

maximal at an intermediate level of disturbance (Bongers et al., 2009; Connell, 1978; Sheil and Burslem, 2003). Indeed, a meta-analysis performed in logged forests found that tree species richness increased at low logging intensities but decreased at higher intensities (Martin et al., 2015). However, changes in species richness do not provide any information about the conservation value of individual species (Sheil et al., 1999). For instance, most of the additional immigrant species that can establish after logging are good dispersers and generalists that depend on disturbances (Sheil et al., 1999). Therefore, it is important to assess the impacts of logging on compositional changes.

Logging can affect species composition by changing the abundance and distribution of species (Putz et al., 2000b). Some studies found that logged forests had a similar tree species composition compared to unlogged forests (Ding et al., 2012; Hall et al., 2003), while others found that tree species composition varied between logged and unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2008) and between heavily and lightly logged forests (Hoang et al., 2011). Generally, more early successional tree species and species of low conservation value are observed in (heavily) logged or disturbed forests, while vulnerable species and valuable timber species are most common in lightly logged or undisturbed forests (Bongers et al., 2009; Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012; Clark and Covey, 2012; Hoang et al., 2011).

Compositional changes can alter community-level traits such as wood density. Previous work in Borneo found that logging increased the fraction of softwood stems in small diameter classes, while a large decline of softwood emergent stems was observed in the largest diameter classes (Verburg and Van Eijk-Bos, 2003). Another study found that the wood density in the community was lower at high disturbance intensity, caused by logging and silvicultural treatments (Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012). First harvests in old-growth tropical forests can be highly selective, in which often higher-value, shade-tolerant and emergent species with high wood density are targeted, while later logging events rely more on longer-lived, lower-value pioneer species with low wood density (Macpherson et al., 2012). Previous work did not find evidence that the post-logging timber species composition and overall value of forest stands recovered beyond the first logging round, which suggests that the most valuable timber species are likely becoming rare in old logging areas (Richardson and Peres, 2016). Timber trees are generally more abundant in lighter logged forests than in heavy logged sites (Hoang et al., 2011, 2008). Further, logging gaps tend to be rapidly colonized by competing plants such as pioneer species and lianas, which strongly limits the regeneration of timber species after logging (Fredericksen and Mostacedo, 2000; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002).

Vietnam has remarkable levels of species richness and endemism of vascular plants (MONRE, 2014; Sterling and Hurley, 2005). This high diversity can be partly explained by Southeast Asia's complex geological and climatic past, Vietnam's wide range of latitudes covering a transition zone from subtropical to tropical and the relatively hilly and mountainous topography in Vietnam (Sterling and Hurley, 2005). Several studies assessed the tree diversity and composition in Vietnamese forests (Blanc et al., 2000; Con et al., 2013; Do et al., 2017, 2010; Van and Cochard, 2017), of which a few in logged forests (H.T.T. Do et al., 2019; Tran et al., 2005), but only one study (Hoang et al., 2011) considered variations in logging intensity.

Khe Nuoc Trong forest (KNT) in north-central Vietnam is one of the last remaining extensive lowland forests in the Annamese mountain range and harbours species of exceptional conservation value (Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010). KNT experienced various levels of state logging in the past and ongoing illegal logging (Chapter 2). Previous work showed that variations in above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks across KNT could
be explained by differences in logging intensities (Chapter 2). To improve biodiversity conservation, it is important to understand the impacts of historical logging intensities on floristics in KNT. Here, I investigate the impacts of historical logging intensities on tree diversity, species composition, community wood density and availability of timber species in KNT.

3.2. Material and methods

3.2.1. Site description

Data were collected in the logged forests of KNT in Quang Binh Province, Vietnam. KNT was logged by the state with different logging intensities between 1982 and 2007 (Chapter 2). Since 2007, logging is forbidden, but illegal logging is still ongoing. At least 14 tree species are extracted for timber in KNT, of which *Erythrophleum fordii*, *Sindora siamensis* and *Sindora tonkinensis* are the most valuable timber species (Viet Nature Conservation Centre, pers. comm., 2018). More site details are described in Chapter 1.10.

3.2.2. Field measurements

We established 24 plots of 0.25 ha each, 6 ha in total, in lowland forests (<700 m elevation) between April 2016 and June 2017 (Fig. 2.1). Plots varied in the degree of degradation due to historical logging. Living woody stems \geq 10 cm diameter at breast height (dbh; i.e. diameter at 130 cm height) were tagged and their dbh measured. A botanist identified each stem with Vietnamese and scientific species names in the field and, when needed, collected botanical vouchers for further identification in the herbarium of the Forest Inventory and Planning Institute (FIPI) in Hanoi, Vietnam. The dbh and species of stems 5-10 cm dbh were measured

and identified in a belt transect of 4 m x 50 m, running through the plot centre. The measurements have been described in more detail in Chapter 2.2.2.

3.2.3. Data analysis

3.2.3.1. Logging assessment

Historical logging records were lacking for our site. Therefore, we estimated historical logging intensities by combining remote sensing analysis with participatory mapping. Forest canopy disturbances were identified on Landsat 4/5, 7 and 8 surface reflectance images between 1988 and 2016 inclusive. We identified disturbance as pixels exhibiting a reduction in the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR), with two consecutive images showing NBR <0.5. The disturbance density, a proxy of logging intensity per plot, was estimated by summing the number of disturbed pixels within 1000 m of each plot centre, with disturbed pixels within 500 m weighted by a factor 2. Disturbances were summed from 1988-2015 (plots 1-18) and from 1988-2016 (plots 19-24). Participatory mapping with commune and village leaders as well as with households was performed to confirm logging levels at the sites. The logging intensities derived from the Landsat analyses was used for the analyses. Plots were ordered by increasing number of disturbances of the analyses and equally divided over three logging classes (n=8 plots per logging class): light, medium and heavy logging intensity. More details and the rationale behind this approach on assessing historical logging intensities are described in Chapter 2.2.3.

3.2.3.2. Tree diversity

For all analyses in this chapter, the number of stems and species ≥ 5 cm dbh were counted per plot, meaning a summation of the number of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in the 0.25 ha plot and the number of stems 5-10 cm dbh in the 0.02 ha belt transect (without scaling area sizes). All

analyses were conducted using R (version 3.5.3) (R Core Team, 2019). Typos in taxonomic names were corrected using the Taxonomic Name Resolution Service (Boyle et al., 2013), incorporated in the BIOMASS package (Réjou-Méchain et al., 2017). A rarefaction curve was constructed using the function specaccum in the vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2019). Function specpool in the vegan package, selecting the first order jackknife, was used to estimate the number of unobserved species in the area and adding them to the observed species richness in the plots (Oksanen et al., 2019). Various diversity metrics were calculated for each plot, i.e. the Shannon index, Simpson's index, Fisher's α , species richness (number of species) and the evenness, all in the vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2019). As diversity typically increases with the number of stems, all diversity metrics were calculated based on the lowest number of total stems in the plots. We calculated mean diversity metrics from 1000 permutations and in each run individuals were randomly selected with replacements, following the same approach as Wunderle et al. (2006). We used ANOVA to test whether the diversity metrics differed between logging classes. Generalized additive models, fitted with function gam in mgcv package (Wood, 2011), were fitted for the relationship between the rarefied Shannon index and logging intensity and between the rarefied species richness and logging intensity.

3.2.3.3. Tree species composition

A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis was performed to visualize plot dissimilarity in terms of tree species composition, using the metaMDS function in the vegan package with Bray-Curtis Dissimilarity index (Oksanen et al., 2019). I used relative species abundance, using the decostand function, and created a distance matrix, using the vegdist function with method Bray-Curtis, both in the package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2019). Further, I identified the five most abundant tree species for each logging class.

3.2.3.4. Wood density and availability of timber species

Wood densities were extracted from the global wood density database (Chave et al., 2009; Zanne et al., 2009), incorporated in the BIOMASS package (Réjou-Méchain et al., 2017). If the species was present in the database, the global species-level wood density average was assigned. Following usual methods (Baker et al., 2004; Chave et al., 2006; Slik, 2006), wood densities of missing species were attributed by, in subsequent order, the global genus- or plot-level average. Community wood density of stems \geq 5 cm dbh was averaged by plot and an ANOVA was used to test if wood density differed with logging intensity.

At least 14 tree species are extracted for timber in KNT (Viet Nature Conservation Centre, pers. comm., 2018). I measured all logged stumps ≥10 cm diameter in the plots (Chapter 2). Logged stumps were observed with diameter as low as 10-15 cm. During interviews, local communities living around KNT told that they log timber trees of at least 30 cm diameter (Viet Nature Conservation Centre, pers. comm., 2018). Official selective logging regulations in Vietnam have been revised multiple times throughout the years and the minimum cutting diameter has varied through time, for different type of wood species and with region, but has been as low as 30 cm diameter (Nam, 2017). I assume a minimum legal cutting size of 30 cm dbh. I assessed the abundance of timber species in the plots, both below and above the legal cutting limit.

3.3. Results

The NMDS analysis with 24 plots showed a clear distinction in tree species composition between plots 1-18 and plots 19-24 (Appendix 3.A). The majority of species that are most abundant in plots 19-24 did not occur in plots 1-18. Plots 19-24 were spatially distributed over the study site, so locational bias seems an unlikely explanation for these differences. Species in

plots 1-18 and 19-24 were identified by different botanists. Due to this clear distinction in species composition, I assume that species were not identified uniformly. I therefore restricted my analyses to plots 1-18, which were all identified by the same botanist. Hereafter, all results are presented for 18 plots.

3.3.1. Tree diversity

For the 18 plots combined, the botanist identified most of the trees up to species level (83%), 17% up to genus level and <1% up to family level or unidentified (see Appendix 3.B for proportional frequencies of the levels of tree identifications for each plot). In total, the 2919 stems \geq 5 cm dbh in the 18 plots represented 167 species (Fig. 3.1), which is 78% of the estimated total species present in the area (215 species; estimated using the first order jackknife).





The number of stems added in each step is equal to the average number of stems per plot, derived from the 18 plots.

The total number of stems ≥ 5 cm dbh increased with logging intensity: summing the amount of stems in the plots per logging class resulted in 828 stems in lightly logged, 963 stems in medium logged and 1128 stems in heavily logged forests. As diversity typically increases with the number of stems (Fig. 3.1), the following diversity analyses were calculated by standardized numbers of stems, i.e. the lowest number of stems found in the plots.

Generalized additive models showed no significant relationships between the rarified plot-level Shannon index and logging intensity (Fig. 3.2a) and between the rarified species richness and logging intensity (Fig. 3.2b), likely due to the high variability in diversity in heavily logged plots. When the logging intensity was classified into light, medium and heavy logging classes, we did not observe significant differences in diversity metrics between classes, also due to the large variance in diversity metrics between plots (Table 3.1).





Figure 3.2. The relationship between the rarefied plot-level Shannon index (a) and species

richness (b) for stems \geq 5 cm dbh and logging intensity.

Both diversity indexes have been standardized by the lowest number of stems in the 18 plots and the mean values shown are calculated based on 1000 iterations.

Table 3.1. Mean ± standard deviation of various diversity metrics for each logging class.

Values have been calculated from the mean diversity values per plot, which were standardized by the lowest number of stems ≥ 5 cm dbh in the plots and 1000 permutations (plot-level diversity metrics are shown in Appendix 3.C). Bold numbers represent the highest mean value for each diversity metric.

Diversity index	L	р	Test		
	Light	Medium	Heavy		
Shannon	3.08 ± 0.24	3.07 ± 0.15	2.83 ± 0.59	0.465	ANOVA
Simpson	0.94 ± 0.02	0.94 ± 0.01	0.88 ± 0.11	0.200	ANOVA
Fisher's α	15.00 ± 4.14	15.96 ± 2.82	15.68 ± 6.34	0.930	ANOVA
Species richness	29 ± 5	31 ± 3	30 ± 7	0.906	ANOVA
Evenness	0.91 ± 0.02	0.90 ± 0.02	0.84 ± 0.12	0.159	ANOVA

3.3.2. Tree species composition

The NMDS analysis showed that the species composition in lightly and medium logged plots was fairly similar, while the species composition in heavily logged forests was more dissimilar and differed largely between heavily logged plots (Fig. 3.3). Especially plots 5, 7 and 8, all heavily logged plots, had a distinct species composition. These three plots showed also distinct low diversity values (Appendix 3.C). Further, deviations in forest structure were observed in these plots: plot 5 contained the lowest number of stems \geq 5 cm dbh, i.e. 95 stems in the plot, and had a large number of banana trees. Plots 7 and 8 had the highest numbers of stems \geq 5 cm dbh, with most stems in the dbh-class of 10-20 cm (67% for plot 7, 71% for plot 8). The total number of stems \geq 5 cm dbh in plots 7 (251 stems) and 8 (311 stems) was considerably higher than the mean number of stems in the 18 plots, i.e. 162 stems (all plots, excluding plots 5, 7 and 8, contained between 109 and 189 stems \geq 5 cm dbh). In general, plots located in the same geographical area were more similar in terms of species composition (see Fig. 2.1 for the spatial distribution of the plots).



Figure 3.3. NMDS plot showing the dissimilarity in tree species composition of stems \geq 5 cm dbh between the 18 plots and the five most abundant species for each logging class. The big dots represent the plots, the small dots the species.

The five most abundant species differed for each logging intensity, only *Morinda citrifolia* was an abundant species in both the lightly and medium logged forests (Table 3.2). Four out of the five most abundant species in the heavy logging class were strongly correlated with plots 7 and 8, especially *Eurya trichocarpa* was very abundant (Table 3.2) and strongly determines the first axis in the NMDS plot (Fig. 3.3). *Macaranga denticulata*, also among the most abundant species in the heavy logging class, was frequently present in plot 5. The most abundant species in the lightly and medium logged forests were more closely grouped.

Table 3.2. The five most abundant species and their abundances for each logging intensity.

Stems \geq 5 cm dbh are included and species are ordered by decreasing abundance per logging intensity.

Logging intensity	Species	Abundance
Light	Pavetta indica L.	57
Light	Drypetes roxburghii (Wall.) Hurus.	56
Light	Canarium littorale Blume	47
Light	Morinda citrifolia L.	40
Light	Syzygium zeylanicum (L.) DC.	32
Medium	Morinda citrifolia L.	64
Medium	Gironniera subaequalis Planch.	45
Medium	Machilus odoratissimus Nees	38
Medium	Syzygium sp.	37
Medium	Polyalthia modesta Finet & Gagnep.	36
Heavy	Eurya trichocarpa Korth.	206
Heavy	Adinandra annamensis Gagnep.	67
Heavy	Acronychia pedunculata (L.) Miq.	42
Heavy	Macaranga denticulata (Blume) Müll. Arg.	39
Heavy	Syzygium wightianum Wight & Arn.	39

3.3.3. Wood density

Although >80% of the stems was identified to species level, not all species were present in the global wood density database. From the 2919 stems \geq 5 cm dbh, wood densities (wood specific gravity; wsg) were assigned for 971 stems to species level, for 1647 stems to genus level and for 301 stems to plot level. The wsg of individual stems \geq 5 cm dbh ranged from 0.310 to 0.780 g cm⁻³ for each logging class. Community wsg of stems \geq 5 cm dbh decreased significantly with logging intensity (Table 3.3).

Table 3.3. Mean \pm standard deviation community wood density (g cm⁻³) for stems \geq 5 cm dbh for each logging intensity.

Logging intensity				Test
Light	Medium	Heavy		
0.574 ± 0.020^{a}	0.556 ± 0.024^{a}	0.523 ± 0.013^{b}	0.002*	ANOVA

Most stems in the lightly and medium logged forests had a wsg in between 0.5 and 0.7 g cm⁻³ (Fig. 3.4). In the heavily logged forests, 54% of the stems had a wsg between 0.5 and 0.6 g cm⁻³, with a reduced number of stems in the wsg-class of 0.6-0.7 g cm⁻³.



Figure 3.4. Proportional frequencies of stems ≥ 5 cm dbh per wood density class for each logging intensity.

3.3.4. Availability of timber species

At least 14 tree species are generally extracted for timber in KNT (Viet Nature Conservation Centre, pers. comm., 2018), listed in Table 3.4. Only six of these timber species were present in our plots and most of them occurred in small numbers. *Canarium littorale* and *Sindora tonkinensis* were more abundant and occurred in 16 and 8 plots, respectively. Only *Canarium littorale* had a decent amount of stems of harvestable size (\geq 30 cm dbh), with highest abundance in the lightly logged forests (Table 3.4). The abundance of all timber species combined was

highest in lightly and medium logged forests and most trees from harvestable size were observed in the lightly logged plots.

Table 3.4. The abundance of timber species in the plots.

The absolute number of stems \geq 5 cm dbh of the 14 most extracted timber species in KNT (Viet Nature Conservation Centre, pers. comm., 2018) present in the plots, both below and above the minimum cutting size (30 cm dbh) and classified by logging intensity.

			# stems 5-30 cm dbh		# stems ≥30 cm dbh		h	
Species	Vietnamese name	Wsg (g cm ⁻³)	Light logging	Medium logging	Heavy logging	Light logging	Medium logging	Heavy logging
Amesiodendron chinense (Merr.) Hu	Trường	0.835	-	-	-	-	-	-
Canarium littorale Blume	Chủa/Trám nâu	0.495	18	25	13	29	9	7
Chukrasia sp.	Chua khét	0.548	-	-	1	-	-	-
Cinnamomum ilicioides A. Chev.	De	0.467	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dysoxylum cauliflorum Hiern	Dạ hương	0.715	-	-	-	-	-	-
Erythrophleum fordii Oliv.	Lim xanh	0.760	-	4	1	-	1	-
Heritiera cochinchinensis (Pierre) Kosterm.	Huỷnh	0.689	-	-	-	-	-	-
Hopea pierrei Hance	Kiền kiền	0.812	-	-	-	-	-	-
Madhuca pasquieri (Dubard) H.J. Lam	Sến	0.668	3	5	3	-	1	-
Michelia sp.	Giổi	0.515	4	-	1	-	-	-
Ormosia laosensis Niyomdham	Ràng ràng lào	0.579	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sindora siamensis Miq.	Gõ	0.716	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sindora tonkinensis K. Larsen & S.S. Larsen	Gụ lau	0.710	5	14	2	2	2	-
Vatica cinerea King	Táu mật	0.707	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sum all timber species			30	48	21	31	13	7

3.4. Discussion

In this study, I assessed whether logging intensities relate to differences in tree diversity, composition, wood density and availability of timber species in KNT. Tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity. The NMDS analysis showed small compositional differences between logging classes and the most abundant tree species differed with logging intensity, although the challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently complicates interpretation. Stand-level wood density decreased with logging intensity and timber species were rare in my plots.

3.4.1. The impacts of logging on tree diversity

Nine years post-logging, tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity at my site. Due to the high variability in tree diversity in the heavily logged sites, more plots in heavily logged forests would be needed to assess whether tree diversity patterns are consistent with expectations of the IDH, i.e. local species diversity peaks at intermediate disturbance levels. Other work supported the expectations of the IDH (Bongers et al., 2009; Connell, 1978; Sheil and Burslem, 2003) and a meta-analysis also found that tree species richness appeared to increase at low logging intensities but decreased at higher logging intensities (Martin et al., 2015). High logging intensity generally results in a decrease in tree diversity compared to unlogged and lightly logged forests (Lindemalm and Rogers, 2001; Parrotta et al., 2002). Deviating from the IDH, low logging intensity resulted in a decrease in tree diversity compared to unlogged forests in Papua New Guinea 6 years post-logging (Lindemalm and Rogers, 2001).

When comparing logged with unlogged forests in Southeast Asia, tree diversity metrics are commonly higher in logged forests, which was assessed 8 years after logging (Cannon et al.,

1998; Sheil et al., 1999), 12-18 years after logging (Berry et al., 2010) and 35–40 years after logging (Ding et al., 2012). The observed increase in richness after logging is likely due to an influx of generalist species that depend on disturbances and hence increase diversity metrices (Sheil et al., 1999). However, no differences in tree diversity were observed between logged and unlogged forests during the first 20 years after logging in Borneo (Verburg and Van Eijk-Bos, 2003). Differences amongst studies can be partly explained by differences in spatial scale (Berry et al., 2008; Imai et al., 2012), logging intensity, time since logging, diversity metrics assessed, whether or not results are standardized by number of individuals and the diameter threshold considered. As diversity metrics are scale-dependent, community (dis)similarity is a more robust metric to indicate the response of tree assemblage to disturbances (Imai et al., 2012).

3.4.2. The impacts of logging on tree species composition

I observed a similar species composition among plots in the lightly and medium logged forests, while the composition of heavily logged sites was more distinct, especially in plots 5, 7 and 8. The most abundant species in the heavy logging class, *Eurya trichocarpa*, was very abundant in plots 7 and 8. This species usually occurs in undisturbed and slightly disturbed sites (Slik, 2009). *Macaranga denticulata* was dense in plot 5 and is a light-demanding and fast-growing tree, usually occurring at forest edges or abandoned shifting cultivation lands and along road sides, which regenerates strongly in full light (FIPI, 1996). After sampling the plots, local people reported that areas of forest near plots 5, 7 and 8 had been cleared and rice had been planted in the past. The remote sensing analysis showed no evidence of complete canopy removal and conversion to agriculture since 1988, therefore if any agricultural disturbances occurred this must have happened before 1988. Besides the compositional differences in these three plots, the presence of bananas, very distinct numbers of stems, high number of stems of

10-20 cm dbh and low plot-level diversity metrics further indicate that these plots have been considerably disturbed in the past and supports my understanding that plots 5, 7 and 8 contain mostly secondary vegetation. Two other abundant species in the heavily logged forest, Acronychia pedunculata and Syzygium wightianum, are light-demanding trees (FIPI, 1996) and are therefore associated with more open forest canopies. Morinda citrifolia was abundant in both the lightly and medium logged forests, but usually this species is found in open secondary forests (Slik, 2009). Canarium littorale was among the most abundant species in the lightly logged forests and is an important timber species in KNT. This species is sporadically regenerating at forest edges and in open places (FIPI, 1996). Reduced numbers of this species in the heavily and medium logged forests, especially stems from harvestable size (Table 3.4), is likely due to depletion by logging. Other abundant species in the lightly and medium logged forests are associated with neutral (Syzygium zeylanicum; shade-demanding when young, lightdemanding when grown up) and high light conditions (Machilus odoratissimus; lightdemanding, fast-growing tree that occurs in primary and secondary forests and produces a very large number of fruits and seeds) (FIPI, 1996). Gironniera subaequalis, the second most abundant species in the medium logged forests, is a fast-growing tree that demands shade when it is young and light when it is mature and tends to develop in a dominant stand in Quang Binh province (FIPI, 1996).

Although the NMDS analysis showed that plots in the lightly and medium logged forests were grouped per logging class, plots located close to each other had also a more similar species composition. Therefore, it is difficult to determine whether observed compositional differences can be attributed to natural variation in tree species or to differences in logging intensity. The challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently in these high diversity systems complicates interpretation. A study that analysed the effects of logging on compositional diversity in tropical forests found indeed that most studies were pseudo-replicated, leading to biased estimates of change (Ramage et al., 2013).

Some studies observed a similar tree species composition in logged and unlogged tropical forests, i.e. in southern China (35–40 years since logging; Ding et al., 2012) and in the Central African Republic (6 months and 18 years post-logging; Hall et al., 2003). Others found that tree species composition differed between logged and unlogged forests in Borneo (18 years after logging; Berry et al., 2008) and between heavily and lightly logged forests in Vietnam (16 years after logging; Hoang et al., 2011). Also over time, starting just after logging and during the following 20 years, logged forests had much larger changes in tree species composition than old-growth forests in Borneo (Verburg and Van Eijk-Bos, 2003). Generally, more early successional tree species and species of low conservation value are observed in (heavily) logged or disturbed forests, while vulnerable species and valuable timber species are most common in lightly logged or undisturbed forests (Bongers et al., 2009; Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012; Clark and Covey, 2012; Hoang et al., 2011). This occurs through logged-induced changes in biotic and abiotic processes that regulate resource availability and through size-class and species specific selection common in selective logging (Clark and Covey, 2012). Besides logging, KNT experiences yearly disturbances from typhoons, which has likely further impacted tree diversity and composition at my site. On the Solomon Islands, periodic cyclones appeared to favour the maintenance of differences in species diversity and composition between forest types (Burslem and Whitmore, 1999).

3.4.3. The impacts of logging on wood density and availability of timber species

I observed a shift towards lighter community wood density in heavily logged forests, likely due to a combination of a reduced number of timber species with high wood density in heavily logged forests (Table 3.4) and changed species composition in post-logging regeneration. Similarly, lower community wood density values were observed at high disturbance intensity from logging and silvicultural treatments in Bolivian tropical forests (Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012). Lighter wood density species are often less suitable for timber purposes.

The 14 reported timber species (Table 3.4) all occur inside KNT. However, only six of these timber species were present in my plots and they only occurred in low numbers, especially in the heavily logged forests, likely due to more intense logging. It is not clear whether the remaining eight timber species did not occur naturally in my plots or that these high-value timber species have been depleted by logging. Scarcity of high-value timber species after logging was seen also elsewhere in Vietnam (Van and Cochard, 2017). In Borneo, more small Dipterocarps (<30 cm dbh), the main timber group in the study, were observed in a logged forest, while more Dipterocarps above harvestable size (>60 cm dbh) were found in an unlogged forest (Berry et al., 2008). The relatively high abundance of Dipterocarps in the understorey of the logged forest suggests that trees of commercial species survived and recruited after logging (Berry et al., 2008). An average of >90% of species recorded in primary forest were also present in logged Dipterocarp forest, including valuable conservation species (Berry et al., 2010). Silvicultural interventions such as thinning, in which the tree density is reduced to eliminate competing trees, can be applied to increase recovery of timber stocks (de Avila et al., 2017).

3.5. Conclusions

In this study, I assessed whether logging intensity caused differences in tree diversity, composition, wood density and availability of timber species in lowland forests in Vietnam. Tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity. More plots in heavily logged

forests would be needed to assess whether diversity patterns at my site are consistent with expectations of the IDH. Some differences in tree species composition were observed with logging intensity, although the challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently complicates interpretation. Community wood density differed with logging intensity, changing towards lighter wood density species in heavily logged forests. Timber species only occurred in small numbers in my plots, especially in the heavily logged forests. Reducing logging intensities is thus important to prevent the dominance of light-demanding pioneer species, to maintain high community wood density values, and thereby conserving forest carbon stocks, as well as to prevent the depletion of timber species after logging.

Chapter 4. The impacts of logging intensity on carbon recovery of Vietnamese forests

Abstract

Selective logging creates forest canopy gaps, which alter light regimes in tropical forests. As light is often a limiting factor for plants in tropical forests, changed resource availability due to logging is expected to impact the growth, recruitment and mortality rates of trees. However, it remains unclear how logging intensity impacts these vital rates and aboveground carbon (AGC) recovery in the evergreen tropical forests of mainland Southeast Asia. Here, I assess the impacts of logging intensity on vital rates and associated AGC dynamics over a two-year period in Vietnamese forests nine years after logging. Averaged over all plots for stems ≥ 10 cm diameter, tree diameter growth rates were equal to 0.3 cm yr⁻¹, recruitment rates to 1.5% yr⁻¹ and mortality rates to 2.3% yr⁻¹. I found evidence across the whole study landscape that stand competition slowed diameter growth, yet there was no clear evidence that logging intensity stimulated tree growth. All vital rates and their equivalent AGC fluxes did not differ with logging intensity. Meanwhile, AGC net changes ranged from -4.4 to 2.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and averaged 0.1 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, with nearly 40% of plots experiencing a negative annual net change in AGC. AGC net changes during the monitoring period were strongly driven by the natural mortality of trees in the plots. Breakage of stems also contributed in some plots to negative AGC net changes by reducing tree heights. Central Vietnam experiences typhoons every year and the forests suffer from considerable storm-induced mortality and damage, which retards post-logging AGC recovery in these forests.

4.1. Introduction

All plants compete for resources, i.e. light, water and nutrients, for their growth, survival and reproduction. In tropical forests, light is often the major environmental factor that limits plant growth, survival and reproduction (Chazdon, 1988; Chazdon et al., 1996). Light availability varies extremely in tropical forests and irradiance values near the forest floor are often less than 1% of the available sunlight (Chazdon et al., 1996). Openings in the forest canopy alter light regimes, which leads to increased irradiance for understorey plants (Chazdon et al., 1996). Selective logging reduces the stand density and creates forest canopy gaps (Asner et al., 2004b), which changes the light environment of the forest (Yamada et al., 2014). It is likely that the changed resource availability after logging impacts diameter growth, recruitment and mortality rates, the so-called vital rates, of trees.

Generally, canopy openings resulting from logging stimulate diameter growth rates of trees: in studies from French Guiana and Indonesia, growth rates in logged forests were considerably higher than in primary forests (Delcamp et al., 2008; Hérault et al., 2010; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). In forests in Borneo, tree growth rates in logged plots differed significantly with logging intensity, with the highest growth rates typically in the most heavily logged stands (Lussetti et al., 2016; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Selective logging often removes the biggest trees and thereby part of the reproductive trees in the stand (Bagchi et al., 2011). At the same time, renewed space and resources can provide opportunities for settlement of new recruits. In French Guiana and Indonesia, logging resulted in increased recruitment rates compared to undisturbed populations (Delcamp et al., 2008; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Recruitment rates increased with logging intensity in forests in Borneo (Lussetti et al., 2016; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002).

timber species and indirectly by increasing the mortality probability of injured surrounding trees shortly after logging (Pinard and Putz, 1996; Shenkin et al., 2015; Sist et al., 2003b; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Typically, mortality rates are higher in logged compared to unlogged forests during the first few years after logging, while thereafter similar rates are observed in logged and unlogged forests (Blanc et al., 2009; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002; Yamada et al., 2013). Mortality rates increased with logging intensity in forests in Borneo, directly as well as longer after logging, likely due to more damaged trees at high logging intensity (Lussetti et al., 2016; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). A study in Malaysia that assessed the long-term impacts of logging found that vital rates of trees in logged and primary forests differed even 50 years after logging (Yamada et al., 2013).

Consequently, changes in tree vital rates affect aboveground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics of forests. Various studies assessed AGC dynamics after logging in tropical forests (Blanc et al., 2009; Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013; Mazzei et al., 2010; Piponiot et al., 2016; Roopsind et al., 2018; Rutishauser et al., 2015; Sist et al., 2014; Vidal et al., 2016; West et al., 2014), with only a few studies in Southeast Asian forests (Berry et al., 2010; Do et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2018). Depending on the magnitude of diameter growth, recruitment and mortality, forests can become a net carbon (C) source or sink after logging. Shortly after logging, forests are often a net C source due to high mortality of damaged trees, before returning to a C sink (Blanc et al., 2009; Mazzei et al., 2010). Usually, AGC net change rates in logged forests are higher than in unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2010; Roopsind et al., 2017), likely because remaining trees benefit from reduced competition (Villegas et al., 2009). Estimates about the time needed to recover pre-logging AGC stocks in logged forests vary from decades to over a century (Blanc et al., 2009; Pinard and Cropper, 2000; Rutishauser et al., 2015).

Studies from the Amazon showed that the speed of post-logging AGC recovery was primarily related to logging intensity (Piponiot et al., 2016; Rutishauser et al., 2015). After the initial period of AGC stock losses after logging, AGC recovery rates increased with logging intensity in the Central African Republic and Central Guyana (Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013; Roopsind et al., 2018). However, remarkably, no studies have yet analysed the impacts of logging intensity on AGC recovery in Southeast Asian forests, in spite of the importance of this for managing national C emissions and sequestration for countries in this region. Extensive forests in Vietnam have been disturbed by logging over recent decades (McElwee, 2004). Vital rates and associated AGC dynamics at the population level have been very rarely studied in Vietnam. The only work on this in logged Vietnamese forests has been performed in evergreen broadleaf forests in the Central Highlands (Do et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2018). Yet, the impact of logging intensity on forest recovery in Vietnam and the recovery potential of logged Vietnamese forests beyond the Central Highlands remain unclear. To better understand recovery of logged forests in mainland Southeast Asia, I assess here the impacts of logging intensity on vital rates and associated AGC dynamics in north-central Vietnam, nine years after logging and assessed over a two-year period.

4.2. Material and methods

4.2.1. Site description

Measurements were performed in the logged forests of Khe Nuoc Trong (KNT) in Quang Binh Province, north-central Vietnam. The site has been described in detail in Chapter 1.10.

4.2.2. Field measurements

I established 24 permanent plots of 0.25 ha each (50 m × 50 m), 6 ha in total, in lowland forests (< 700 m elevation) in Vietnam. Plots varied in the degree of degradation due to historical logging. In the first census, plots were measured between April 2016 and June 2017. All living woody stems \geq 10 cm in the plots were tagged, their diameter measured at breast height (dbh) and their species identified. Total living tree heights were measured for all deviating stems, i.e. broken, fallen, leaning, bended, rotten, hollow, resprouted, forked \leq 1.3 m height, fluted stems and stranglers. For "Intact" trees, stems without these deviations, heights were measured from a subset of trees in each diameter class and subsequently a local height-diameter (HD) model was constructed. The dbh, height and species of stems 5–10 cm dbh were measured and identified in a belt transect of 4 m × 50 m, running through the centre of each plot. The measurements in the first census have been described in more detail in Chapter 2.2.2.

All plots were re-measured two years after the initial tree census, i.e. between May 2018 and May 2019. To minimize the effects of seasonal fluctuations on stem expansion and shrinkage (Sheil, 2003, 1995), plots were re-measured as close as possible to the first census date, with a maximum of one month difference. In the second census, the dbh of each living stem was remeasured, it was recorded if a tagged stem died and newly recruited stems (i.e. stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in the plot and stems 5-10 cm dbh in the belt transect) were measured as described in the first census. If the stem was irregular, damaged, had a buttress or close to a buttress or had other problem at the original point of measurement (POM), a new POM was chosen for the dbh measurement according to the RAINFOR and GEM protocols (Marthews et al., 2014; Phillips et al., 2016; http://www.rainfor.org/en/manuals). The diameter was measured both at the original POM and the new POM. I measured only tree heights of stems with a broken top in the second census. For stems that died, the cause of mortality (natural or logged) was recorded.

4.2.3. Data analysis

4.2.3.1. Logging assessment

We analysed Landsat images between 1988 and 2016 inclusive to evaluate the spatial pattern of historical forest disturbances associated with selective logging. The logging intensity per plot was estimated by summing the number of disturbed pixels (identified in the satellite analysis) within 1000 m of each plot centre. For some analyses, the continuous logging intensity was classified into three logging classes, i.e. light, medium and heavy logging intensity, by ordering the plots by increasing number of disturbances and dividing the plots equally over the logging classes (n = 8 plots per logging class). Participatory mapping was used to verify these historical logging activities, but the logging intensity according to the Landsat analysis was used in the analyses. This approach was described in detail in Chapter 2.2.3.

4.2.3.2. Estimation of vital rates

Vital rates, i.e. dbh growth, recruitment and mortality rates, were calculated for stems ≥ 10 cm dbh. The yearly dbh growth rate per tree was calculated by dividing the change in dbh between the censuses by the years of the census interval. We defined the range of acceptable dbh changes of trees ≥ -0.2 cm yr⁻¹ and $\leq +4$ cm yr⁻¹ (Sheil, 1995). Trees with dbh growth rates outside this range, i.e. likely due to measurement errors, or a missing dbh in the second census were excluded from the dbh growth rate analysis. Yearly dbh growth rates were averaged by plot to derive mean plot-level dbh growth rates. A field study showed that six threatened long-lived forest tree species in four Vietnamese protected areas started, in general, to be reproductive at 10–20 cm dbh (Chien et al., 2008). Those six study species were selected using the following criteria: conservation status (i.e. included in Vietnam's Red List), preferably endemic to the region, taxonomically well described, known locations of populations in conservation areas, sufficiently large populations and from a variety of forest types (i.e. altitudes and locations).

Based on this, we assume that all trees ≥10 cm dbh in our study are vegetatively and/or sexually reproductive. The annual recruitment rate per plot was calculated by dividing the yearly number of recruits (i.e. number of recruits observed in the second census divided by the census interval) by the total number of living stems in the first census and multiplying by 100% (Flores et al., 2014). Equally, the annual mortality rate for each plot was derived by dividing the yearly number of dead stems (i.e. number of dead stems observed in the second census divided by two years) by the initial number of living stems and multiplying by 100% (Flores et al., 2014; Wright et al., 2010). Other studies used different formulas to estimate recruitment and mortality rates in order to correct for biases such as differences in census intervals and unseen recruitment and mortality events during the census interval (e.g. Kohyama et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2004; Sheil et al., 1995; Sheil and May, 1996). In my study, census intervals of all plots are equal in length and short, i.e. two years, therefore it is reasonable to expect that these potential biases do not confound our results. I use basal area as a measure for stand density and explore relationships between the vital rates and initial plot basal area.

4.2.3.3. Estimation of AGC stocks and AGC fluxes

From the trees that had a dbh change rate within the acceptable range, we calculated the mean dbh growth rate in the following dbh classes (all plots grouped): 5-10, 10-20, 20-30, 30-40, 40-50 and \geq 50 cm dbh. For trees with a dbh growth rate outside the acceptable dbh change range, we assigned this mean dbh growth rate according to its dbh class and corrected the dbh in the first census accordingly. If a tree showed a substantial growth or decline in the second census, it was carefully checked in the field if the dbh was measured correctly. Therefore, we assume that it is more likely that a measurement error was made in the first census and we corrected the dbh in the first census. We also assigned the mean dbh growth rate to stems from which the dbh was not recorded in the second census. All analyses (except the dbh growth rate calculation,

in which trees with dbh growth rates outside the acceptable dbh change range or a missing dbh in the second census were excluded) were performed with these corrected dbh values.

The BIOMASS package in R (Rejou-Mechain et al., 2017) was used to develop a local HDmodel, extract wood density (wood specific gravity; wsg) values and calculate plot-level living above ground biomass (AGB) of stems ≥ 5 cm dbh. From the subset of intact trees with height measurements in the first census, a local HD-model (n = 1065, Weibull function) was developed, using the corrected dbh values in the initial census. The linear relationship between logarithmic height and logarithmic diameter did not differ significantly with logging class, therefore the intact trees from all plots were grouped to develop one HD-model. The HD-model was used to estimate heights of all intact trees, i.e. also intact trees with height measurements, in both censuses. Heights of stems with a broken top in the second census were assigned from the individual height measurements during the second census. The other deviating stems in the second census (not with broken top, but other reasons for deviating stems) and all deviating stems in the first census were assigned the individual height measurements taken during the initial census. We thus assumed that these deviating stems did not grow in tree height during the census interval. Wood densities were assigned using the global wood density database (Chave et al., 2009; Zanne et al., 2009). Tree AGB was computed using the generic allometric equation 4 of Chave et al. (2014), including dbh, height and wsg as input parameters (Rejou-Mechain et al., 2017), and summed for all living stems per plot and census to retrieve plot-level AGB for both censuses. AGB stocks were converted into AGC stocks using a default value of 47% C content (IPCC, 2006). Further details on assigning wood densities are described in Chapter 2.2.4.1.

AGC gains during the census interval were retrieved by summing the AGC dbh growth of surviving trees and the AGC of recruits. AGC losses represent the AGC in trees that died during the census interval. The AGC net change was calculated by subtracting the AGC losses from the AGC gains (equal to AGC growth + AGC recruitment – AGC mortality).

The AGC stocks in the first census are calculated slightly different compared to the AGC stocks in Chapter 2. The initial AGC stocks in this chapter are calculated with corrected dbh values (for trees with dbh growth rates outside the acceptable dbh change range) and a new corresponding HD-model was constructed. Further, we assigned tree heights differently: here, all intact trees were assigned the height derived from the HD-model, while in Chapter 2 heights from the HD-model were only assigned to intact trees without height measurements.

4.2.3.4. Testing differences between logging classes

Differences in vital rates, AGC stocks and AGC fluxes were tested amongst logging classes using ANOVA or, when distributions within groups were not normally distributed, the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test. For parameters that showed differences among logging classes, a Tukey test was performed to identify which logging classes differ. All analyses were carried out using R (version 3.5.3; R Core Team, 2019).

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Vital rates

At tree-level, measured dbh growth rates of stems ≥ 5 cm dbh ranged from -5 cm yr⁻¹ to +8.65 cm yr⁻¹. Forty-two stems had a dbh growth rate outside the limits of acceptable dbh change (88% of these were negative values, 12% positive values) and three stems had a missing dbh in

the second census; these trees were excluded from the dbh growth rate analysis. The dbh growth rates did not show a clear pattern with initial dbh (Fig. 4.1).



Figure 4.1. The yearly dbh growth rate versus the initial dbh for each individual stem \geq 5 cm dbh.

Each dot represents a stem and has been coloured by logging class.

Plot-level dbh growth rates decreased significantly with plot basal area (Fig. 4.2a). Plots with lower basal area have a less dense forest stand and likely experience less competition for light and nutrients, which can enable higher dbh growth rates. Heavily and medium logged plots had generally a lower basal area than lightly logged plots (Fig. 4.2a), but still no significant differences in dbh growth rates were observed with logging class (Table 4.1; Appendix 4.A shows vital rates per plot). Plots 7 and 8 had a remarkable high basal area for heavily logged plots, due to the very high number of stems in these plots (Appendix 4.B). In contrary, no relationship was observed between plot-level recruitment rates and plot basal area (Fig. 4.2b).

Recruitment rates of stems in the ≥ 10 cm diameter class were low in most plots (Appendix 4.A) and there was no significant difference with logging intensity (Table 4.1). No relationship between plot-level mortality rates and plot basal area (Fig. 4.2c) suggests that there are no direct signs of competition-driven mortality in denser forest stands and that other disturbances might explain the mortality events at our sites. Mortality rates did not differ between logging classes (Table 4.1).





Figure 4.2. The relationship between plot-level vital rates, i.e. the mean dbh growth rate (\pm standard error) (a), total recruitment rate (b) and total mortality rate (c), and the initial plot basal area.

Each dot represents a plot, marked with the corresponding plot number, and has been coloured by logging class.

Table 4.1. Mean \pm standard deviation for vital rates for stems ≥ 10 cm dbh for each logging class.

Vital rates per plot are shown in Appendix 4.A.

Vital rates for stems ≥10 cm dbh	Logging intensity			р	Test
	Light	Medium	Heavy		
Dbh growth rate (cm yr ⁻¹)	0.3 ± 0.1^{a}	0.3 ± 0.1^{a}	0.3 ± 0.1^{a}	0.762	ANOVA
Recruitment rate (% yr ⁻¹)	1.4 ± 1.1ª	1.5 ± 0.8ª	1.6 ± 1.1ª	0.962	ANOVA
Mortality rate (% yr ⁻¹)	2.5 ± 1.4ª	2.4 ± 1.3ª	2.0 ± 1.6ª	0.685	ANOVA

4.3.2. Aboveground carbon dynamics

Thirty-eight percent of the plots had a negative annual AGC net change (Fig. 4.3; Appendix 4.B). Plots with a negative AGC net change have greater AGC losses due to mortality and negative dbh growth than AGC gains by dbh growth and recruitment. AGC net changes were predominantly driven by mortality events, with exceptional high mortality in plot 18. Plots 1 and 13 showed negative AGC dbh growth values, even though we corrected the dbh of trees that showed an unacceptable dbh change. Plots 1 and 13 had many surviving trees with a broken top (reduced tree height), in the second census and this resulted in almost all cases in negative AGC dbh growth of those trees, which led to negative AGC dbh growth values for those plots. In all plots, recruits contributed a neglectable small fraction to AGC gains (Fig. 4.3).



Figure 4.3. Yearly AGC fluxes of AGC net change, AGC dbh growth, AGC recruitment and AGC mortality of stems ≥5 cm dbh for each plot.

Positive values indicate carbon accumulations, negative values indicate carbon emissions. AGC net change was calculated by subtracting the AGC losses (AGC mortality) from the AGC gains (AGC dbh growth and AGC recruitment).

Large AGC losses were never caused by the mortality of a single big tree (Fig. 4.4). Plot 18 had a large number of dead stems ≥ 10 cm dbh, including big stems that died (i.e. half of the dead stems were ≥ 30 cm dbh), leading to the low AGC mortality value. Dead stems of 5-10 cm dbh contributed little to AGC mortality: 11 plots did not have dead stems of 5-10 cm dbh, while another plot had a maximum of 2 dead stems of 5-10 cm dbh yr⁻¹. Almost all mortality, i.e. 98% of all dead stems ≥ 10 cm dbh in the plots grouped, was natural and the remaining 2% was logged.



Figure 4.4. The AGC mortality of stems ≥5 cm dbh versus the number of dead stems ≥10 cm dbh for each plot.

Each dot represents a plot, marked with the corresponding plot number, and has been coloured by logging class.

The relationship (linear model) between AGC net change and logging intensity was not significant (p=0.134, $R^2=0.099$) (Fig. 4.5).



Figure 4.5. The AGC fluxes of stems \geq 5 cm dbh versus the logging intensity.

The AGC net change has been shown, together with the separate AGC fluxes from which it was calculated (AGC dbh growth, AGC recruitment and AGC mortality).

For each census, AGC stocks decreased significantly with logging intensity (Table 4.2). All AGC fluxes, i.e. AGC dbh growth, AGC recruitment, AGC mortality and the AGC net change, did not differ with logging intensity (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2. AGC stocks and fluxes for stems ≥ 5 cm dbh for each logging class.

Values represent the mean ± standard deviation. Significant p-values are annotated with *, different letters within a given row indicate significant differences between logging classes. KW = Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test.

Stocks & fluxes	Logging intensity			р	Test
	Light	Medium	Heavy		
AGC stock census 1 (Mg C ha-1)	109 ± 23ª	60 ± 10^{b}	57 ± 19 ^b	<0.001*	ANOVA
AGC stock census 2 (Mg C ha ⁻¹)	107 ± 23ª	60 ± 11 ^b	59 ± 21 ^b	<0.001*	KW
AGC net change (Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	-0.5 ± 2.3ª	0.2 ± 1.6^{a}	0.6 ± 1.2^{a}	0.434	ANOVA
AGC dbh growth (Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	1.4 ± 1.4^{a}	1.2 ± 1.6ª	1.5 ± 0.7^{a}	0.968	KW
AGC recruitment (Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	0.2 ± 0.2^{a}	0.2 ± 0.1^{a}	0.2 ± 0.1^{a}	0.265	KW
AGC mortality (Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	-2.1 ± 1.9ª	-1.3 ± 0.8ª	-1.1 ± 1.0ª	0.330	KW

To assess whether plots with a low initial AGC, i.e. medium or heavy logged forests in my study, recover with the same rate as plots with a high initial AGC, i.e. lightly logged forests, we assessed the distribution of AGC net change versus initial AGC. No clear relationship was observed between the AGC net change and the initial AGC (Fig. 4.6). Plots 1, 13 and 18, the plots with highest AGC losses due to reduced tree heights (broken tops) and high mortality events form outliers in this graph.


Figure 4.6. The annual AGC net change of stems ≥5 cm versus the AGC stock of stems ≥5 cm dbh in the first census.

Each dot represents a sample plot, marked with the corresponding plot number, and has been coloured by logging class.

4.4. Discussion

We estimated vital rates and AGC dynamics over a two-year period for forests nine years postlogging. Vital rates, AGC fluxes and AGC net changes did not differ with logging intensity. Thirty-eight percent of the plots showed a negative annual AGC net change, predominantly driven by mortality. Almost all mortality, i.e. 98%, was due to natural causes.

4.4.1. Vital rates

In this study, for all plots combined, dbh growth rates averaged 0.3 cm yr^{-1} , recruitment rates averaged $1.5\% \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and mortality rates averaged $2.3\% \text{ yr}^{-1}$, and all rates did not differ with

logging intensity. A similar mean dbh growth rate (0.4 cm yr⁻¹) was observed 30 years-post logging elsewhere in Vietnam, while the recruitment rate (2.5% yr⁻¹) in that study was higher and the mortality rate (1.4% yr⁻¹) lower (Nam et al., 2018). Other logged forests in Vietnam reported lower dbh growth rates (0.1 cm yr⁻¹), higher recruitment rates (2.2% yr⁻¹) and lower mortality rates (0.9% yr⁻¹) than our study (Do et al., 2018).

Elsewhere in the tropics, logged forests have commonly faster dbh growth rates than undisturbed forests in the first four years after logging (Delcamp et al., 2008; Hérault et al., 2010; Silva et al., 1995; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002), although logging still stimulated dbh growth rates of trees even 50 years after logging in a Malaysian forest (Yamada et al., 2013). This is likely due to more open canopies and longer sunfleck time in logged forests than in primary forests (Yamada et al., 2014). Recruitment rates were generally higher in logged forests compared to undisturbed forests in the first four years after logging (Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002) and 4-15 years after logging (Delcamp et al., 2008). On the other hand, the recruitment rate in a 50-year post-logging forest was significantly lower than in the primary forest, possibly due to the extraction of adult trees and soil compaction by logging and a higher density of wild pigs (Yamada et al., 2013). Although logging gaps are often rapidly colonized, the establishment and growth of timber species is often strongly limited by the heavy regeneration of competing plants such as pioneer species and lianas (Fredericksen and Mostacedo, 2000; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Higher mortality rates in logged forests than in unlogged forests were observed the first two (Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002) and eight years (Blanc et al., 2009) after logging, likely due to a higher mortality of injured trees during logging events (Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Thereafter, mortality rates in the logged and unlogged forests were similar (Blanc et al., 2009; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). In the long-term, i.e. 50 years after logging, no significant differences in mortality rates were observed between logged and primary forests in Malaysia (Yamada et al., 2013).

Contrary to our findings, other studies that analysed the impacts of logging intensity on vital rates directly (2-4 years) and longer (18 years) after logging in forests in Borneo found that growth rates of surviving trees, recruitment rates and mortality rates all increased with logging intensity, likely due to increased resource availability and more injured trees at higher logging intensities (Lussetti et al., 2016; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). We studied the impacts of logging on vital rates in forests that experienced the majority of logging nine years earlier for a twoyear census interval. The effects of logging on vital rates can differ between studies, but it is evident that my study has exceptionally high mortality rates compared to other logged forests in the region (Do et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2018). High mortality rates at my site are likely due to the impacts of a heavy typhoon during the monitoring period and has probably changed forest dynamics in KNT, which is discussed in detail in Chapter 4.4.2. Further, it could be that nine years after logging any enhanced effects of logging on vital rates at our site have already declined and no significant differences can be detected anymore between logging classes. Additionally, differences in census intervals (Lewis et al., 2004) and the time lag between logging events and the study period complicate comparisons of vital rates among studies, which likely contributes to the differences in post-logging period in which vital rates are affected by logging.

4.4.2. Aboveground carbon dynamics

Plot-level AGC net changes in our study varied from -4.4 to 2.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, with a mean of 0.1 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Averaged by plot, mean AGC dbh growth was equal to 1.4 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, mean AGC recruitment equal to 0.2 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and mean AGC mortality equal to 1.5 Mg

C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Nam et al. (2018) estimated mean net AGC net change rates at 3.0 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for forests 22-30 years after logging in Vietnam, which is remarkably higher than the mean in my study and comparable to values of my plots that experienced the highest AGC increments. They found higher mean AGC dbh growth values (3.9 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and similar values for AGC recruitment (0.3 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and AGC mortality (1.2 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Further, considerable higher AGC net change rates were observed in logged forests elsewhere in Vietnam (5.4 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; Do et al., 2018), Borneo (1.4 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; Berry et al., 2010) and the Amazon (ranging from 0.04–2.96 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, mean of 1.33 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; Rutishauser et al., 2015). My study is the first work that reports mean AGC recovery rates close to zero in logged forests.

Generally, AGC net change rates in logged forests were higher than in unlogged forests (Berry et al., 2010; Roopsind et al., 2017). In our study, annual AGC net changes did not differ with logging intensity. Previous work showed that AGC stock losses increased with logging intensity immediately after logging, because more trees were killed by logging (Roopsind et al., 2018). After this initial period, AGC recovery rates increased with logging intensity (Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013; Roopsind et al., 2018), likely because remaining trees benefit from reduced competition (Villegas et al., 2009). The gain in AGC decreased with time after logging, because competition increases as stands accumulate AGC (Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013). However, at high logging intensities enhanced residual tree growth was insufficient to compensate for post-logging mortality (Roopsind et al., 2018). Recovery times depended mainly on the presence of remaining old growth trees and therefore the time to recover pre-logging AGC stocks was fastest in lightly logged forests (Roopsind et al., 2018). Consistently, Amazonia-wide results that show that the time needed to recover initial AGC stocks increases with AGC losses due to logging (Rutishauser et al., 2015).

It is likely that other disturbances at our sites interfere with any noticeable impacts of logging intensity on AGC net changes. In our study, plot-level AGC dynamics after logging were driven by mortality events, almost all due to natural causes. In 38% of the plots, high mortality and/or a large amount of surviving trees with reduced heights resulted in negative AGC net changes and these sites were thus not recovering. Although negative AGC net changes have been commonly observed in post-logging forests, due to high tree mortality in the first years after logging (Blanc et al., 2009; Mazzei et al., 2010; Sist et al., 2014), I expect that mortality events at my site are also impacted by heavy storms. KNT is located in Quang Binh province and experiences yearly storms from June to September (pers. comm. Trai Trong Le, 2019). In September 2017, i.e. during the census interval of my study, typhoon Doksuri severely impacted extensive areas in northern Vietnam, including the forests of KNT. From all typhoon landfalls in Vietnam between 1977 and 2017, typhoon Doksuri had the strongest typhoon intensity (Takagi, 2019). A study in the Philippines showed the plot-level tree mortality rate was significantly higher during a census interval with a strong typhoon (i.e. 2.27% yr⁻¹) compared to a non-typhoon interval and resulted in a small decrease in AGC stock after the typhoon (Yap et al., 2016). As a considerable amount of trees was uprooted or had broken tops during the remeasurements, I expect that besides post-logging mortality, the mortality in our site is largely caused by storm impacts and is higher than in years with less severe typhoons.

I did not observe a relationship between the AGC net change and the initial AGC of my plots. Contrary, standing AGC was positively related to net AGC increment, both at the individual and population level in logged Vietnamese forests (Nam et al., 2018). Similarly, AGC recovery rates were positively correlated with initial AGC stocks in logged Amazonian forests, i.e. forests with larger AGC stocks recovered faster (Rutishauser et al., 2015). The likely impact of storms on AGC net change rates could have disturbed such a relationship at my site.

4.4.3. Implications for forest recovery

The recovery to pre-logging AGC stocks after logging can take several decades or even more than a century (Blanc et al., 2009; Pinard and Cropper, 2000; Rutishauser et al., 2015). Improved logging practices (West et al., 2014) and silvicultural treatments (Peña-Claros et al., 2008) can accelerate forest recovery. Historical logging reduced AGC stocks in KNT (Chapter 2), but recent tree mortality, probably partly related to the impacts of a heavy typhoon, slows current forest recovery. Therefore, it is important to understand better the impacts of typhoons on tree damage and mortality in KNT and whether the historical logging intensity has changed the susceptibility of these forests to tree damages by typhoons. This will greatly improve predictions on the recovery capacity of these forests.

4.5. Conclusions

I quantified vital rates and AGC dynamics during two years in forests in Vietnam nine years after logging. I evaluated whether these vital rates and AGC fluxes differed with logging intensity. Although other studies usually observe increased dbh growth, recruitment and mortality rates with logging intensity, I did not find an effect of logging intensity on any of the vital rates. Plot-level AGC net changes varied from -4.4 to 2.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, with a mean of 0.1 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and did not differ with logging intensity. AGC recovery was predominantly driven by mortality, which resulted in negative AGC net changes in 38% of the plots. The forests suffer from typhoon-induced tree damages and mortality, which currently retards AGC recovery in these forests. KNT is one of the last remaining lowland forests in Vietnam with significant conservation values. Logged forests have often a large recovery potential, but further degradation should be prevented. It remains important to continue monitoring whether these

forests are recovering from historical logging events, ongoing illegal logging and impacts of typhoons.

Chapter 5. Synthesis and conclusions

Logging is the prevalent driver of forest degradation in Southeast Asia (Hosonuma et al., 2012). In Vietnam, extensive areas have been degraded by wood extraction and illegal logging in natural forests remains a serious concern (McElwee, 2004; Sikor and To, 2011). To prevent further degradation and allow recovery of logged forests, it is of critical importance to understand the impacts of logging on forest ecology in Vietnam. In this thesis, I assessed the impacts of logging intensity on carbon (C) stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in Khe Nuoc Trong forest (KNT) in north-central Vietnam, nine years after the majority of logging had ceased.

5.1. Main findings

In Chapter 2, I presented an approach, combining Landsat analysis and participatory mapping, to estimate historical logging intensities. This method can be applied for sites that lack accurate records on logging history, which is the case for most forests in the tropics especially where illegal logging occurs. I quantified forest C stocks, i.e. carbon in aboveground carbon (AGC), dead wood, belowground carbon (BGC) and soil (SOC), in sites that vary in logging intensity. Next, I explored correlations between logging intensity, soil, topography and AGC stocks. Heavily logged forests stored only half the amount of AGC of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh as lightly logged forests, mainly due to a reduction in the number of trees ≥ 60 cm dbh. Carbon in AGC of small trees (5–10 cm dbh), dead wood and BGC stored small fractions of total C stocks, while SOC in the topsoil of 0–30 cm depth stored ~50% of total C stocks. Combining logging intensities with soil and topographic data showed that the variability in AGC was largely determined by the logging intensity. This chapter showed large reductions in AGC in medium

and heavily logged forests, the critical role of big trees to maintain high forest C stocks and the importance to include SOC in total C stock estimates.

In Chapter 3, I analysed the impacts of logging intensity on tree diversity, composition, community wood density and availability of timber species in KNT. At my site, no significant relationships were observed between tree diversity and logging intensity and more plots in heavily logged forests would be needed to assess whether patterns follow predictions of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. Some compositional differences were observed with logging intensity, but the challenge of sampling at the species level sufficiently in high diversity tropical forests complicates interpretation. Community wood density differed with logging intensity, shifting towards lighter wood density species in heavily logged forests showed reduced numbers. Most timber trees from harvestable size were present in the lightly logged plots. In this chapter, I showed the importance of reducing logging intensities to maintain high community wood density and to prevent the dominance of light-demanding pioneer species and the depletion of timber species after logging.

In Chapter 4, I assessed the impacts of logging intensity on vital rates, i.e. diameter growth, recruitment and mortality rates, and associated AGC dynamics over a two-year period. None of the vital rates and their equivalent AGC fluxes differed with logging intensity. Meanwhile, plot-level AGC net changes ranged from -4.4 to 2.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and averaged 0.1 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and did not differ with logging intensity. Nearly 40% of plots showed a negative annual AGC net change during the monitoring period, predominantly driven by the natural mortality of trees and breakage of stems. KNT suffers from typhoon-induced tree damages and mortality, and this is likely to be retarding post-logging AGC recovery of these forests.

5.2. Connections between carbon, tree diversity and forest recovery in logged forests

This thesis shows that logging intensity has multiple impacts on forest ecology, including changes in forest carbon stocks, community wood density and the availability of timber species. Tree AGC is calculated with diameter and height data, to estimate the tree volume, and wood density of the species (Chave et al., 2014). Selective logging involves the direct extraction of predominantly big trees with high wood density (Macpherson et al., 2012), but it can also alter further forest stand dynamics. Although the height-diameter allometry in this study did not differ with logging intensity (Chapter 2.2.4.1), total and merchantable bole height (i.e. the lowest branch at crown base) of tropical canopy trees were reduced after selective logging in a forest in French Guiana (Rutishauser et al., 2016). Logging intensity affected tree heights negatively, which resulted in 2–13% decreases in tree AGC (Rutishauser et al., 2016). Logging thus had adverse effects on C sequestration and timber production.

Growth strategies of tree species are often reflected in the wood density of a species: fastgrowing pioneer species usually invest in rapid growth, reflected in less dense wood, while slower-growing species invest in durable wood with high wood density (King et al., 2005; Poorter et al., 2010). Disturbance, including logging, can alter the species composition in forests and usually stimulates early successional, light-demanding and fast-growing species, while it reduces the richness of late successional and slow-growing species (Bongers et al., 2009; Carreño-Rocabado et al., 2012; Clark and Covey, 2012; Hoang et al., 2011). Logginginduced changes in species composition can thus lead to changes in community wood density (Verburg and Van Eijk-Bos, 2003). Indeed, in this study community wood density decreased with logging intensity (Chapter 3), which can result in a further decrease in AGC stocks in heavily logged forests. Amazonian studies in mature tropical forests showed that variation in tree species composition and wood density regulated AGC storage (Baker et al., 2004; Phillips et al., 2019). Species-related variation in wood density impacted AGC storage at all scales, i.e. from the individual tree up to the biome (Phillips et al., 2019). Stand-level wood density explained up to 45% of the total variation in AGC across Amazonia (Baker et al., 2004). In logged forests in Vietnam, species with high wood density contributed more to AGC and net AGC recovery rates than low wood density species (Nam et al., 2018). Additionally, net AGC recovery rates were positively related to AGC stocks in logged forests, meaning that forests with larger AGC stocks recovered faster, both in Vietnam (Nam et al., 2018) and across the Amazon Basin (Rutishauser et al., 2015). In KNT, such a trend was not detected, likely caused by sporadic tree mortality and retarded AGC recovery due to the impacts of a recent heavy typhoon (Chapter 4). Logging can thus alter all parameters used to estimate AGC, i.e. tree diameter distribution, height and wood density, resulting in changes in AGC stocks and AGC dynamics.

5.3. Recovery of logged forests

I found that recent AGC recovery after logging was retarded in KNT and did not differ with logging intensity (Chapter 4). Previous work found that recovery of pre-logging AGC stocks can take decades to over a century in logged Southeast Asian and Amazonian forests (Blanc et al., 2009; Pinard and Cropper, 2000; Rutishauser et al., 2015). The recovery time depended on logging intensity, with longer times required for forests logged with higher intensity (Roopsind et al., 2018, 2017; Rutishauser et al., 2015). In this study, nine years after logging, tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity, while the species composition seemed to differ slightly with logging intensity (Chapter 3). The time needed to recover tree diversity in other studies differs: while the plant diversity of logged mixed Dipterocarp forest in Southern Vietnam was relatively well recovered after an average of 27 years (H.T.T. Do et al., 2019), a forest 50-years post-logging in Malaysia was still in secondary succession (Yamada et al.,

2013). Timber species were only occurring in small numbers in our plots, especially in the heavily logged forests (Chapter 3). Timber stocks do not always recover at the same speed as AGC stocks. In forests in the Central African Republic, the AGC recovered very quickly after logging and thinning, at a rate proportional to the disturbance intensity (average recovery of 144% after 24 years), while timber stocks recovered much slower (mean recovery of 41% after 24 years) (Gourlet-Fleury et al., 2013). A pantropical meta-analysis showed that timber yields decreased with approximately 46% after the first logging cycle, but were subsequently sustained at that level (Putz et al., 2012). Timber stocks did not regain primary forest levels and logging cycles would need to be lengthened for further recovery of timber stocks (Putz et al., 2012). Sustainable cutting cycles in forests in Borneo that were logged with low, medium and high intensity significantly differed between groups and equalled 27, 41 and 89 years, respectively (Sist et al., 2003a). For KNT, it remains important to monitor C stocks, illegal logging events and impacts of typhoons, to assess whether KNT's forests are recovering from historical logging.

Logging gaps tend to be rapidly colonized by competing plants such as pioneer species and lianas, which suppress the establishment and growth of timber species in logged forests (Fredericksen and Mostacedo, 2000; Sist and Nguyen-The, 2002). Silvicultural practices can be implemented to stimulate the growth and recruitment of timber species, such as the liberation of valuable trees from lianas and neighbouring competing trees, soil scarification and stand refinements (Peña-Claros et al., 2008), but outcomes depended on the intensity of the silvicultural treatment (de Avila et al., 2017). Reducing logging intensities, elongating logging cycles and implementing silvicultural treatments can accelerate recovery of AGC stocks, species and timber yields after logging.

5.4. Implications for forest conservation

KNT is one of the last remaining extensive evergreen lowland forests in Vietnam with significant conservation value. Communities surrounding KNT derive an essential part, i.e. 28%, of their total household income from natural forests (Ngo et al., 2020). From this, roughly half was obtained through illegally extracted timber and the remaining half from the sale of other forest products, such as honey, mushrooms and hunted animals (Ngo et al., 2020). Heavily logged forests stored only half the amount of AGC as lightly logged forests (Chapter 2), highlighting the damage caused by unsustainable extraction, the potential in AGC storage if these forests are protected and enabled to recover and the vital contribution that these logged forests can make to Vietnam's efforts to reduce climate change. As 88% of the plots had stumps, indicating recent logging (Chapter 2), it is essential to reduce the amount of illegal logging. For this, it is crucial to work in consultation with communities on providing alternative livelihood strategies, to provide an income to communities and to reduce the pressure on KNT's natural forests. Viet Nature Conservation Centre, our partner organization, supports and empowers communities surrounding KNT, such as increasing income from alternative livelihood activities, providing school materials and environmental awareness raising. Research in this area showed that plantation forests contributed 15% of total household income for communities living around KNT (Ngo et al., 2020). Improved plantation management can likely increase income from existing plantations. Viet Nature Conservation Centre is currently supporting smallholders with Acacia plantations surrounding KNT to certify their wood according to the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) standard, which provides evidence for sustainable forest management and enables access to certain timber markets.

Another possibility is to derive profits from conservation through reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD+) projects. Based on the results of this thesis and

additional research, the project document for Climate, Community and Biodiversity Alliance (CCBA) certification is being prepared for KNT (CCBA, 2013). CCBA certification ensures that the project stores carbon, supports local communities and protects biodiversity. Money generated through this certification scheme can further support alternative livelihood incomes and enhanced conservation. An analysis for KNT suggests that activities to reduce forest degradation are likely financially viable through Vietnam's REDD+ program (Ngo et al., 2020). As KNT is located in Vietnam's REDD+ focus region, i.e. the north-central coast, and logging is a key driver of forest degradation in Vietnam, our project and analyses are excellent examples for REDD+ projects in this region aimed at avoiding forest degradation through reduced logging. To further enhance protection of KNT's valuable forests, a proposal is currently being reviewed to designate KNT as a nature reserve, the highest government protection status in Vietnam. Such a protection status would give access to a higher level of government funding for conservation.

Spending extensive periods in KNT also taught me that forest patrols supporting law enforcement are necessary to reduce the amount of illegal logging in the area. When we camped in KNT and rangers from checkpoints left the forest for a few days, we immediately heard the sound of chainsaws, stopping again when the rangers came back to their checkpoints. Full-time occupation of checkpoints on crucial timber extraction routes seems needed to reduce illegal timber extraction activities in KNT. An analysis on the political economy of illegal logging in Vietnam suggests that a singular focus on law enforcement likely neither benefits local livelihoods nor forest conservation in areas with smallholder extraction (Sikor and To, 2011). Law enforcement activities should therefore always be accompanied with the provision of alternative livelihood activities, which are developed together with forest-dependent communities. In KNT, lightly logged forests contained the highest AGC (Chapter 2), while tree diversity did not differ significantly with logging intensity (Chapter 3). At the pantropical scale, no relationship was detected between tree diversity and AGC storage in intact old-growth tropical forests, but a weak relationship was observed within Asia (Sullivan et al., 2017). Absence of a clear diversity-carbon relationship means that conservation strategies solely focussing on C stocks will miss important high diversity areas (Sullivan et al., 2017). To avoid trade-offs, both carbon and biodiversity require explicit consideration in conservation planning.

5.5. Directions for future research

Several AGC estimates have been made in Vietnamese forests, mainly in old-growth forests (Con et al., 2013; T.V. Do et al., 2019; Hai et al., 2015; Luong et al., 2015; Nam et al., 2018; Stas et al., 2020). While extensive areas of Vietnam have been degraded by logging, there is limited knowledge on AGC and its variations in logged forests at the national-scale. A permanent plot network has been established under Vietnam's national forest inventory project during 2000-2015 and represents various forest types throughout Vietnam, with measurements conducted every five years (Nam, 2017). This network provides unique opportunities to refine AGC estimates and dynamics in Vietnamese forests. However, limitations with data sharing prevent current access to these data. Several pantropical AGC maps exist that combined field measurements with remote sensing (Avitabile et al., 2016; Baccini et al., 2012; Saatchi et al., 2011), but regional AGC estimates from ground plots and satellites appeared to differ significantly (Mitchard et al., 2014). That said, significant relationships were found between field-measured forest structure and high-spatial resolution satellite sensor data across a degradation landscape, including logged forests, in Malaysia, which could be used to map AGC and canopy structure (Pfeifer et al., 2016). An AGC map for Vietnam that is derived from detailed national field measurements does not yet exist. Such a national forest C map, constructed by combining field data and remote sensing, is highly valuable for REDD+ projects in Vietnam, especially for baseline measurements and large-scale monitoring of AGC stocks.

Observed forest structures and plant diversity are a result of past disturbances and subsequent forest recovery. Besides logging intensity, time since logging is an important parameter to interpret observed AGC stocks, tree diversity and forest dynamics. While chronosequence studies are common to study recovery in secondary forests (e.g., Do et al., 2010; Poorter et al., 2016), only a few studies used such an approach in logged tropical forests (de Carvalho et al., 2017; Lasco et al., 2006; Lussetti et al., 2016; Pinard et al., 2000). Studies considering variations in both logging intensity and time since logging, such as done in Borneo (Lussetti et al., 2016), would greatly improve our understanding of recovery in logged forests.

The geographical spread of logging studies is not uniformly across the tropics. The majority of the work on the impacts of logging on forest ecology has been performed in South America. Studies that analysed the responses of Southeast Asian forests to logging were predominantly performed in Dipterocarp forests in Borneo. As logging is the dominant driver of forest degradation in Southeast Asia (Hosonuma et al., 2012), also beyond Borneo and in other forest types, more research on this in mainland Southeast Asia and in non-Dipterocarp forests is recommended. Overall, studies on logging differ largely in logging intensity, recovery time since the last logging operation, number of times logged, time interval between logging cycles and applied harvest practices (e.g., reduced impact logging or conventional logging). Individual studies assessing the impacts of logging on forest C stocks and tree diversity can therefore differ significantly. As already a large fraction of the world's tropical forests has been logged and the area of logged forests is still increasing in the tropics (Asner et al., 2009), it is highly important to understand broad-scale and long-term responses of tropical forests to logging. Pantropical

networks that include permanent sample plots in logged forests, such as the Tropical managed Forests Observatory (TmFO; Sist et al., 2015) and ForestPlots.net (Lopez-Gonzalez et al., 2011), are crucial for such large-scale analyses and thereby predicting the future of logged tropical forests.

5.6. Final remarks

Selectively logged tropical forests can retain substantial C and timber stocks, biodiversity and other important ecosystem functions. This thesis contributes to the understanding of the effects of long-term logging activities on forest C stocks, tree diversity and forest recovery in seasonal evergreen broadleaf forests in Southeast Asia. These data are crucial for the development and implementation of REDD+ approaches, aimed at preventing further degradation and allowing eventual recovery of logged forests in Vietnam. A large part of the tropical forest biome has already been logged, yet logged forests have often a large recovery potential. Researchers, conservationists and policy makers should recognize the value of logged forests for conservation and their crucial role in mitigating global climate change, which will ultimately determine the fate of logged tropical forests.

References

- Achard, F., Eva, H.D., Stibig, H.-J., Mayaux, P., Gallego, J., Richards, T., Malingreau, J.-P., 2002. Determination of deforestation rates of the world's humid tropical forests. Science (80-.). 297, 999–1002. https://doi.org/10.1175/1087-3562(2003)0072.0.CO;2
- Angelsen, A. with Brockhaus, M., Kanninen, M., Sills, E., Sunderlin, W. D. and Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S. (eds), 2009. Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options. CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.
- Ashton, P.S., 1982. Dipterocarpaceae, in: van Steenis, C.G.G.J. (eds. . (Ed.), Flora Malesiana I(9). Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, The Hague, The Netherlands, pp. 237–552.
- Asner, G.P., Broadbent, E.N., Oliveira, P.J.C., Keller, M., Knapp, D.E., Silva, J.N.M., 2006.
 Condition and fate of logged forests in the Brazilian Amazon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.
 A. 103, 12947–50. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604093103
- Asner, G.P., Keller, M., Pereira, R., Zweede, J.C., Silva, J.N.M., 2004a. Canopy damage and recovery after selective logging in Amazonia: Field and satellite studies. Ecol. Appl. 14, S280–S298.
- Asner, G.P., Keller, M., Silva, J.N.M., 2004b. Spatial and temporal dynamics of forest canopy gaps following selective logging in the eastern Amazon. Glob. Chang. Biol. 10, 765–783. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00756.x
- Asner, G.P., Rudel, T.K., Aide, T.M., Defries, R., Emerson, R., 2009. A contemporary assessment of change in humid tropical forests. Conserv. Biol. 23, 1386–1395. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01333.x
- Averyanov, L. V, Loc, P.K., Hiep, N.T., Harder, D.K., 2003. Phytogeographic review of Vietnam and adjacent areas of Eastern Indochina. Komarovia 3, 1–83.

Avitabile, V., Herold, M., Heuvelink, G.B.M., Lewis, S.L., Phillips, O.L., Asner, G.P.,

Armston, J., Ashton, P.S., Banin, L., Bayol, N., Berry, N.J., Boeckx, P., de Jong, B.H.J.,
Devries, B., Girardin, C.A.J., Kearsley, E., Lindsell, J.A., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Lucas, R.,
Malhi, Y., Morel, A., Mitchard, E.T.A., Nagy, L., Qie, L., Quinones, M.J., Ryan, C.M.,
Ferry, S.J.W., Sunderland, T., Laurin, G.V., Gatti, R.C., Valentini, R., Verbeeck, H.,
Wijaya, A., Willcock, S., 2016. An integrated pan-tropical biomass map using multiple
reference datasets. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 1406–1420. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13139

- Baccini, A., Goetz, S.J., Walker, W.S., Laporte, N.T., Sun, M., Hackler, J., Beck, P.S.A., Dubayah, R., Friedl, M.A., Samanta, S., Houghton, R.A., 2012. Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2, 182–185. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1354
- Baccini, A., Walker, W., Carvalho, L., Farina, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Houghton, R.A., 2017.
 Tropical forests are a net carbon source based on aboveground measurements of gain and loss. Science (80-.). 358, 230–234. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam5962
- Bagchi, R., Philipson, C.D., Slade, E.M., Hector, A., Phillips, S., Villanueva, J.F., Lewis, O.T.,
 Lyal, C.H.C., Nilus, R., Madran, A., Scholes, J.D., Press, M.C., Sheffield, S., 2011.
 Impacts of logging on density-dependent predation of dipterocarp seeds in a South East
 Asian rainforest. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 366, 3246–3255.
 https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0034
- Baker, T.R., Chao, K.J., 2011. Manual for coarse woody debris measurement in RAINFOR plots. Leeds, UK.
- Baker, T.R., Honorio Coronado, E.N., Phillips, O.L., Martin, J., Van Der Heijden, G.M.F., Garcia, M., Silva Espejo, J., 2007. Low stocks of coarse woody debris in a southwest Amazonian forest. Oecologia 152, 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0667-5
- Baker, T.R., Phillips, O.L., Malhi, Y., Almeidas, S., Arroyo, L., Di Fiore, A., Erwin, T., Killeen, T.J., Laurance, S.G., Laurance, W.F., Lewis, S.L., Lloyd, J., Monteagudo, A., Neill, D.A.,

Patiño, S., Pitman, N.C.A., Silva, J.N.M., Vásquez Martínez, R., 2004. Variation in wood density determines spatial patterns in Amazonian forest biomass. Glob. Chang. Biol. 10, 545–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00751.x Variation

- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48.
- Batey, T., Cresser, M.S., Willett, I.R., 1974. Sulphuric-perchloric acid digestion of plant material for nitrogen determination. Anal. Chim. Acta 69, 484–487.
- Berenguer, E., Ferreira, J., Gardner, T.A., Aragão, L.E.O.C., De Camargo, P.B., Cerri, C.E., Durigan, M., De Oliveira, R.C., Vieira, I.C.G., Barlow, J., 2014. A large-scale field assessment of carbon stocks in human-modified tropical forests. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 3713–3726. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12627
- Berry, N.J., Phillips, O.L., Lewis, S.L., Hill, J.K., Edwards, D.P., Tawatao, N.B., Ahmad, N., Magintan, D., Khen, C. V., Maryati, M., Ong, R.C., Hamer, K.C., 2010. The high value of logged tropical forests: Lessons from northern Borneo. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 985–997. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-010-9779-z
- Berry, N.J., Phillips, O.L., Ong, R.C., Hamer, K.C., 2008. Impacts of selective logging on tree diversity across a rainforest landscape: The importance of spatial scale. Landsc. Ecol. 23, 915–929. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-008-9248-1
- Birdlife International, n.d. Pre-feasibility study for Forests of Hope site. Ecosystem Services Assessment Khe Nuoc Trong (proposed Nature Reserve).
- Blanc, L., Echard, M., Herault, B., Bonal, D., Marcon, E., Chave, J., Baraloto, C., 2009.
 Dynamics of aboveground carbon stocks in a selectively logged tropical forest. Ecol. Appl. 19, 1397–1404. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1572.1
- Blanc, L., Maury-Lechon, G., Pascal, J.P., 2000. Structure, floristic composition and natural regeneration in the forests of Cat Tien National Park, Vietnam: An analysis of the

successional trends. J. Biogeogr. 27, 141–157. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2000.00347.x

- Bonan, G.B., 2008. Forests and climate change: forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. Science (80-.). 320, 1444–1449. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1155121
- Bongers, F., Poorter, L., Hawthorne, W.D., Sheil, D., 2009. The intermediate disturbance hypothesis applies to tropical forests, but disturbance contributes little to tree diversity. Ecol. Lett. 12, 798–805. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01329.x
- Boyle, B., Hopkins, N., Lu, Z., Raygoza Garay, J.A., Mozzherin, D., Rees, T., Matasci, N., Narro, M.L., Piel, W.H., Mckay, S.J., Lowry, S., Freeland, C., Peet, R.K., Enquist, B.J., 2013. The taxonomic name resolution service: An online tool for automated standardization of plant names. BMC Bioinformatics 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-16
- Bray, R.H., Kurtz, L.T., 1945. Determination of total, organic, and available forms of Phosphorus in soils. Soil Sci. 59, 39–46.
- Broadbent, E.N., Zarin, D.J., Asner, G.P., Pena-Claros, M., Cooper, A., Littell, R., 2006. Recovery of forest structure and spectral properties after selective logging in lowland Bolivia. Ecol. Appl. 16, 1148–1163.
- Brummitt, N., Araújo, A.C., Harris, T., 2020. Areas of plant diversity What do we know? Plants People Planet 00, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10110
- Bryan, J.E., Shearman, P.L., Asner, G.P., Knapp, D.E., Aoro, G., Lokes, B., 2013. Extreme differences in forest degradation in Borneo: Comparing practices in Sarawak, Sabah, and Brunei. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069679
- Burslem, D.F.R.P., Whitmore, T.C., 1999. Species diversity, susceptibility to disturbance and tree population dynamics in tropical rain forest. J. Veg. Sci. 10, 767–776.
- Cannon, C.H., Peart, D.R., Leighton, M., 1998. Tree Species Diversity in Commercially

Logged Bornean Rainforest. Science (80-.). 281, 1366–1368.

- Carreño-Rocabado, G., Peña-Claros, M., Bongers, F., Alarcón, A., Licona, J.-C., Poorter, L., 2012. Effects of disturbance intensity on species and functional diversity in a tropical forest. J. Ecol. 100, 1453–1463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2012.02015.x
- CCBA, 2013. Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards Third Edition. Arlington, VA, USA. December, 2013. At: www.climate-standards.org.
- Chao, K.-J., Phillips, O.L., Baker, T.R., Peacock, J., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Vasquez Martinez,
 R. Monteagudo, A., Torres-Lezama, A., 2009. After trees die : quantities and determinants of necromass across Amazonia. Biogeosciences 6, 1615–1626.
- Chao, K.J., Chen, Y.S., Song, G.Z.M., Chang, Y.M., Sheue, C.R., Phillips, O.L., Hsieh, C.F., 2017. Carbon concentration declines with decay class in tropical forest woody debris. For. Ecol. Manage. 391, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.01.020
- Chave, J., Coomes, D., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Swenson, N.G., Zanne, A.E., 2009. Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. Ecol. Lett. 12, 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01285.x
- Chave, J., Muller-landau, H.C., Baker, T.R., Easdale, T.A., ter Steege, H., Webb, C.O., 2006.
 Regional and Phylogenetic Variation of Wood Density across 2456 Neotropical Tree
 Species. Ecol. Appl. 16, 2356–2367.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M.S., Delitti, W.B.C., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P.M., Goodman, R.C., Henry, M., Martínez-Yrízar, A., Mugasha, W. a., Muller-Landau, H.C., Mencuccini, M., Nelson, B.W., Ngomanda, A., Nogueira, E.M., Ortiz-Malavassi, E., Pélissier, R., Ploton, P., Ryan, C.M., Saldarriaga, J.G., Vieilledent, G., 2014. Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. Glob. Chang. Biol. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12629

Chazdon, R.L., 1988. Sunflecks and their importance to forest understorey plants, Advances in

Ecological Research. https://doi.org/10.2307/1311725

- Chazdon, R.L., Pearcy, R.W., Lee, D.W., Fetcher, N., 1996. Photosynthetic responses of tropical forest plants to contrasting light environments, in: Mulkey, S.S., Chazdon, R.L., Smith, A.P. (Eds.), Tropical Forest Plant Ecophysiology. Chapman & Hall.
- Chien, P.D., Zuidema, P.A., Nghia, N.H., 2008. Conservation prospects for threatened Vietnamese tree species: results from a demographic study. Popul. Ecol. 50, 227–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10144-008-0079-3
- Clark, J.A., Covey, K.R., 2012. Tree species richness and the logging of natural forests: A metaanalysis. For. Ecol. Manage. 276, 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.04.001
- Cochard, R., Ngo, D.T., Waeber, P.O., Kull, C.A., 2017. Extent and causes of forest cover changes in Vietnam's provinces 1993-2013: A review and analysis of official data. Environ. Rev. 25, 199–217. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2016-0050
- Con, T. Van, Thang, N.T., Ha, D.T.T., Khiem, C.C., Quy, T.H., Lam, V.T., Do, T. Van, Sato, T., 2013. Relationship between aboveground biomass and measures of structure and species diversity in tropical forests of Vietnam. For. Ecol. Manage. 310, 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.08.034
- Connell, J.H., 1978. Diversity in tropical rain forests and coral reefs. Science (80-.). 199, 1302– 1310.
- Curtis, P.G., Slay, C.M., Harris, N.L., Tyukavina, A., Hansen, M.C., 2018. Classifying drivers of global forest loss. Science (80-.). 361, 1108–1111. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau3445
- de Avila, A.L., Schwartz, G., Roberto Ruschel, A., do Carmo Lopes, J., Natalino Macedo Silva,
 J., Olegário Pereira de Carvalho, J., Dormann, C.F., Mazzei, L., Hofmann Mota Soares,
 M., Bauhus, J., 2017. Recruitment, growth and recovery of commercial tree species over
 30 years following logging and thinning in a tropical rain forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 385,

225-235. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.11.039

- de Carvalho, A.L., D'Oliveira, M.V.N., Putz, F.E., de Oliveira, L.C., 2017. Natural regeneration of trees in selectively logged forest in western Amazonia. For. Ecol. Manage. 392, 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.02.049
- de Jong, W., Sam, D.D., Hung, T.V., 2006. Forest rehabilitation in Vietnam: histories, realities and future. Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia.
- Delcamp, M., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Flores, O., Garnier, E., 2008. Can functional classification of tropical trees predict population dynamics after disturbance? J. Veg. Sci. 19, 209–220. https://doi.org/10.3170/2008-8-18360
- Department for agriculture and rural development, 2010. Feasibility study for the designation of Khe Nuoc Trong as a nature reserve in the national special-use forest system.
- Dewis, J., Freitas, F., 1970. Physical and chemical methods of soil and water analysis, FAO Soils Bulletin 10. Rome, Italy.
- Ding, Y., Zang, R., Liu, S., He, F., Letcher, S.G., 2012. Recovery of woody plant diversity in tropical rain forests in southern China after logging and shifting cultivation. Biol. Conserv. 145, 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.11.009
- Dirzo, R., Raven, P.H., 2003. Global state of biodiversity and loss. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 28, 137–167. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.28.050302.105532
- Do, H.T.T., Grant, J.C., Trinh, N.B., Zimmer, H.C., Tran, L.D., Nichols, J.D., 2019. Recovery of tropical moist deciduous dipterocarp forest in Southern Vietnam. For. Ecol. Manage. 433, 184–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.10.062
- Do, T.V., Osawa, A., Thang, N.T., 2010. Recovery process of a mountain forest after shifting cultivation in Northwestern Vietnam. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 1650–1659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.01.043
- Do, T.V., Sato, T., Hai, V.D., Thang, N.T., Binh, N.T., Son, N.H., Thuyet, D.V., Doi, B.T.,

Thang, H.V., Hung, T.T., Con, T.V., Kozan, O., Thanh, L.V., Cam, N.V., 2017. Aboveground biomass and tree species diversity along altitudinal gradient in Central Highland, Vietnam. Trop. Ecol. 58, 95–104.

- Do, T.V., Trung, P.D., Yamamoto, M., Kozan, O., Thang, N.T., Thuyet, D. Van, Thang, H. Van, Phuong, N.T.T., Khuong, N.V., Cam, N. Van, 2018. Aboveground biomass increment and stand dynamics in tropical evergreen broadleaved forest. J. Sustain. For. 37, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/10549811.2017.1375959
- Do, T.V., Yamamoto, M., Kozan, O., Hai, V.D., Trung, P.D., Thang, N.T., Hai, L.T., Nam, V.T., Hung, T.T., Thang, H. V, Manh, T.D., Khiem, C.C., Lam, V.T., Hung, N.Q., Quy, T.H., Tuyen, P.Q., Bon, T.N., Phuong, N.T.T., Khuong, N.V., Tuan, N. V, Ha, D.T.H., Long, T.H., Thuyet, D. Van, Trieu, D.T., Thinh, N. V, Hai, T.A., Trung, D.Q., Bich, N. V, Dang, D.H., Dung, P.T., Hoang, N.H., Hanh, L.T., Quang, P.M., Huong, N.T.T., Son, H.T., Son, N.T., Anh, N.T. V, Anh, N.T.H., Sam, P.D., Nhung, H.T., Thanh, H. V, Thinh, N.H., Van, T.H., Luong, H.T., Hung, B.K., 2019. Ecoregional variations of aboveground biomass and stand structure in evergreen broadleaved forests. J. For. Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-019-00969-y
- Edwards, D.P., Tobias, J.A., Sheil, D., Meijaard, E., Laurance, W.F., 2014. Maintaining ecosystem function and services in logged tropical forests. Trends Ecol. Evol. 29, 511–520. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.07.003
- Ellison, D., Morris, C.E., Locatelli, B., Sheil, D., Cohen, J., Murdiyarso, D., Gutierrez, V., van Noordwijk, M., Creed, I.F., Pokorny, J., Gaveau, D., Spracklen, D. V., Tobella, A.B., Ilstedt, U., Teuling, A.J., Gebrehiwot, S.G., Sands, D.C., Muys, B., Verbist, B., Springgay, E., Sugandi, Y., Sullivan, C.A., 2017. Trees, forests and water: cool insights for a hot world. Glob. Environ. Chang. 43, 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.01.002

Estoque, R.C., Ooba, M., Avitabile, V., Hijioka, Y., Dasgupta, R., Togawa, T., Murayama, Y.,

2019. The future of Southeast Asia's forests. Nat. Commun. 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09646-4

- FAO, 1995. Forest Resources Assessment 1990: Global Synthesis, FAO Forestry Paper 124.Rome, Italy.
- FIPI, 1996. Vietnam forest trees. Agricultural Publishing House, Forest Inventory and Planning Institute. Hanoi, Vietnam.
- Flores, O., Hérault, B., Delcamp, M., Garnier, É., Gourlet-Fleury, S., 2014. Functional traits help predict post-disturbance demography of tropical trees. PLoS One 9, e105022. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105022
- Fredericksen, T.S., Mostacedo, B., 2000. Regeneration of timber species following selection logging in a Bolivian tropical dry forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 131, 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00199-1
- Gaveau, D.L.A., Sloan, S., Molidena, E., Yaen, H., Sheil, D., Abram, N.K., Ancrenaz, M., Nasi,
 R., Quinones, M., Wielaard, N., Meijaard, E., 2014. Four Decades of Forest Persistence,
 Clearance and Logging on Borneo. PLoS One 9, 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101654
- Gerwing, J.J., 2002. Degradation of forests through logging and fire in the eastern Brazilian Amazon. For. Ecol. Manage. 157, 131–141.
- Gibson, L., Lee, T.M., Koh, L.P., Brook, B.W., Gardner, T.A., Barlow, J., Peres, C.A., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Laurance, W.F., Lovejoy, T.E., Sodhi, N.S., 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. Nature 478, 378–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10425
- Gourlet-Fleury, S., Mortier, F., Fayolle, A., Baya, F., Ouédraogo, D., Bénédet, F., Picard, N., 2013. Tropical forest recovery from logging: a 24 year silvicultural experiment from Central Africa. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 368, 20120302.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0302

- Greacen, E.L., Sands, R., 1980. Compaction of forest soils. A review. Aust. J. Soil Res. 18, 163–189.
- Grogan, K., Pflugmacher, D., Hostert, P., Kennedy, R., Fensholt, R., 2015. Cross-border forest disturbance and the role of natural rubber in mainland Southeast Asia using annual Landsat time series. Remote Sens. Environ. 169, 438–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2015.03.001
- Grömping, U., 2006. Relative Importance for Linear Regression in R: The Package relaimpo.J. Stat. Softw. 17, 1–27.
- Hai, V.D., Do, T. Van, Trieu, D.T., Sato, T., Kozan, O., 2015. Carbon stocks in tropical evergreen broadleaf forests in Central Highland, Vietnam. Int. For. Rev. 17, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1505/146554815814725086
- Hall, J.S., Harris, D.J., Medjibe, V., Ashton, P.M.S., 2003. The effects of selective logging on forest structure and tree species composition in a Central African forest : implications for management of conservation areas. For. Ecol. Manage. 183, 249–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00107-5
- Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P. V, Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S. a, Tyukavina, a, 2013.
 High-Resolution Global Maps of. Science (80-.). 342, 850–853.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244693
- Hérault, B., Ouallet, J., Blanc, L., Wagner, F., Baraloto, C., 2010. Growth responses of neotropical trees to logging gaps. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 821–831.
- Hirschmugl, M., Steinegger, M., Gallaun, H., Schardt, M., 2014. Mapping forest degradation due to selective logging by means of time series analysis: Case studies in Central Africa. Remote Sens. 6, 756–775. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6010756

Hoang, C., Satyal, P., Corbera, E., 2019. 'This is my garden': justice claims and struggles over

forests in Vietnam's REDD+. Clim. Policy 19, S23–S35. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1527202

- Hoang, V.S., Baas, P., Keßler, P.J.A., Slik, J.W.F., Ter Steege, H., Raes, N., 2011. Human and environmental influences on plant diversity and composition in Ben En National Park, Vietnam. J. Trop. For. Sci. 23, 328–337.
- Hoang, S. Van, Baas, P., Keßler, P.J.A., 2008. Uses and conservation of plant species in a national park - A case study of Ben En, Vietnam. Econ. Bot. 62, 574–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12231-008-9056-1
- Hosonuma, N., Herold, M., De Sy, V., De Fries, R.S., Brockhaus, M., Verchot, L., Angelsen,
 A., Romijn, E., 2012. An assessment of deforestation and forest degradation drivers in developing countries. Environ. Res. Lett. 7, 044009. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/044009
- Huy, B., Kralicek, K., Poudel, K.P., Tan, V., Khoa, P. Van, Dinh, N., Temesgen, H., 2016a.
 Allometric equations for estimating tree aboveground biomass in evergreen broadleaf forests of Viet Nam. For. Ecol. Manage. 382, 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.10.021
- Huy, B., Poudel, K.P., Kralicek, K., Hung, N.D., Khoa, P. Van, Phuong, V.T., Temesgen, H.,
 2016b. Allometric equations for estimating tree aboveground biomass in tropical dipterocarp forests of Vietnam. Forests 7, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7080180
- Huy, B., Poudel, K.P., Temesgen, H., 2016c. Aboveground biomass equations for evergreen broadleaf forests in South Central Coastal ecoregion of Viet Nam: Selection of ecoregional or pantropical models. For. Ecol. Manage. 376, 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.031
- Imai, N., Seino, T., Aiba, S. ichiro, Takyu, M., Titin, J., Kitayama, K., 2012. Effects of selective logging on tree species diversity and composition of Bornean tropical rain forests at

different spatial scales. Plant Ecol. 213, 1413–1424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-012-0100-y

- IPCC, 2006. IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories, in: Eggleston, H.S., Bueinda, L., Miwa, K., Ngara, T., Tanabe, K. (Eds.), . Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, IGES.
- Keller, M., Palace, M., Asner, G.P., Pereira, R., Silva, J.N.M., 2004. Coarse woody debris in undisturbed and logged forests in the eastern Brazilian Amazon. Glob. Chang. Biol. 10, 784–795. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00770.x
- Khuc, Q. Van, Tran, B.Q., Meyfroidt, P., Paschke, M.W., 2018. Drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in Vietnam: An exploratory analysis at the national level. For. Policy Econ. 90, 128–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.02.004
- King, D.A., Davies, S.J., Nur Supardi, M.N., Tan, S., 2005. Tree growth is related to light interception and wood density in two mixed dipterocarp forests of Malaysia. Funct. Ecol. 19, 445–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2005.00982.x
- Kohyama, T.S., Kohyama, T.I., Sheil, D., 2018. Definition and estimation of vital rates from repeated censuses: Choices, comparisons and bias corrections focusing on trees. Methods Ecol. Evol. 9, 809–821. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12929
- Kralicek, K., Huy, B., Poudel, K.P., Temesgen, H., Salas, C., 2017. Simultaneous estimation of above- and below-ground biomass in tropical forests of Viet Nam. For. Ecol. Manage. 390, 147–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.01.030
- Langner, A., Miettinen, J., Kukkonen, M., Vancutsem, C., Simonetti, D., Vieilledent, G., Verhegghen, A., Gallego, J., Stibig, H.-J., 2018. Towards Operational Monitoring of Forest Canopy Disturbance in Evergreen Rain Forests : A Test Case in Continental Southeast Asia. Remote Sens. 10, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10040544

Lasco, R.D., MacDicken, G., Pulhin, F., Guillermo, I.Q., Sales, R.F., Cruz, R.V.O., 2006.

Carbon stocks assessment of a selectively logged Dipterocarp forest and wood processing mill in the Philippines. J. Trop. For. Sci. 18, 212–221.

- Le Quéré, C., Andrew, R.M., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Hauck, J., Pongratz, J., Pickers, P.A., Korsbakken, J.I., Peters, G.P., Canadell, J.G., Arneth, A., Arora, V.K., Barbero, L., Bastos, A., Bopp, L., Chevallier, F., Chini, L.P., Ciais, P., Doney, S.C., Gkritzalis, T., Goll, D.S., Harris, I., Haverd, V., Hoffman, F.M., Hoppema, M., Houghton, R.A., Hurtt, G., Ilyina, T., Jain, A.K., Johannessen, T., Jones, C.D., Kato, E., Keeling, R.F., Goldewijk, K.K., Landschützer, P., Lefèvre, N., Lienert, S., Liu, Z., Lombardozzi, D., Metzl, N., Munro, D.R., Nabel, J.E.M.S., Nakaoka, S., Neill, C., Olsen, A., Ono, T., Patra, P., Peregon, A., Peters, W., Peylin, P., Pfeil, B., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Rehder, G., Resplandy, L., Robertson, E., Rocher, M., Rödenbeck, C., Schuster, U., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., Skjelvan, I., Steinhoff, T., Sutton, A., Tans, P.P., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., Tubiello, F.N., van der Laan-Luijkx, I.T., van der Werf, G.R., Viovy, N., Walker, A.P., Wiltshire, A.J., Wright, R., Zaehle, S., Zheng, B., 2018. Global carbon budget 2018. Earth Syst. Sci. Data 10, 2141–2194. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-10-2141-2018
- Leigh Jr., E.G., Davidar, P., Dick, C.W., Puyravaud, J.-P., Terborgh, J., ter Steege, H., Wright, S.J., 2004. Why do some tropical forests have so many species of trees? Biotropica 36, 447–473. https://doi.org/10.1646/1607
- Lewis, S.L., Edwards, D.P., Galbraith, D., 2015. Increasing human dominance of tropical forests. Science (80-.). 349, 827–832.
- Lewis, S.L., Phillips, O.L., Sheil, D., Vinceti, B., Baker, T.R., Brown, S., Graham, A.W.,
 Higuchi, N., Hilbert, D.W., Laurance, W.F., Lejoly, J., Malhi, Y., Monteagudo, A.,
 Vargas, P.N., Sonké, B., Supardi, N., Terborgh, J.W., Martínez, R.V., 2004. Tropical
 forest tree mortality, recruitment and turnover rates: calculation, interpretation and
 comparison when census intervals vary. J. Ecol. 92, 929–944.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-0477.2004.00923.x

- Lima, T.A., Beuchle, R., Langner, A., Grecchi, R.C., Griess, V.C., Achard, F., 2019. Comparing Sentinel-2 MSI and Landsat 8 OLI imagery for monitoring selective logging in the Brazilian Amazon. Remote Sens. 11, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11080922
- Lindemalm, F., Rogers, H.M., 2001. Impacts of conventional logging and portable sawmill logging operations on tree diversity in East New Britain, Papua New Guinea. Aust. For. 64, 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049158.2001.10676157
- Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Lewis, S.L., Burkitt, M., Phillips, O.L., 2011. ForestPlots.net: a web application and research tool to manage and analyse tropical forest plot data. J. Veg. Sci. 22, 610–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01312.x
- Luong, N.V., Tateishi, R., Hoan, N.T., Tu, T.T., 2015. Forest change and its effect on biomass in Yok Don National Park in Central Highlands of Vietnam using ground data and geospatial techniques. Adv. Remote Sens. 4, 108–118. https://doi.org/10.4236/ars.2015.42010
- Lussetti, D., Axelsson, E.P., Ilstedt, U., Falck, J., Karlsson, A., 2016. Supervised logging and climber cutting improves stand development: 18 years of post-logging data in a tropical rain forest in Borneo. For. Ecol. Manage. 381, 335–346.
- Macpherson, A.J., Carter, D.R., Schulze, M.D., Vidal, E., Lentini, M.W., 2012. The sustainability of timber production from Eastern Amazonian forests. Land use policy 29, 339–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.07.004
- Mahood, S.P., Hung, T.V., 2008. The biodiversity of Bac Huong Hoa Nature Reserve, Quang Tri Province, Vietnam, Conservation Report.
- Malhi, Y., Grace, J., 2000. Tropical forests and atmospheric carbon dioxide. Trends Ecol. Evol. 15, 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(00)01906-6

MARD, 2018. Emission Reductions Program Document (ER-PD) Vietnam. Forest Carbon

Partnership Facility (FCPF) Carbon Fund.

- MARD, 2009. Circular No. 34/2009/TT-BNNPTNT of June 10, 2009, on criteria for forest identification and classification. Vietnam law & legal forum.
- Marthews, T.R., Riutta, T., Oliveras Menor, I., Urrutia, R., Moore, S., Metcalfe, D., Malhi, Y.,
 Phillips, O., Huaraca Huasco, W., Ruiz Jaén, M., Girardin, C., Butt, N., Cain, R.,
 Networks, and colleagues from the R. and G., 2014. Measuring fropical forest carbon allocation and cycling: A RAINFOR-GEM field manual for intensive census plots (V. 3.0). https://doi.org/doi: 10.5287/bodleian:xp68kh42k
- Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C., Pfeifer, M., Khoo, M., Bullock, J.M., 2015. Impacts of tropical selective logging on carbon storage and tree species richness: A meta-analysis. For. Ecol. Manage. 356, 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.07.010
- Mazzei, L., Sist, P., Ruschel, A., Putz, F.E., Marco, P., Pena, W., Ferreira, J.E.R., 2010. Aboveground biomass dynamics after reduced-impact logging in the Eastern Amazon. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.10.031
- McElwee, P., 2009. Reforesting "Bare Hills" in Vietnam: Social and Environmental Consequences of the 5 Million Hectare Reforestation Program. AMBIO A J. Hum. Environ. 38, 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1579/08-R-520.1
- McElwee, P., 2004. You say illegal, I say legal. J. Sustain. For. 19, 97–135. https://doi.org/10.1300/J091v19n01
- Meyfroidt, P., Lambin, E.F., 2009. Forest transition in Vietnam and displacement of deforestation abroad. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 16139–16144. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0904942106
- Meyfroidt, P., Lambin, E.F., 2008a. Forest transition in Vietnam and its environmental impacts. Glob. Chang. Biol. 14, 1319–1336. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01575.x

Meyfroidt, P., Lambin, E.F., 2008b. The causes of the reforestation in Vietnam. Land use policy

25, 182–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2007.06.001

- Miettinen, J., Shi, C., Liew, S.C., 2011. Deforestation rates in insular Southeast Asia between 2000 and 2010. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2261–2270. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02398.x
- Miettinen, J., Stibig, H.J., Achard, F., 2014. Remote sensing of forest degradation in Southeast Asia-Aiming for a regional view through 5-30 m satellite data. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 2, 24–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2014.07.007
- Mitchard, E.T.A., Feldpausch, T.R., Brienen, R.J.W., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Monteagudo, A., Baker, T.R., Lewis, S.L., Lloyd, J., Quesada, C.A., Gloor, M., ter Steege, H., Meir, P., Alvarez, E., Araujo-Murakami, A., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Arroyo, L., Aymard, G., Banki, O., Bonal, D., Brown, S., Brown, F.I., Cerón, C.E., Moscoso, V.C., Chave, J., Comiskey, J.A., Cornejo, F., Medina, M.C., Da Costa, L., Costa, F.R.C., Fiore, A. Di, Domingues, T.F., Erwin, T.L., Frederickson, T., Higuchi, N., Coronado, E.N.H., Killeen, T.J., Laurance, W.F., Levis, C., Magnusson, W.E., Marimon, B.S., Marimon Junior, B.H., Mendoza Polo, I., Mishra, P., Nascimento, M.T., Neill, D., Núñez Vargas, M.P., Palacios, W.A., Parada, A., Pardo Molina, G., Peña-Claros, M., Pitman, N., Peres, C.A., Poorter, L., Prieto, A., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Restrepo Correa, Z., Roopsind, A., Roucoux, K.H., Rudas, A., Salomão, R.P., Schietti, J., Silveira, M., de Souza, P.F., Steininger, M.K., Stropp, J., Terborgh, J., Thomas, R., Toledo, M., Torres-Lezama, A., van Andel, T.R., van der Heijden, G.M.F., Vieira, I.C.G., Vieira, S., Vilanova-Torre, E., Vos, V.A., Wang, O., Zartman, C.E., Malhi, Y., Phillips, O.L., 2014. Markedly divergent estimates of Amazon forest carbon density from ground plots and satellites. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23, 935–946. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12168
- MONRE, 2014. Vietnam's fifth national report to the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity. Reporting period: 2009 2013. Hanoi, Vietnam.

- MONRE, 2008. Vietnam's implementation of the biodiversity convention, 4th country report. Hanoi, Vietnam.
- Murphy, J., Riley, J.P., 1962. A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Anal. Chim. Acta 27, 31–36.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1080/21564574.1998.9650003
- Nam, V.T., 2017. Biomass dynamics in selectively logged forests in Vietnam. PhD thesis, Utrecht University, the Netherlands.
- Nam, V.T., Anten, N.P.R., van Kuijk, M., 2018. Biomass dynamics in a logged forest: the role of wood density. J. Plant Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10265-018-1042-9
- Nam, V.T., Van Kuijk, M., Anten, N.P.R., 2016. Allometric equations for aboveground and belowground biomass estimations in an evergreen forest in Vietnam. PLoS One 11, 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156827
- Ngo, D.T., Le, A.V., Le, H.T., Stas, S.M., Le, T.C., Tran, H.D., Pham, T., Le, T.T., Spracklen,
 B.D., Langan, C., Cuthbert, R., Buermann, W., Phillips, O.L., Jew, E.K.K., Spracklen,
 D.V., 2020. The potential for REDD+ to reduce forest degradation in Vietnam. Environ.
 Res. Lett. 15, 1–13.
- Ogle, A., Blakeney, K.J., Hoe, H., 1998. Natural forest management practices. Hanoi, Vietnam.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R.,O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H.,2019. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-5.
- Orians, G.H., Pfeiffer, E.W., 1970. Ecological Effects of the War in Vietnam. Science (80-.). 168, 544–554.
- Page, A.L., Miller, R.H., Keeney, D.R., (ed), 1982. Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. Chemical

and microbiological properties, Second. ed. American Society of Agronomy, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.

- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P.E., Kurz, W.A., Phillips, O.L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S.L., Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Pacala, S.W., McGuire, A.D., Piao, S., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S., Hayes, D., 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science (80-.). 333, 988–993. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1201609
- Panfil, S.N., Gullison, R.E., 1998. Short term impacts of experimental timber harvest intensity on forest structure and composition in the Chimanes Forest, Bolivia. For. Ecol. Manage. 102, 235–243.
- Parrotta, J.A., Francis, J.K., Knowles, O.H., 2002. Harvesting intensity affects forest structure and composition in an upland Amazonian forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 169, 243–255.
- Peña-Claros, M., Peters, E.M., Justiniano, M.J., Bongers, F., Blate, G.M., Fredericksen, T.S., Putz, F.E., 2008. Regeneration of commercial tree species following silvicultural treatments in a moist tropical forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 1283–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.10.033
- Peres, C.A., Barlow, J., Laurance, W.F., 2006. Detecting anthropogenic disturbance in tropical forests. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 227–229.
- Pfeifer, M., Kor, L., Nilus, R., Turner, E., Cusack, J., Lysenko, I., Khoo, M., Chey, V.K., Chung, A.C., Ewers, R.M., 2016. Mapping the structure of Borneo's tropical forests across a degradation gradient. Remote Sens. Environ. 176, 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.01.014
- Pfeifer, M., Lefebvre, V., Turner, E., Cusack, J., Khoo, M., Chey, V.K., Peni, M., Ewers, R.M., 2015. Deadwood biomass: an underestimated carbon stock in degraded tropical forests? Environ. Res. Lett. 10, 044019. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/4/044019

- Pham, T.T., Moeliono, M., Nguyen, T.H., Nguyen, H.T., Vu, T.H., 2012. The context of REDD+ in Vietnam: Drivers, agents and institutions.
- Phillips, O., Baker, T., Feldpausch, T., Brienen, R., 2016. RAINFOR field manual for plot establishment and remeasurement.
- Phillips, O.L., 1997. The changing ecology of tropical forests. Biodivers. Conserv. 6, 291–311.
- Phillips, O.L., Sullivan, M.J.P., Baker, T.R., Mendoza, A.M., Vargas, P.N., Vásquez, R., 2019. Species matter: wood density influences tropical forest biomass at multiple scales. Surv. Geophys. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10712-019-09540-0
- Pinard, M., Howlett, B., Davidson, D., 1996. Site conditions limit pioneer tree recruitment after logging of Dipterocarp forests in Sabah, Malaysia. Biotropica 28, 2–12.
- Pinard, M.A., Barker, M.G., Tay, J., 2000. Soil disturbance and post-logging forest recovery on bulldozer paths in Sabah, Malaysia. For. Ecol. Manage. 130, 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00192-9
- Pinard, M.A., Cropper, W.P., 2000. Simulated effects of logging on carbon storage in dipterocarp forest 267–284.
- Pinard, M.A., Putz, F.E., 1996. Retaining forest biomass by reducing logging damage. Biotropica 28, 278–295.
- Piponiot, C., Sist, P., Mazzei, L., Peña-Claros, M., Putz, F.E., Rutishauser, E., Shenkin, A., Ascarrunz, N., de Azevedo, C.P., Baraloto, C., Franca, M., Guedes, M., Honorio Coronado, E.N., D'Oliveira, M.V.N., Ruschel, A.R., da Silva, K.E., Doff Sotta, E., de Souza, C.R., Vidal, E., West, T.A.P., Hérault, B., 2016. Carbon recovery dynamics following disturbance by selective logging in Amazonian forests. Elife. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.7554/eLife.21394
- Poorter, L., Bongers, F., Aide, T.M., Almeyda Zambrano, A.M., Balvanera, P., Becknell, J.M., Boukili, V., Brancalion, P.H.S., Broadbent, E.N., Chazdon, R.L., Craven, D., de Almeida-
- Cortez, J.S., Cabral, G. a. L., de Jong, B.H.J., Denslow, J.S., Dent, D.H., DeWalt, S.J., Dupuy, J.M., Durán, S.M., Espírito-Santo, M.M., Fandino, M.C., César, R.G., Hall, J.S., Hernandez-Stefanoni, J.L., Jakovac, C.C., Junqueira, A.B., Kennard, D., Letcher, S.G., Licona, J.-C., Lohbeck, M., Marín-Spiotta, E., Martínez-Ramos, M., Massoca, P., Meave, J. a., Mesquita, R., Mora, F., Muñoz, R., Muscarella, R., Nunes, Y.R.F., Ochoa-Gaona, S., de Oliveira, A. a., Orihuela-Belmonte, E., Peña-Claros, M., Pérez-García, E. a., Piotto, D., Powers, J.S., Rodríguez-Velázquez, J., Romero-Pérez, I.E., Ruíz, J., Saldarriaga, J.G., Sanchez-Azofeifa, A., Schwartz, N.B., Steininger, M.K., Swenson, N.G., Toledo, M., Uriarte, M., van Breugel, M., van der Wal, H., Veloso, M.D.M., Vester, H.F.M., Vicentini, A., Vieira, I.C.G., Bentos, T.V., Williamson, G.B., Rozendaal, D.M. a., 2016. Biomass resilience of Neotropical secondary forests. Nature 530, 211–214. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16512
- Poorter, L., McDonald, I., Alarcón, A., Fichtler, E., Licona, J.-C., Peña-Claros, M., Sterck, F., Villegas, Z., Sass-klaassen, U., 2010. The importance of wood traits and hydraulic conductance for the performance and life history strategies of 42 rainforest tree species. New Phytol. 185, 481–492.
- Putz, F.E., Dykstra, D.P., Heinrich, R., 2000a. Why Poor Logging Practices Persist in the Tropics. Conserv. Biol. 14, 951–956.
- Putz, F.E., Redford, K.H., 2010. The importance of defining "Forest": Tropical forest degradation, deforestation, long-term phase shifts, and further transitions. Biotropica 42, 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2009.00567.x
- Putz, F.E., Redford, K.H., Robinson, J.G., Fimbel, R., Blate, G.M., 2000b. Biodiversity conservation in the context of tropical forest management, Environment Department Papers, paper no. 75. Biodiversity series Impact studies.
- Putz, F.E., Zuidema, P.A., Pinard, M.A., Boot, R.G.A., Sayer, J.A., Sheil, D., Sist, P., Elias,

Vanclay, J.K., 2008. Improved tropical forest management for carbon retention. PLoS Biol. 6, 1368–1369. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060166

- Putz, F.E., Zuidema, P.A., Synnott, T., Peña-Claros, M., Pinard, M.A., Sheil, D., Vanclay, J.K., Sist, P., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Griscom, B., Palmer, J., Zagt, R., 2012. Sustaining conservation values in selectively logged tropical forests: The attained and the attainable. Conserv. Lett. 5, 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2012.00242.x
- R Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Ramage, B.S., Sheil, D., Salim, H.M.W., Fletcher, C., Mustafa, N.A., Luruthusamay, J.C., Harrison, R.D., Butod, E., Dzulkiply, A.D., Kassim, A.R., Potts, M.D., 2013.
 Pseudoreplication in tropical forests and the resulting effects on biodiversity conservation.
 Conserv. Biol. 27, 364–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12004
- Ramírez-Marcial, N., 2003. Survival and growth of tree seedlings in anthropogenically disturbed Mexican montane rain forests. J. Veg. Sci. 14, 881–890. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02221.x
- Réjou-Méchain, M., Tanguy, A., Piponiot, C., Chave, J., Hérault, B., 2017. BIOMASS: An R
 Package for estimating aboveground biomass and its uncertainty in tropical forests.
 Methods Ecol. Evol. 8, 1163–1167. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12753
- Richardson, V.A., Peres, C.A., 2016. Temporal Decay in Timber Species Composition and Value in Amazonian Logging Concessions. PLoS One 11, e0159035. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159035
- Roopsind, A., Caughlin, T.T., van der Hout, P., Arets, E., Putz, F.E., 2018. Trade-offs between carbon stocks and timber recovery in tropical forests are mediated by logging intensity.
 Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 2862–2874. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14155
- Roopsind, A., Wortel, V., Hanoeman, W., Putz, F.E., 2017. Quantifying uncertainty about forest recovery 32-years after selective logging in Suriname. For. Ecol. Manage. 391, 246–

255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.02.026

- Rozak, A.H., Rutishauser, E., Raulund-rasmussen, K., Sist, P., 2018. The imprint of logging on tropical forest carbon stocks : A Bornean case- study. For. Ecol. Manage. 417, 154–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.03.007
- Rutishauser, E., Hérault, B., Baraloto, C., Blanc, L., Descroix, L., Sotta, E.D., Ferreira, J., Kanashiro, M., Mazzei, L., D'Oliveira, M.V.N., De Oliveira, L.C., Peña-Claros, M., Putz, F.E., Ruschel, A.R., Rodney, K., Roopsind, A., Shenkin, A., Da Silva, K.E., De Souza, C.R., Toledo, M., Vidal, E., West, T.A.P., Wortel, V., Sist, P., 2015. Rapid tree carbon stock recovery in managed Amazonian forests. Curr. Biol. 25, R787–R788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.034
- Rutishauser, E., Hérault, B., Petronelli, P., Sist, P., 2016. Tree Height Reduction After Selective Logging in a Tropical Forest. Biotropica 48, 285–289. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12326
- Saatchi, S.S., Harris, N.L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E.T.A., Salas, W., Zutta, B.R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S.L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M., Morel, A., 2011. Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108, 9899–9904. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1019576108
- Saner, P., Loh, Y.Y., Ong, R.C., Hector, A., 2012. Carbon stocks and fluxes in tropical lowland dipterocarp rainforests in Sabah, Malaysian Borneo. PLoS One 7, e29642. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029642
- Sang, P.M., Lamb, D., Bonner, M., Schmidt, S., 2013. Carbon sequestration and soil fertility of tropical tree plantations and secondary forest established on degraded land I, 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1281-9
- Sasaki, N., Putz, F.E., 2009. Critical need for new definitions of "forest" and "forest degradation" in global climate change agreements. Conserv. Lett. 2, 226–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2009.00067.x

- Sheil, D., 2014. How plants water our planet: advances and imperatives. Trends Plant Sci. 19, 209–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2014.01.002
- Sheil, D., 2003. Growth assessment in tropical trees: large daily diameter fluctuations and their concealment by dendrometer bands. Can. J. For. Res. 33, 2027–2035. https://doi.org/10.1139/X03-121
- Sheil, D., 1995. A critique of permanent plot methods and analysis with examples from Budongo Forest, Uganda. For. Ecol. Manage. 77, 11–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(95)03583-V
- Sheil, D., Burslem, D.F.R.P., 2003. Disturbing hypotheses in tropical forests. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18, 18–26.
- Sheil, D., Burslem, D.F.R.P., Alder, D., 1995. The interpretation and misinterpretation of mortality rate measures. J. Ecol. 83, 331–333. https://doi.org/10.2307/2261571
- Sheil, D., May, R.M., 1996. Mortality and recruitment rate evaluations in heterogeneous tropical forests. J. Ecol. 84, 91–100.
- Sheil, D., Sayer, J.A., O'Brien, T., 1999. Tree species diversity in logged rainforests. Science (80-.). 284, 1587. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5420.1587a
- Shenkin, A., Bolker, B., Peña-Claros, M., Licona, J.C., Putz, F.E., 2015. Fates of trees damaged by logging in Amazonian Bolivia. For. Ecol. Manage. 357, 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.08.009
- Shimizu, K., Ponce-hernandez, R., Ahmed, O.S., Ota, T., Win, Z.C., Mizoue, N., Yoshida, S., 2017. Using Landsat time series imagery to detect forest disturbance in selectively logged tropical forests in Myanmar. Can. J. For. Res. 47, 289–296.
- Sikor, T., To, P.X., 2011. Illegal Logging in Vietnam: *Lam Tac* (Forest Hijackers) in Practice and Talk. Soc. Nat. Resour. 24, 688–701. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920903573057

Silva, J.N.M., de Carvalho, J.O.P., Lopes, J., de Almeida, B.F., Costa, D.H.M., de Oliveira,

L.C., Vanclay, J.K., Skovsgaard, J.P., 1995. Growth and yield of a tropical rain forest in the Brazilian Amazon 13 years after logging. For. Ecol. Manage. 71, 267–274.

- Sist, P., Mazzei, L., Blanc, L., Rutishauser, E., 2014. Large trees as key elements of carbon storage and dynamics after selective logging in the Eastern Amazon. For. Ecol. Manage. 318, 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.01.005
- Sist, P., Nguyen-The, N., 2002. Logging damage and the subsequent dynamics of a dipterocarp forest in East Kalimantan (1990 1996). For. Ecol. Manage. 165, 85–103.
- Sist, P., Nolan, T., Bertault, J.G., Dykstra, D., 1998. Harvesting intensity versus sustainability in Indonesia. For. Ecol. Manage. 108, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(98)00228-X
- Sist, P., Picard, N., Gourlet-Fleury, S., 2003a. Sustainable cutting cycle and yields in a lowland mixed dipterocarp forest of Borneo. Ann. For. Sci. 60, 803–814. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest
- Sist, P., Rutishauser, E., Peña-Claros, M., Shenkin, A., Hérault, B., Blanc, L., Baraloto, C., Baya, F., Benedet, F., da Silva, K.E., Descroix, L., Ferreira, J.N., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Guedes, M.C., Bin Harun, I., Jalonen, R., Kanashiro, M., Krisnawati, H., Kshatriya, M., Lincoln, P., Mazzei, L., Medjibé, V., Nasi, R., D'Oliveira, M.V.N., de Oliveira, L.C., Picard, N., Pietsch, S., Pinard, M., Priyadi, H., Putz, F.E., Rodney, K., Rossi, V., Roopsind, A., Ruschel, A.R., Shari, N.H.Z., Rodrigues de Souza, C., Susanty, F.H., Sotta, E.D., Toledo, M., Vidal, E., West, T.A.P., Wortel, V., Yamada, T., 2015. The Tropical managed forests Observatory: A research network addressing the future of tropical logged forests. Appl. Veg. Sci. 18, 171–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12125
- Sist, P., Sabogal, C., Byron, Y., 1999. Management of Secondary and Logged-Over Forests in Indonesia: Selected Proceedings of an International Workshop 17-19 November 1997.
 CIFOR, Bogor, Indonesia.

- Sist, P., Sheil, D., Kartawinata, K., Priyadi, H., 2003b. Reduced-impact logging in Indonesian Borneo: some results confirming the need for new silvicultural prescriptions. For. Ecol. Manage. 179, 415–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00533-9
- Slik, J.W.F., 2009. Plants of Southeast Asia [WWW Document]. URL http://www.asianplant.net/ (accessed 5.8.20).
- Slik, J.W.F., 2006. Estimating species-specific wood density from the genus average in Indonesian trees. J. Trop. Ecol. 22, 481–482. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467406003324
- Slik, J.W.F., Paoli, G., Mcguire, K., Amaral, I., Barroso, J., Bastian, M., Blanc, L., Bongers, F., Boundja, P., Clark, C., Collins, M., Dauby, G., Ding, Y., Doucet, J.L., Eler, E., Ferreira, L., Forshed, O., Fredriksson, G., Gillet, J.F., Harris, D., Leal, M., Laumonier, Y., Malhi, Y., Mansor, A., Martin, E., Miyamoto, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Nurtjahya, E., Oliveira, Á., Onrizal, O., Parada-Gutierrez, A., Permana, A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, J., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Rozak, A., Sheil, D., Silva-Espejo, J., Silveira, M., Spironelo, W., ter Steege, H., Stevart, T., Navarro-Aguilar, G.E., Sunderland, T., Suzuki, E., Tang, J., Theilade, I., van der Heijden, G., van Valkenburg, J., Van Do, T., Vilanova, E., Vos, V., Wich, S., Wöll, H., Yoneda, T., Zang, R., Zhang, M.G., Zweifel, N., 2013. Large trees drive forest aboveground biomass variation in moist lowland forests across the tropics. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 22, 1261–1271. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12092
- Sodhi, N.S., Koh, L.P., Brook, B.W., Ng, P.K.L., 2004. Southeast Asian biodiversity: An impending disaster. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 654-660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.09.006
- Sodhi, N.S., Posa, M.R.C., Lee, T.M., Bickford, D., Koh, L.P., Brook, B.W., 2010. The state and conservation of Southeast Asian biodiversity. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9607-5

- Sommers, L.E., Nelson, D.W., 1972. Determination of total phosphorus in soils: A rapid perchloric acid digestion procedure. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 36, 902–904.
- Souza, C.M., Siqueira, J. V., Sales, M.H., Fonseca, A. V., Ribeiro, J.G., Numata, I., Cochrane, M.A., Barber, C.P., Roberts, D.A., Barlow, J., 2013. Ten-year Landsat classification of deforestation and forest degradation in the Brazilian Amazon. Remote Sens. 5, 5493–5513. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs5115493
- Stas, S.M., Le, T.C., Tran, H.D., Hoang, T.T.H., van Kuijk, M., Le, A. Van, Ngo, D.T., van Oostrum, A., Phillips, O.L., Rutishauser, E., Spracklen, B.D., Tran, T.T.A., Le, T.T., Spracklen, D. V., 2020. Logging intensity drives variability in carbon stocks in lowland forests in Vietnam. For. Ecol. Manage. 460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.117863
- Sterling, E.J., Hurley, M.M., 2005. Conserving biodiversity in Vietnam: Applying biogeography to conservation research, in: Proceedings of the California Academy of Sciences. pp. 98–118.
- Stibig, H., Achard, F., Carboni, S., Raši, R., Miettinen, J., 2014. Change in tropical forest cover of Southeast Asia from 1990 to 2010. Biogeosciences 11, 247–258. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-247-2014
- Sullivan, M.J.P., Talbot, J., Lewis, S.L., Phillips, O.L., Qie, L., Begne, S.K., Chave, J., Cuni-Sanchez, A., Hubau, W., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Miles, L., Monteagudo-Mendoza, A., Sonké, B., et al., 2017. Diversity and carbon storage across the tropical forest biome. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39102
- Takagi, H., 2019. Statistics on typhoon landfalls in Vietnam: Can recent increases in economic damage be attributed to storm trends? Urban Clim. 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2019.100506
- Thompson, I.D., Guariguata, M.R., Okabe, K., Bahamondez, C., Nasi, R., Heymell, V., Sabogal, C., 2013. An operational framework for defining and monitoring forest

degradation. Ecol. Soc. 18. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-05443-180220

- Tran, H., Iida, S., Inoue, S., 2005. Species composition, diversity and structure of secondary tropical forests following selective logging in Huong Son, Ha Tinh Province, Vietnam. J. Fac. Agric. Kyushu Univ. 50, 551–571.
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). 21st session of the Conference of the Parties, n.d. No Title, in: Adoption of the Paris Agreement.

van Reeuwijk (ed.), L.P., 2002. Procedures for soil analysis, Technical Paper 9.

- Van, Y.T., Cochard, R., 2017. Tree species diversity and utilities in a contracting lowland hillside rainforest fragment in Central Vietnam. For. Ecosyst. 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-017-0095-x
- Verburg, R., Van Eijk-Bos, C., 2003. Effects of selective logging on tree diversity, composition and plant functional type patterns in a bornean rain forest. J. Veg. Sci. 14, 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02132.x
- Vidal, E., West, T.A.P., Putz, F.E., 2016. Recovery of biomass and merchantable timber volumes twenty years after conventional and reduced-impact logging in Amazonian Brazil. For. Ecol. Manage. 376, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.003
- Villegas, Z., Peña-Claros, M., Mostacedo, B., Alarcón, A., Licona, J.C., Leaño, C., Pariona, W., Choque, U., 2009. Silvicultural treatments enhance growth rates of future crop trees in a tropical dry forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 971–977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.10.031
- Walkley, A., Black, I.A., 1934. An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. Soil Sci. 37, 29–38.
- West, T. a P., Vidal, E., Putz, F.E., 2014. Forest biomass recovery after conventional and reduced-impact logging in Amazonian Brazil. For. Ecol. Manage. 314, 59–63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.11.022

- Whitmore, T.C., 1984. Tropical Rain Forests of the Far East, 2nd ed. Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK.
- Wood, S.N., 2011. Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. J. R. Stat. Soc. 73, 3–36.
- Wright, S.J., Kitajima, K., Kraft, N.J.B., Reich, P.B., Wright, I.J., Bunker, D.E., Condit, R., Dalling, J.W., Davies, S.J., Díaz, S., Engelbrecht, B.M.J., Harms, K.E., Hubbell, S.P., Marks, C.O., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Salvador, C.M., Zanne, A.E., 2010. Functional traits and the growth mortality trade-off in tropical trees. Ecology 91, 3664–3674.
- Wunderle, J.M., Henriques, L.M.P., Willig, M.R., 2006. Short-term responses of birds to forest gaps and understory: An assessment of reduced-impact logging in a lowland Amazon forest. Biotropica 38, 235–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2006.00138.x
- Yamada, T., Hosaka, T., Okuda, T., Kassim, A.R., 2013. Effects of 50 years of selective logging on demography of trees in a Malaysian lowland forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 310, 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.08.057
- Yamada, T., Yoshioka, A., Hashim, M., Liang, N., Okuda, T., 2014. Spatial and temporal variations in the light environment in a primary and selectively logged forest long after logging in Peninsular Malaysia. Trees 28, 1355–1365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-014-1040-z
- Yap, S.L., Davies, S.J., Condit, R., 2016. Dynamic response of a Philippine dipterocarp forest to typhoon disturbance. J. Veg. Sci. 27, 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12358
- Zanne, A.E., Lopez-Gonzalez, G. Coomes, D.A., Ilic, J., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Miller, R.B.,
 Swenson, N.G., Wiemann, M.C., Chave, J., 2009. Global Wood Density Database.
 DRYAD [WWW Document]. URL http://hdl.handle.net/10255/dryad.235 (accessed 7.13.11).

Zhou, D., Zhao, S.Q., Liu, S., Oeding, J., 2013. A meta-analysis on the impacts of partial cutting on forest structure and carbon storage. Biogeosciences 10, 3691–3703. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-3691-2013

Appendices

Appendices Chapter 2

Appendix 2.A

The decay classes used in our study (Baker and Chao, 2011) and the reduction in wsg for each decay class relative to the wsg in living trees, as estimated by Chao et al. (2017) in tropical lowland forests in Taiwan (2.A1). For each plot, the wsg per decay class was estimated (2.A2) by multiplying the mean plot-level wsg of living trees ≥ 10 cm dbh with the proportional reduction in wsg according to Chao et al. (2017).

1)

Decay class	Description	Relative reduction wsg (%)
1	Solid wood, recently fallen, with intact bark and fine branches (<10 cm) still attached	32
1.5	Solid wood, but with no fine branches, and bark starting to fall off	42
2	Non-solid wood, in poorer condition, but where it is still difficult to push a nail into the wood by hand	51
2.5	Soft, rotten wood, where a nail can be pushed into the wood easily	54
3	Soft, rotten wood, which collapses easily when stepped on	61

Plot	Mean plot-level wsg living	wsg class	wsg class	wsg class	wsg class	wsg class
	trees ≥10 cm dbh (g cm⁻³)	1 (g cm ⁻³)	1.5 (g cm ⁻³)	2 (g cm ⁻³)	2.5 (g cm ⁻³)	3 (g cm ⁻³)
1	0.558	0.378	0.322	0.274	0.255	0.218
2	0.583	0.395	0.336	0.286	0.267	0.227
3	0.509	0.345	0.293	0.250	0.233	0.198
4	0.561	0.381	0.323	0.276	0.257	0.219
5	0.505	0.342	0.291	0.248	0.231	0.197
6	0.537	0.364	0.310	0.264	0.246	0.209
7	0.525	0.356	0.303	0.258	0.240	0.205
8	0.533	0.361	0.307	0.262	0.244	0.208
9	0.508	0.344	0.293	0.250	0.232	0.198
10	0.565	0.383	0.326	0.278	0.259	0.220
11	0.532	0.361	0.307	0.262	0.244	0.207
12	0.597	0.404	0.344	0.293	0.273	0.233
13	0.588	0.399	0.339	0.289	0.269	0.229
14	0.534	0.362	0.308	0.262	0.244	0.208
15	0.545	0.369	0.314	0.268	0.249	0.212
16	0.580	0.393	0.334	0.285	0.265	0.226
17	0.570	0.386	0.328	0.280	0.261	0.222
18	0.574	0.389	0.331	0.282	0.263	0.224
19	0.571	0.387	0.329	0.281	0.261	0.223
20	0.604	0.410	0.348	0.297	0.277	0.236
21	0.526	0.356	0.303	0.258	0.241	0.205
22	0.571	0.387	0.329	0.281	0.262	0.223
23	0.549	0.372	0.317	0.270	0.251	0.214
24	0.537	0.364	0.310	0.264	0.246	0.209

Appendix 2.B

Methods of the soil laboratory analyses

All analyses were performed in the soil laboratory of the Department of Soil Science, Faculty of Agronomy at Hue University of Agriculture and Forestry in Hue, Vietnam. For the chemical analyses, samples were prepared by air-drying and removal of coarse materials such as roots and stones. Subsequently, the samples were crushed and sieved at <2 mm to retrieve the fine earth fraction. This sample material was stored in sealed plastic bags to prevent moisture uptake. To improve homogeneity and digestion of the samples for the "total analysis" (total organic C

2)

and total N, P, K), fine earth material was downsized to <0.25 mm. Results are expressed on oven-dry basis.

Moisture content

Moisture content of fine earth samples was determined by overnight heating at 100-105 °C (Dewis and Freitas, 1970).

pH

Both pH H₂O and pH KCl were determined in a 1:5 (w/v) extract of H₂O and KCl 1 M (Dewis and Freitas, 1970), respectively, after shaking for 10 minutes.

Total Organic Carbon (C)

The Walkley and Black (1934) method was followed, compensating for incomplete oxidation (75%) for conversion to total organic C (see also Page et al., 1982, p. 539).*Total Nitrogen (N)* Total nitrogen was determined using Kjeldahl method. Organic matter was digested without catalyst in concentrated H₂SO₄ heated at ca. 300 °C. Digestion was completed by dropwise additions of HClO₄ (Batey et al., 1974). From this digest, N was quantified by liberating NH₃ by steam distillation, trapping into H₃BO₃ and subsequent titration.

Total Phosphorus (P)

Sample material was digested with $HClO_4$ (60%) and HNO_3 (Sommers and Nelson, 1972). P was determined by the 'Molybdenum blue method' (Murphy and Riley, 1962), using a mixture of $SnCl_2$ and $C_6H_8O_6$ as reductant and measuring absorbance at 882 nm.

Available Phosphorus (P)

Available P was extracted according to the Bray II method, using a mixture of NH_4F (0.03 M) and HCl (0.1 M) (Bray and Kurtz, 1945). P was quantified by the 'Molybdenum blue method' (Murphy and Riley, 1962) with a mixture of $SnCl_2$ and $C_6H_8O_6$ for colour development. Absorbance was measured at 720 nm.

Total Potassium (K)

Sample material was digested with boiling concentrated H_2SO_4 . Digestion was completed with repeated treatments of $HClO_4$ (70%) until the residue turned white. The digest was diluted and the residual mineral matter was sedimented. K was determined in the supernatant by flame photometer and expressed as K_2O .

Exchangeable bases and Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)

Exchangeable bases and CEC were determined in the same procedure. The exchangeable bases $(K^+, Na^+, Ca^{2+}, Mg^{2+})$ were leached from the sample by subsequent additions of NH₄OAc 1M at pH 7 (Page et al., 1982; p. 160). The exchangeable bases K^+ , Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ were determined by flamephotometer and Mg²⁺ by atomic absorption spectrometer. Excess NH₄⁺ was washed with C₂H₅OH (96%). Absorbed NH₄⁺ was displaced by leaching with unbuffered KCl 1 M. NH₄⁺ in the leachate was determined by micro steam distillation and used for the calculation of the CEC (Dewis and Freitas, 1970).

Exchangeable hydrogen and aluminium (exchangeable acidity) $(H^+ and Al^{3+})$

The sample was leached with stepwise additions of 1 M KCl solution. The exchanged acidity was determined by titration with NaOH. Subsequently, NaF was added to the leachate and Al³⁺

determined by titration with HCl. Exchangeable H^+ was calculated by subtraction of exchangeable Al^{3+} from exchangeable acidity (Dewis and Freitas, 1970).

Particle size distribution

Particles were measured in the following size fractions: sand: 0.05-2 mm, silt: 0.002-0.05 mm and clay: <0.002 mm. The fine earth sample was treated with H₂O₂ to remove organic matter. The remaining primary particles were dispersed with (NaPO₃)₆ and Na₂CO₃ ("Calgon type solution") and sieved over a 0.050 mm sieve to retrieve the sand fraction. This fraction was dried at 100-105 °C and weighed. With sieving, the clay and silt fractions were washed into a sedimentation cylinder. The clay fraction was estimated by pipetting an aliquot at a depth calculated by Stokes law (van Reeuwijk, 2002). The percentage silt was calculated by subtracting the weight of sand and clay fractions from the initial sample weight.

Bulk density

In the field, the bulk density samples were taken out of the cores and stored in plastic bags. In the laboratory, the sample material was dried at 105 °C to constant weight. The bulk density was calculated by dividing the oven dry weight by the core volume (Dewis and Freitas, 1970).

References

- Batey, T., Cresser, M.S., Willett, I.R., 1974. Sulphuric-perchloric acid digestion of plant material for nitrogen determination. Anal. Chim. Acta 69, 484–487.
- Bray, R.H., Kurtz, L.T., 1945. Determination of total, organic, and available forms of Phosphorus in soils. Soil Sci. 59, 39–46.

Dewis, J., Freitas, F., 1970. Physical and chemical methods of soil and water analysis, FAO

Soils Bulletin 10. Rome, Italy.

- Murphy, J., Riley, J.P., 1962. A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Anal. Chim. Acta 27, 31–36.
- Page, A.L., Miller, R.H., Keeney, D.R. (ed.), 1982. Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties, 2nd ed. American Society of Agronomy, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.
- Sommers, L.E., Nelson, D.W., 1972. Determination of total phosphorus in soils: A rapid perchloric acid digestion procedure. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 36, 902–904.
- van Reeuwijk, L.P. (ed.), 2002. Procedures for soil analysis, 6th ed. Technical Paper 9. International Soil Reference and Information Centre, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Walkley, A., Black, I.A., 1934. An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. Soil Sci. 37, 29–38.

Appendix 2.C

Parameters describing disturbances, site information and topography (2.C1) and forest structure (2.C2) per plot, ordered by the logging intensity derived from the Landsat analysis. Total C includes AGC \geq 5 cm dbh, C in dead wood, BGC and SOC 0-30 cm depth (2.C2).

1	١١
	L)

		Dist	urbances		Site & topography				
	Landsat a	analysis	Participatory mapping	Field					
Plot	Logging intensity	# disturbances (km ⁻¹)	Logging intensity	B.A. logged stumps (m²ha⁻¹)	Site	Elevation (m)	Slope (°)		
4	Light	14	Light	0.0	2	379	26		
6	Light	24	Medium	3.4	3	241	24		
12	Light	3	Light	0.1	6	440	19		
13	Light	4	Light	3.3	6	428	19		
17	Light	6	Light	0.0	6	381	25		
18	Light	6	Light	0.8	6	410	30		
21	Light	10	Light	0.0	2	358	21		
22	Light	21	Light	0.7	2	319	22		
1	Medium	73	Heavy	4.3	1	146	12		
2	Medium	29	Medium	8.1	1	186	21		
3	Medium	53	Light	0.3	2	644	23		
10	Medium	78	Heavy	3.3	5	114	19		
15	Medium	39	Heavy	1.8	7	185	12		
16	Medium	67	Heavy	5.3	7	210	18		
19	Medium	71	Medium	5.1	8	277	16		
24	Medium	95	Heavy	0.7	9	105	10		
5	Heavy	161	Medium	0.8	3	236	24		
7	Heavy	134	Medium	0.3	4	618	12		
8	Heavy	194	Medium	0.6	4	547	18		
9	Heavy	186	Heavy	1.1	5	83	7		
11	Heavy	131	Heavy	3.0	5	112	21		
14	Heavy	119	Heavy	2.5	7	138	13		
20	Heavy	117	Medium	3.7	8	204	16		
23	Heavy	116	Heavy	4.1	9	93	13		

		Living ster	ns 5-10 cm dbh	Livin	g stems ≥1() cm dbh					
Plot	Max. dbh	# stems	AGC	# stems	B.A.	AGC	C dead wood	BGC	SOC 0-10 cm	SOC 10-30 cm	Total C
	(cm)	(ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)	(ha⁻¹)	(m²ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)	(Mg C ha ⁻¹)	(Mg C ha⁻¹)
4	101.0	900	4	364	26	80	2	13	36	70	206
6	107.9	800	4	516	28	88	4	13	26	54	189
12	106.3	750	4	612	41	160	3	20	28	62	277
13	87.9	600	4	552	33	116	13	16	31	69	250
17	78.1	300	4	480	29	111	3	14	34	61	227
18	103.1	450	2	484	30	125	3	15	41	84	270
21	94.0	800	4	484	26	77	2	12	35	66	195
22	78.4	300	2	480	32	105	2	16	34	59	218
1	59.0	750	4	520	15	41	9	8	27	52	141
2	70.5	800	4	604	21	61	8	11	34	65	183
3	83.5	1400	7	644	26	63	8	11	26	57	171
10	46.5	750	4	524	21	63	8	11	37	73	196
15	50.9	1000	6	596	20	59	3	10	25	47	150
16	58.0	500	4	548	20	62	6	11	46	72	200
19	65.6	200	2	532	21	57	8	11	33	70	180
24	41.2	1150	5	548	17	42	1	8	37	66	160
5	72.8	250	1	360	14	36	2	6	35	71	151
7	53.6	700	4	948	29	73	1	14	35	76	203
8	53.4	1600	12	1116	29	73	2	14	32	57	189
9	48.0	500	3	616	17	40	3	7	27	54	134
11	52.2	750	4	500	16	40	3	8	29	60	143
14	69.4	750	4	608	24	66	5	11	28	76	191
20	45.5	450	3	644	19	56	7	11	31	59	166
23	35.0	800	4	656	16	31	5	8	23	53	124

2)

Appendix 2.D

The absolute (2.D1) and proportional (2.D2) total C stock for each plot, divided into the



1)



2)



Appendix 2.E

The contributions of the soil parameters that explain most of the variances in the soil dataset, combining both the 0-10 cm and 10-30 cm depth layer. Nineteen percent of the variation is explained by the first eigenvalue, 11% by the second eigenvalue and 11% by the third eigenvalue. Forty-one percent of the variation is explained by the first three eigenvalues together.



Appendix 2.F

Soil parameters for each plot.

Parameter	Depth	Plot																							
	(cm)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
pH H₂O	0-10	4.69	5.24	4.79	5.29	5.08	5.46	4.98	4.45	5.20	4.78	5.36	4.80	5.05	4.45	5.35	4.39	5.01	5.05	5.75	4.54	6.29	4.81	4.86	5.54
	10-30	5.23	5.42	5.10	5.44	5.65	5.27	5.13	4.35	5.37	5.08	5.06	4.92	5.23	4.76	5.55	4.56	5.12	5.10	5.82	4.72	5.89	5.10	5.18	5.67
pH KCl	0-10	3.45	4.51	3.81	3.87	3.97	4.03	4.33	3.84	4.01	3.67	4.22	3.76	3.86	3.67	4.02	3.54	3.81	3.86	3.69	4.51	3.78	3.97	4.10	4.20
	10-30	3.83	4.65	4.03	3.90	4.21	4.20	4.23	3.89	4.23	3.84	4.35	3.89	4.02	3.79	4.31	3.61	4.02	4.05	3.99	4.63	4.04	4.08	4.09	4.23
SOC	0-10	2.34	3.09	2.37	3.35	2.97	2.53	2.63	2.67	2.29	3.26	2.55	2.57	2.53	2.45	2.19	3.45	2.65	3.11	3.12	2.67	3.02	3.17	2.42	3.12
(%)	10-30	2.18	2.67	2.16	2.76	2.70	2.16	3.04	2.32	2.09	3.03	2.53	2.27	2.34	3.21	1.89	2.90	2.18	2.92	3.02	2.21	2.35	2.65	2.28	3.09
Total N	0-10	0.15	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.15	0.17	0.24	0.18	0.14	0.16	0.10	0.14	0.14	0.11	0.17	0.12	0.19	0.19	0.13	0.14	0.18	0.19	0.16	0.21
(%)	10-30	0.14	0.13	0.15	0.19	0.14	0.13	0.17	0.15	0.12	0.12	0.07	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.13	0.09	0.15	0.16	0.11	0.07	0.12	0.13	0.14	0.12
Total P	0-10	0.09	0.12	0.09	0.12	0.16	0.14	0.13	0.11	0.13	0.11	0.10	0.11	0.11	0.14	0.10	0.11	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.08	0.14	0.08	0.13	0.10
(%)	10-30	0.07	0.09	0.09	0.11	0.12	0.10	0.10	0.08	0.11	0.09	0.07	0.08	0.09	0.11	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.09	0.07	0.08	0.09	0.07	0.08	0.08
Available P	0-10	9.00	9.50	12.50	14.00	15.50	14.50	10.50	11.50	10.50	12.00	12.00	16.50	16.00	12.50	16.00	16.00	14.50	20.50	12.50	16.50	16.00	15.00	20.50	16.50
(mg/100 gram soil)	10-30	9.00	9.50	11.50	14.00	14.50	14.00	9.00	10.50	10.00	12.00	11.00	12.50	14.50	10.50	12.50	15.00	12.50	20.50	12.50	12.50	14.25	14.50	16.50	12.50
Total K ₂ O	0-10	0.45	0.58	0.60	0.75	0.60	0.62	0.70	0.65	0.58	0.55	0.63	0.70	0.60	0.72	0.63	0.58	0.58	0.60	0.55	0.67	0.75	0.58	0.63	0.53
(%)	10-30	0.40	0.53	0.55	0.67	0.57	0.58	0.65	0.62	0.50	0.55	0.59	0.60	0.51	0.65	0.60	0.55	0.55	0.55	0.55	0.63	0.65	0.52	0.58	0.49
Exchangeable K ⁺	0-10	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.07	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.05	0.07	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.08
(cmol _c /kg)	10-30	0.03	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.06
Exchangeable Na ⁺	0-10	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03
(cmol _c /kg soil)	10-30	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03
Exchangeable Ca ²⁺	0-10	1.50	2.50	3.12	3.20	2.75	2.80	3.10	2.10	2.50	3.10	2.50	3.08	2.80	2.50	1.80	2.30	2.84	3.40	2.80	2.49	3.78	2.80	3.60	3.20
(cmol _c /kg soil)	10-30	1.30	1.89	2.35	3.11	2.58	2.83	2.20	1.90	2.30	2.67	2.30	2.87	2.72	2.20	1.54	1.92	2.75	3.10	2.50	1.90	3.50	2.70	3.30	2.50
Exchangeable Mg ²⁺	0-10	0.34	0.53	0.50	0.37	0.60	1.25	0.65	0.43	0.64	0.44	0.60	0.55	0.80	0.75	0.55	1.20	1.12	0.55	0.65	0.75	0.69	0.43	1.15	1.10
(cmol _c /kg soil)	10-30	0.45	0.41	0.71	0.32	0.40	0.92	0.60	0.55	0.55	0.38	0.50	0.43	0.72	0.58	0.45	0.90	0.81	0.50	0.60	0.70	0.62	0.35	0.90	0.90
CEC	0-10	10.55	9.50	10.78	10.10	10.21	11.21	10.50	7.50	11.50	9.50	10.00	10.13	11.76	7.50	8.00	12.50	10.23	12.32	12.00	9.00	13.42	9.80	11.01	13.00
(cmol _c /kg)	10-30	11.00	8.00	12.06	8.21	8.12	8.45	9.00	7.00	10.00	9.00	9.50	8.21	9.21	6.50	9.50	10.00	8.21	11.78	10.50	7.50	8.21	8.21	9.12	10.50

Exchangeable	H⁺ 0-10	0.95	1.00	0.75	1.10	1.40	1.05	0.75	1.03	1.20	0.60	1.34	1.15	1.22	0.93	1.25	1.05	0.90	0.78	1.15	0.95	1.15	0.70	1.35	1.00
(cmol _c /kg)	10-30	1.20	1.06	0.80	1.10	1.50	1.00	0.80	1.05	1.25	0.68	1.40	1.25	1.28	0.95	1.30	1.15	1.00	1.15	1.25	1.09	1.23	0.84	1.38	1.05
Exchangeable	Al ³⁺ 0-10	0.46	0.70	0.65	0.70	0.63	0.55	1.41	1.48	0.87	1.55	0.62	1.44	0.49	0.17	0.45	1.20	0.35	1.48	0.55	1.05	0.05	1.48	1.30	0.13
(cmol _c /kg)	10-30	0.39	0.46	0.80	1.03	0.67	0.95	0.30	1.61	1.08	0.93	0.85	1.35	0.65	0.39	0.60	1.25	0.75	1.25	0.76	0.91	0.00	1.36	1.48	0.20
Texture - % sa	nd 0-10	33.48	43.76	37.89	43.34	45.76	35.89	36.97	44.24	38.28	34.78	43.76	39.21	46.32	44.56	42.65	41.68	46.87	48.21	44.98	36.87	42.45	49.34	46.23	50.34
Texture - % sil	t 0-10	20.98	3 23.21	22.17	25.15	20.65	30.21	21.26	19.21	19.78	20.13	22.87	22.87	22.32	22.67	21.65	22.65	23.12	18.65	24.54	22.67	25.87	23.13	24.43	17.32
Texture - % cla	ay 0-10	45.54	33.03	39.94	31.51	33.59	33.90	41.77	36.55	41.94	45.09	33.37	37.92	31.36	32.77	35.70	35.67	30.01	33.14	30.48	40.46	31.68	27.53	29.34	32.34
Texture - % sa	nd 10-30	31.76	5 41.23	30.19	35.45	37.12	32.34	33.89	38.76	35.87	29.95	39.45	36.78	36.21	45.54	40.21	44.89	38.21	45.23	43.89	38.21	38.89	45.34	44.78	44.78
Texture - % sil	t 10-30	23.47	21.21	20.21	21.34	27.08	24.21	20.12	22.13	18.67	21.56	23.21	20.18	23.45	21.65	19.78	18.78	20.23	20.23	22.12	18.94	27.34	20.78	23.43	18.49
Texture - % cla	ay 10-30	44.77	37.56	49.60	43.21	35.80	43.45	45.99	39.11	45.46	48.49	37.34	43.04	40.34	32.81	40.01	36.33	41.56	34.54	33.99	42.85	33.77	33.88	31.79	36.73
Bulk density	0-10	1.17	1.11	1.09	1.07	1.18	1.03	1.33	1.19	1.17	1.13	1.12	1.08	1.23	1.15	1.16	1.32	1.29	1.31	1.07	1.18	1.16	1.09	0.95	1.17
(g/cm ³)	10-30	1.18	1.21	1.33	1.26	1.31	1.25	1.25	1.22	1.30	1.21	1.19	1.36	1.47	1.19	1.23	1.24	1.40	1.44	1.17	1.32	1.40	1.12	1.16	1.07

Appendices Chapter 3

Appendix 3.A

NMDS plot showing the dissimilarity in tree species composition of stems \geq 5 cm dbh between the 24 plots. Each dot represents a sample plot, marked with the corresponding plot number, and has been coloured by logging class.



Appendix 3.B

Proportional frequencies of the levels of tree identifications for stems ≥ 5 cm dbh for each



plot.

Appendix 3.C

Diversity metrics for stems ≥ 5 cm dbh for each plot. Metrics are standardized by the lowest number of stems in the plots and permutated 1000 times to derive a mean value. Data have been ordered by logging intensity.

Plot	Logging intensity	Shannon	Simpson	Fisher's α	Species richness	Genus richness	Family richness	Evenness
4	Light	3.27	0.95	17.53	33	27	20	0.94
6	Light	3.22	0.95	19.06	34	26	20	0.91
12	Light	2.63	0.91	7.56	20	18	15	0.88
13	Light	3.24	0.95	17.44	32	27	21	0.93
17	Light	3.11	0.94	14.57	29	24	18	0.92
18	Light	2.98	0.93	13.84	28	26	19	0.89
1	Medium	3.27	0.95	20.00	35	29	21	0.92
2	Medium	3.05	0.94	14.82	30	26	20	0.90
3	Medium	3.10	0.94	17.11	32	26	18	0.90
10	Medium	3.16	0.94	17.53	32	27	20	0.91
15	Medium	2.81	0.92	11.74	26	23	19	0.87
16	Medium	3.01	0.93	14.85	30	26	19	0.89
5	Heavy	2.30	0.80	8.76	22	20	17	0.75
7	Heavy	2.91	0.92	14.24	29	25	17	0.86
8	Heavy	1.94	0.69	8.49	21	19	15	0.64
9	Heavy	3.18	0.94	18.81	34	26	21	0.90
11	Heavy	3.40	0.96	24.41	39	31	22	0.93
14	Heavy	3.27	0.95	19.37	34	30	23	0.93

Appendices Chapter 4

Appendix 4.A

Vital rates of stems ≥ 10 cm dbh per plot. Mean dbh growth rates, total recruitment rates and total mortality rates are shown. Data have been ordered by logging intensity.

Plot	Logging intensity	Dbh growth rate (cm yr ⁻¹)	Recruitment rate (% yr ⁻¹)	Mortality rate (% yr ⁻¹)
4	Light	0.2	1.1	1.6
6	Light	0.4	2.7	1.6
12	Light	0.2	0.3	0.7
13	Light	0.3	1.4	4.0
17	Light	0.3	0.9	2.6
18	Light	0.4	3.3	5.0
21	Light	0.4	1.2	2.9
22	Light	0.3	0.4	2.1
1	Medium	0.3	0.8	1.9
2	Medium	0.2	1.4	2.4
3	Medium	0.3	1.3	2.8
10	Medium	0.4	1.1	2.7
15	Medium	0.3	1.7	2.3
16	Medium	0.3	0.4	5.1
19	Medium	0.5	3.0	0.4
24	Medium	0.4	2.2	1.8
5	Heavy	0.5	3.9	2.8
7	Heavy	0.2	0.2	1.7
8	Heavy	0.1	1.4	0.4
9	Heavy	0.3	1.0	2.3
11	Heavy	0.3	1.6	0.8
14	Heavy	0.3	1.0	0.7
20	Heavy	0.4	1.9	1.9
23	Heavy	0.3	1.5	5.2

Appendix 4.B

Number of living stems, AGC stocks and AGC fluxes of stems \geq 5 cm dbh per plot. Positive fluxes indicate carbon accumulations, negative fluxes indicate carbon emissions. Data have been ordered by logging intensity.

Plot	Logging intensity	# st (h	ems a ⁻¹)	AGC (Mg	stocks C ha ⁻¹)	AGC fluxes (Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)					
		Census 1	Census 2	Census 1	Census 2	AGC net change	AGC dbh growth	AGC recruitment	AGC mortality		
4	Light	1264	1214	92	93	0.4	0.7	0.1	-0.5		
6	Light	1316	1378	95	98	1.1	2.3	0.3	-1.4		
12	Light	1362	1258	158	158	0.3	1.0	0.0	-0.8		
13	Light	1152	932	122	113	-4.4	-1.7	0.1	-2.8		
17	Light	764	652	101	99	-0.6	2.1	0.1	-2.8		
18	Light	934	918	113	105	-3.7	2.0	0.6	-6.4		
21	Light	1284	1172	82	84	1.0	1.9	0.2	-1.1		
22	Light	780	664	106	109	1.7	2.6	0.0	-0.9		
1	Medium	1270	1358	45	41	-2.3	-2.3	0.4	-0.4		
2	Medium	1388	1472	63	62	-0.8	1.1	0.2	-2.0		
3	Medium	2090	1978	73	73	0.2	1.6	0.2	-1.7		
10	Medium	1274	1258	66	68	1.0	2.3	0.1	-1.4		
15	Medium	1596	1446	61	61	0.1	0.8	0.2	-0.9		
16	Medium	1048	1000	63	60	-1.0	1.3	0.2	-2.5		
19	Medium	732	814	62	67	2.6	2.7	0.4	-0.5		
24	Medium	1694	1498	45	49	1.8	2.5	0.2	-0.9		
5	Heavy	610	626	41	39	-1.3	0.6	0.3	-2.2		
7	Heavy	1648	1670	75	79	1.8	2.2	0.1	-0.5		
8	Heavy	2716	2748	88	90	1.3	1.1	0.4	-0.3		
9	Heavy	1254	1100	43	44	0.5	0.9	0.1	-0.5		
11	Heavy	1250	1112	44	45	0.9	1.4	0.1	-0.6		
14	Heavy	1358	1362	73	78	2.4	2.3	0.1	0.0		
20	Heavy	1094	1048	59	59	-0.2	2.3	0.3	-2.8		
23	Heavy	1456	1362	36	34	-0.5	1.1	0.2	-1.8		